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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EERE

TO ALL SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Directors”) (the “Board”) of
Nan Nan Resources Enterprise Limited (the “Company”), | present
to you the audited consolidated final results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2019 (the “Year”).

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

For the Year, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$75,625,000 (2018: approximately HK$182,445,000) and
profit of approximately HK$28,843,000 (2018: approximately
HK$36,678,000) respectively. The Board does not recommend the
payment of any dividend for the Year (2018: Nil).

Profit of the Group for the Year was approximately HK$28,843,000
(2018: approximately HK$36,678,000), representing a decrease in
profit of approximately HK$7,835,000 as compared with last year.
The decrease in profit was mainly due to the net effect of a decrease
in gross profit; increase in gain in fair value of convertible bond
from approximately HK$14,374,000 in last year to approximately
HK$29,373,000 in current year; no impairment losses on intangible
assets and property, plant and equipment incurred during the
Year (2018: approximately HK$12,618,000 and approximately
HK$3,511,000 respectively); and the turnaround from exchange gain
to exchange loss of approximately HK$15,041,000 as compared with
last year.

BUSINESS REVIEW
During the Year, the Group continued to focus on coal resources
mining business and started to invest in other businesses.

During the Year, the growth of the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) economy continued to slow down. The demand for coals
from the market has been decreasing gradually in recent years as a
result of fewer large scale industrial and infrastructure projects and the
promotion of the use of clean energy by the PRC government, which
also had negative impacts on the coal price, exerting high pressure to
the Group’s operation. However, the management of the Group has
adjusted short-term operation strategy and modified the production
plan through understanding the local government’s policies. The
Group will keep strict control over the costs and expenses to maintain
a strong financial position as a whole.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(A)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan*#

Pursuant to the instructions from the National Development and
Reform Commission of the PRC, the Department of Land and
Resources of Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region (the “Xinjiang
Land Department”) had to plan for a management restructuring
of seven different coal mines (including the Zexu Open Pit
Coal Mine (the “Zexu Mine”)) in the Xiheishan Mining Area
(the “Optimization and Upgrading Plan”), consolidating some
smaller mines together so as to increase the size efficiency (for
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 11
November 2011). After being informed of this Optimization and
Upgrading Plan, the Board has requested our management in
the Xinjiang Uyger Autonomous Region of China (“Xinjiang”) to
conduct frequent meetings and negotiations with the Xinjiang
Land Department and other relevant government authorities
in order to protect the Company’s interest in relation to the
exploration permit of the Zexu Mine (the “Exploration Permit”).

According to the letter dated 13 June 2012 issued by the
Administrative Bureau of Coal Industry of Changji Prefecture
informing the updated status of the Optimization and Upgrading
Plan, the following proposals (the “Updated Optimization and
Upgrading Plan”) in relation to the Company’s Kaiyuan Open
Pit Coal Mine (the “Kaiyuan Mine”) and Zexu Mine have been
submitted to the working group head office for coal industry
structural upgrade work of Xinjiang for consideration and
approval:

1. The Company’s Kaiyuan Mine would be restructured
and upgraded, and the Exploration Permit granted to the
Company would be terminated; and

2. The mining area of the Kaiyuan Mine, where the Company
is how conducting mining activities, was proposed to be
increased from 1.1596 square kilometers to 4.12 square
kilometers (“Kaiyuan Extended Area”), with the estimated
coal resources of approximately 131.18 million tonnes.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(A)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan#
(continued)

As stated in the Company’s announcement dated 15 August
2017, as requested by the Department of Land and Resources
of Changji Hui Autonomous Prefecture* (2 Bl ik B 4 M &
+&JRR) (the “Changji Land Department”), with the aim of
expediting the resources restructuring work and accelerating
and completing the process to fix the mining area for each
mining right owner inside Zhundong Meitian Xiheishan Coal
Mining Area* (/ff B FH 78 2B I LM R E ), where the Zexu Mine
and Kaiyuan Mine of the Company are located, Qitai County
Zexu Trading Company Limited* (F &% 2B EGRE T
~A]) (“Zexu Company”) and Mulei County Kai Yuan Coal
Company Limited* (AR&ZIRE K AR EEQF]) (“Kaiyuan
Company”), the subsidiaries of the Company, respectively
entered into the following four undisputed agreements (the
“Four Undisputed Agreements”) with the relevant parties to
dispose of Zexu Mine and acquire Kaiyuan Extended Area:

1. First Undisputed Agreement

On 15 August 2017, Zexu Company entered into an
undisputed agreement (the “First Undisputed Agreement”)
with Xinjiang Jinneng Mining Company Limited (“Jinneng
Company”), pursuant to which Jinneng Company should
occupy an area of 0.297 km? within the Zexu Mine and
could apply to the Xinjiang Land Department to fix such
mining area. Jinneng Company should, within 10 working
days upon signing the agreement, compensate Zexu
Company with an amount of RMB505,197, which was
calculated by multiplying the area of 0.297 km? with the
agreed compensation amount of RMB486,000 per km?
and the agreed compensation multiples of 3.5. The above
compensation standard was determined by the Changji
Land Department.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(A) Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan?
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan#
(continued)

2.

Second Undisputed Agreement

On 15 August 2017, Zexu Company entered into
an undisputed agreement (the “Second Undisputed
Agreement”) with Xinjiang Beishan Mining Company
Limited (“Beishan Company”), pursuant to which
Beishan Company should occupy an area of 2.582 km?
within the Zexu Mine and could apply to the Xinjiang
Land Department to fix such mining area. Beishan
Company should, within 10 working days upon signing
the agreement, compensate Zexu Company with an
amount of RMB4,391,982, which was calculated by
multiplying the area of 2.582 km? with the agreed
compensation amount of RMB486,000 per km? and
the agreed compensation multiples of 3.5. The above
compensation standard was determined by the Changji
Land Department.

Third Undisputed Agreement

On 15 August 2017, Kaiyuan Company entered into
an undisputed agreement (the “Third Undisputed
Agreement”) with Jinneng Company, pursuant to which
Kaiyuan Company should occupy an area of 1.292
km? within the exploration area of the mine of Jinneng
Company (the “First Extended Area”) and could apply to
the Xinjiang Land Department to fix such mining area.
Kaiyuan Company should, within 10 working days upon
signing the agreement, compensate Jinneng Company
with an amount of RMB2,197,692, which was calculated
by multiplying the area of 1.292 km? with the agreed
compensation amount of RMB486,000 per km? and
the agreed compensation multiples of 3.5. The above
compensation standard was determined by the Changiji
Land Department.

The First Extended Area to be occupied by Kaiyuan
Company from Jinneng Company is located next to the
Kaiyuan Mine currently operated by Kaiyuan Company.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(A) Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan?
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan#
(continued)

4. Fourth Undisputed Agreement

On 15 August 2017, Kaiyuan Company entered into
an undisputed agreement (the “Fourth Undisputed
Agreement”) with Beishan Company, pursuant to which
Kaiyuan Company should occupy an area of 0.016 km?
within the mining area of the mine of Beishan Company
(the “Second Extended Area”) and could apply to the
Xinjiang Land Department to fix such mining area.
Kaiyuan Company should, within 10 working days upon
signing the agreement, compensate Beishan Company
with an amount of RMB27,216, which was calculated
by multiplying the area of 0.016 km? with the agreed
compensation amount of RMB486,000 per km? and
the agreed compensation multiples of 3.5. The above
compensation standard was determined by the Changji
Land Department.

The Second Extended Area to be occupied by Kaiyuan
Company from Beishan Company is located next to the
Kaiyuan Mine currently operated by Kaiyuan Company.

The total area of 2.879 km? of Zexu Mine being occupied
by Jinneng Company and Beishan Company under the
First Undisputed Agreement and the Second Undisputed
Agreement respectively represent the whole area of the Zexu
Mine. Since the said two agreements had been completed, the
Exploration Permit became invalid. Since the Zexu Mine has not
commenced mining, it has not generated any revenue for the
Group in the past years.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(A)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan®
(continued)

So far as the Company is aware, the First Extended Area
and the Second Extended Area being occupied by Kaiyuan
Company under the Third Undisputed Agreement and Fourth
Undisputed Agreement respectively have not yet commenced
mining. After having completed such agreements, the Company
was required to go through official procedures with the relevant
land and resources departments to obtain the exploration
right and then the mining right in respect of these extended
areas. When the related exploration right or mining right is
obtained, the Company will appoint professional parties to
evaluate possible coal reserves and perform valuation on
the First Extended Area and Second Extended Area. For
accounting purposes, these extended area were booked as
“Non-refundable deposits” under non-current assets with value
of approximately RMB2,099,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,604,000) in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position, which, if appropriate, would be transferred
to the intangible assets after conclusion is reached with the
government departments. Upon obtaining the exploration
right or mining right, the Company will discuss again with
professional parties (including its valuer and auditor) regarding
the possible coal reserves, valuation and accounting treatment
of the First Extended Area and Second Extended Area. The
Company has not received any update from the relevant
government departments since the completion of the Four
Undisputed Agreements.

According to the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan, the
mining area of the Kaiyuan Mine was proposed to be increased
from 1.1596 km? to 4.12 km?. For the First Extended Area and
the Second Extended Area, since they were originally owned
by Jinneng Company and Beishan Company respectively,
the Third Undisputed Agreement and the Fourth Undisputed
Agreement were required to be signed respectively for transfer
of such area and as one of the important procedures for
obtaining the exploration right and then the mining right. Upon
completion of the Third Undisputed Agreement and Fourth
Undisputed Agreement, the area of the Kaiyuan Mine will
only increase to approximately 2.4676 km?. Concerning the
outstanding proposed increased area of approximately 1.6524
km? (the “Outstanding Mining Area”), so far as the Company
is aware, such area is located next to the Kaiyuan Mine and is
currently owned by the government. To obtain the exploration
right and then the mining right of such area, the Company is still
required to go through official procedures with the relevant land
and resources departments.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(A)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan#
(continued)

By a letter dated 6 February 2018 from the Zhundong Economic
and Technological Development Zone Division of the Ministry
of Land and Resources of Changji Hui Autonomous Prefecture®
(EFOEEAMNBE+ERBARKCERMFEE D B) (the
“Zhundong Division of the Ministry of Land and Resources”), as
part of the application, the Zhundong Division of the Ministry of
Land and Resources required Kaiyuan Company to sign a deed
of undertaking (the “Deed of Undertaking”).

Since the Outstanding Mining Area is a national resource of the
PRC government, the Deed of Undertaking requires Kaiyuan
Company to undertake to (1) apply for a bid invitation, auction
and listing (the “Bid, Auction and Listing”) for exploration right
of the Outstanding Mining Area and to grant state-owned
enterprises within the Zhundong Economic and Technological
Development Zone* (fEERAL BT EEER) (the “State-Owned
Enterprises”) a priority to participate in the Bid, Auction and
Listing (the “Priority”); and (2) grant the State-Owned Enterprises
who obtain exploration right in the Outstanding Mining Area a
right to invest in the mining of the Outstanding Mining Area (the
“Right to Invest”). As at the date of the announcement on 28
March 2018, no concrete terms of the Priority and the Right
to Invest have been provided by the Zhundong Division of the
Ministry of Land and Resources. Detailed terms and conditions
of the possible business cooperation with the State-Owned
Enterprises in the Outstanding Mining Area will be subject
to further development on the Updated Optimization and
Upgrading Plan and government policy.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(A)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan#
(continued)

Upon receiving the Deed of Undertaking, the Company
proactively contacted the Zhundong Division of the Ministry
of Land and Resources in order to understand or obtain the
concrete terms of the Priority and the Right to Invest as stated
in the Deed of Undertaking. However, after a few weeks of
contact and communication, with the intervening Chinese New
Year holiday from 13 February 2018 to 8 March 2018 in Xinjiang,
the Zhundong Division of the Ministry of Land and Resources
confirmed that it was not able to provide any concrete
terms of the Priority and the Right to Invest. In light of these
circumstances, the Company sought legal opinion from a PRC
lawyer in Xinjiang. According to the PRC legal opinion obtained
by the Company:

1. three out of the four companies with mines in the
Xiheishan Mining Area had executed the Deed of
Undertaking;

2. if Kaiyuan Company did not execute the Deed of
Undertaking, the Zhundong Division of the Ministry of
Land and Resources will cease to process Kaiyuan
Company’s application for exploration right and mining
right in the Kaiyuan Extended Area; and

3. no concrete terms of the Priority and the Right to Invest
had been provided by the Zhundong Division of the
Ministry of Land and Resources.

To further facilitate the Updated Optimization and Upgrading
Plan and to enable Kaiyuan Company to continue to apply for
exploration right and mining right in the Kaiyuan Extended Area,
Kaiyuan Company had executed the Deed of Undertaking within
7 days of the date of the announcement on 28 March 2018.
The Priority and the Right to Invest may or may not be exercised
by the State-Owned Enterprises. The Board considers that
any possible business cooperation with the State-Owned
Enterprises in the Outstanding Mining Area is to comply with
the execution of the Updated Optimization and Upgrading
Plan. In the event that the Right to Invest is exercised by the
State-Owned Enterprises, the Company will negotiate for fair
and reasonable terms taking into account the interests of the
Company and shareholders as a whole.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(A)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan#
(continued)

The management of Kaiyuan Company has been
communicating and negotiating with the Zhundong Division
of the Ministry of Land and Resources in order to protect the
Company’s best interest in the Outstanding Mining Area.

The application for exploration right and mining right of the
Outstanding Mining Area is irrelevant to the renewal of the
mining right in the Kaiyuan Mine (the “Mining Right”) as stated in
the announcement of the Company dated 27 December 2017.

On 30 November 2018 and 5 December 2018, Kaiyuan
Company obtained notices and approvals (the “Notices and
Approvals”) from the Management Committee of Xinjiang
Zhundong Economic and Technological Development Zone*
BERKCERMAZREREZE82) and Zhundong
Economic and Technological Development Zone Division of the
Ministry of Land and Resources of Changji Hui Autonomous
Prefecture* (8 & [Bl1& B4 N B £ &R B & RAOE R T %=
2 /3) respectively in respect of the application for the mining
right of an annual production volume of 0.9 million tonnes of
the Kaiyuan Extended Area (“Kaiyuan Extended Area Mining
Right Application”) and Kaiyuan Company subsequently
submitted the Notices and Approvals to the Ministry of Land
and Resources of Changji Hui Autonomous Prefecture* (£
EAMBE L EJRB) on 10 December 2018 for approval.

According to the legal opinion from the PRC lawyer, Kaiyuan
Company is required to go through certain official procedures
for the grant of the Kaiyuan Extended Area Mining Right
Application, namely, upon obtaining the approval from the
Ministry of Land and Resources of Changji Hui Autonomous
Prefecture, Kaiyuan Company would need to submit the
Kaiyuan Extended Area Mining Right Application to the
Department of Land and Resources of Xinjiang Uygur
Autonomous Region* (#Tig4t & /R B/6 R Bl + ZREE) for such
approval.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(A)

#

(B)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan#
(continued)

On 10 May 2019, the Company received a notification
dated 8 April 2019 regarding the grant of exploration right
for the Outstanding Mining Area with an area of 1.68 km?
by the Department of Natural Resources of Xinjiang Uygur
Autonomous Region* (T4 L E AR B R EREE) for a
period of 3 years from 8 April 2019 to 8 April 2022. Now having
obtained the Exploration Permit, the Company will proceed to
fulfill all the necessary requirements and procedures to obtain
the relevant mining permit.

“Optimization and Upgrading Plan” was previously referred to as
“Management Restructuring Plan” in the announcement of the Company
dated 11 November 2011 and in the announcements, notices, circulars,
interim reports and annual reports of the Company thereafter.

“Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan” was previously referred to as
“Updated Restructuring Proposals” in the announcement of the Company
dated 15 June 2012 and in the announcements, notices, circulars, interim
reports and annual reports of the Company thereafter.

Suspension of Production and Production Resumption
at Kaiyuan Mine and Demolishment of Gas Station

As stated in the Company’s announcement dated 25
September 2017, Kaiyuan Company received notices from the
relevant government departments requesting for suspension
of the production at Kaiyuan Mine and demolishment of gas
station therein.

1. Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine

At the night of 19 September 2017, Kaiyuan Company
received a notice dated 16 September 2017 from the
Environmental Protection Bureau of Xinjiang Zhundong
Economy and Technology Development Area* (37526
RGBT RIRIFR#R) and a notice dated 19
September 2017 from the Environmental Protection
Committee of Xinjiang Zhundong Economy and
Technology Development Area* (58 A R T 7
ERIRIFRHELZE D), requesting Kaiyuan Company
to suspend production at its Kaiyuan Mine since
Kaiyuan Company had yet to implement the coal mine
environmental comprehensive remediation proposal in
accordance with the requirements of, among other things,
the “Implementation Opinion on Environmental Protection
Specific Remediation in Zhundong Development Area* (/&
RAZERRREREZHELERER).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(B) Suspension of Production and Production Resumption
at Kaiyuan Mine and Demolishment of Gas Station
(continued)

2.

Production Resumption at Kaiyuan Mine

As stated in the Company’s announcement dated 26
October 2017, Kaiyuan Company received notices from
the relevant government departments to resume the
production at Kaiyuan Mine.

At the night of 23 October 2017, Kaiyuan Company
received a notice (the “Notice”) dated 23 October
2017 from the Party and Government Office of Xinjiang
Zhundong Economy and Technology Development
Area* (758 /& R AOE T F 3@ ZBUIHAE) requesting
the relevant enterprises in the development area,
including Kaiyuan Company, to thoroughly implement
the requirements of the “Emergency notice to better
implement the work to safeguard supply of coal* (B
AT AR PR k4 B T /B R 2B AN)” (the “Emergency
Notice”) issued by the Office of the People’s Government
of Changji Hui Autonomous Prefecture* (& @15 B4
ARBURF#HAZE). According to the Emergency Notice,
several coal mines, including the Kaiyuan Mine, were
requested to conduct coal production and at the same
time implement the environmental protection remedial
works.

Upon discussion with the relevant government
departments, Kaiyuan Company was confirmed that the
Kaiyuan Mine could resume normal production while
fulfiling the requirements of conducting the environmental
protection remedial works.

The Kaiyuan Mine had resumed production according
to the Notice and the Emergency Notice. Although the
production at the Kaiyuan Mine was suspended for
around one month, it did not create material financial
impact on the Group since Kaiyuan Company continued
to sell its inventory of slack coal during the production
suspension period. So far as the Company is aware,
Kaiyuan Company has not received any claims arising
from non-supply of coal during the production suspension
period. Meanwhile, Kaiyuan Company will cooperate with
the relevant government departments to complete the
requested environmental protection remedial works.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(B) Suspension of Production and Production Resumption
at Kaiyuan Mine and Demolishment of Gas Station
(continued)

3.

Demolishment of Gas Station

On 21 September 2017, Kaiyuan Company received an
“Administrative Enforcement Document of Production
Safety” (X2 HEEITHHENE)” from the Production
Safety Supervision and Administration Bureau* (& 4 &=
ECREIRSD) of the Administration Committee of Xinjiang
Zhundong Economy and Technology Development Area*
(FTBRERLCERMAZREEZS) (the “Document”),
alleging that there were illegal storage and use of diesel at
the Kaiyuan Mine and the gas station constructed therein
was not in compliance with the “Regulations on Design
and Construction of Gas Station* (AN5H L% 5t ER s T #7
f)”. Kaiyuan Company was requested to cease usage of
the gas station immediately and demolish the gas station
before 6 October 2017.

The gas station at the Kaiyuan Mine was constructed
long time ago to supply diesel to the facilities
and transportation vehicles at the Kaiyuan Mine.
Demolishment of the gas station would not affect
the operation of the Kaiyuan Mine seriously. Upon
receipt of the Document, the management of Kaiyuan
Company had negotiated with the relevant government
departments, which on 22 September 2017, verbally
allowed Kaiyuan Company to use up all the diesel
remained in the gas station first and then demolish
such station thereafter. The management of Kaiyuan
Company looked for other effective means to supply
diesel to the facilities and transportation vehicles at the
Kaiyuan Mine. Kaiyuan Company selected a contractor
for the renovation of the gas station after the design was
approved by the relevant government departments.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
(C) Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine

On 11 April 2018, Kaiyuan Company received an on-site
punishment decision* ((R1ZEEIERTF E) dated 11 April 2018
(the “Decision”) from the Production Safety Supervision and
Administration Bureau* (&£ EEEEIEB) of the Xinjiang
Zhundong Economic and Technological Development Zone*
(i8R AE T3 &) (the “Bureau”), ordering Kaiyuan
Company to suspend all production, construction and operation
at the Kaiyuan Mine. However, the construction work of basic
facilities and sale of its inventory of slack coal during the
production suspension period were permitted. The Decision
was issued as the Mining Right and the work safety permit* (%
ZHEEFFAE) (the “Work Safety Permit”) of Kaiyuan Company
had expired on 26 December 2017 and 18 January 2018
respectively.

The renewal of the Work Safety Permit is conditional on the
renewal of the Mining Right.

On 2 January 2019, the Safety Bureau of the Zhundong
Development Zone suspended the operations of the Kaiyuan
Mine due to the expiry of the Existing Mining Permit. On 9
January 2019, the Safety Bureau of the Zhundong Development
Zone re-examined the mining permits of Kaiyuan Company
and confirmed that the Existing Mining Permit had been
renewed. According to the legal opinion issued by the PRC
legal adviser of the Company, Kaiyuan Company based on
such confirmation, is allowed to resume its mining operations
and sale. On 10 January 2019, Kaiyuan Company resumed its
mining operations and sale.

1. Impacts on the Group and measures to be taken
Kaiyuan Mine is the major operating business of the
Group. After preliminary assessment, it was expected
that the production suspension at the Kaiyuan Mine will
lead to a decrease in the production volume of coal.
Nevertheless, since the Group can still sell its existing
inventory of slack coal during the production suspension
period, the production suspension shall not have
material financial impact on the Group in short-term.
The Company expects that the slack coal inventory may
support the coming sales until around end of August
2018. If, after the slack coal inventory is sold out, the
production still cannot be resumed, the production
suspension may create adverse impact on the financial
position and operation of the Group.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
(C) Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine (continued)

1.

Impacts on the Group and measures to be taken
(continued)

Immediately upon receipt of the Decision, Kaiyuan
Company proactively liaised with officers of the Bureau
in order to understand the implementation of the
punishment and the affected area of the Kaiyuan Mine as
stated in the Decision. Upon preliminary communication
with the officers, Kaiyuan Company was informed that
the construction of basic facilities (including, among
others, road hardening within the mine, domestic
sewage treatment and backup gas station) and sale of its
inventory of slack coal during the production suspension
period are permitted. Kaiyuan Company will continue to
closely follow up with the Bureau for the renewal of the
Work Safety Permit in order to resume the production of
the Kaiyuan Mine.

Updates on the renewal of Mining Right

In light of the Decision, the Company has sought legal
opinion from a PRC lawyer in Xinjiang. According to the
PRC legal opinion obtained by the Company, Kaiyuan
Company had commenced renewal application in
September 2017 to renew the Mining Right which was
expired on 26 December 2017. The Mining Right was
subsequently granted on 28 May 2018.

According to the PRC legal opinion obtained by the
Company, based on PRC laws and regulations, the
renewal application of Mining Right was to be submitted
to and reviewed by different governmental departments
in a hierarchical order. Kaiyuan Company commenced
the renewal application for the Mining Right in September
2017 at the Zhundong Economic and Technological
Development Zone Division of the Department of Land
and Resources* (#7158 /&R & EFKiTFAEE D B) and in
turn the Changji Land Department.

On 9 November 2017, Kaiyuan Company already applied
to the Xinjiang Land Department for the renewal of the
Mining Right. After initial review by the Xinjiang Land
Department, Kaiyuan Company submitted supplemental
information on 14 December 2017.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
(C) Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine (continued)

2.

Updates on the renewal of Mining Right (continued)
The renewal application of the Mining Right was accepted
at the office of the head of the Xinjiang Land Department
meeting* (BB ¥ A €:%) on 9 March 2018 and the
Xinjiang Land Department requested the Administration
Committee of Xinjiang Zhundong Economy and
Technology Development Area* (#7538 f 32 &8 2 H 1T 55
EREZD) (the “Administration Committee”) to issue
renewal approval documents so that the Mining Right can
be renewed.

On 9 April 2018, Kaiyuan Company submitted the
application report on consent to the renewal of the mining
permit of 90,000 tonnes/year of Kaiyuan Company ([a]
EAREGZINRERBRETARIEBN FHREFIT
ER 5 to the Administration Committee which
processed the renewal application.

The PRC lawyer opined that, based on past experience,
the renewal application of Mining Right shall be approved
in approximately three months after the expiry. However,
due to the local situation and the priority to deal with the
social stability of the local area, the Xinjiang government
has been highly occupied with stability maintenance work,
which has been causing delay to the renewal application
process of Mining Right.

The PRC lawyer further opined that the Decision would
not affect the renewal application of the Mining Right,
documentations for the Work Safety Permit renewal
application are completed but the renewal of Mining Right
must be obtained in order to proceed with the application.
Kaiyuan Company will continue to communicate with the
relevant government departments in order to facilitate
the renewal of Mining Right and in turn the renewal of the
Work Safety Permit. It is unable to estimate the time for
the renewal application process hence the Company is
unable to estimate the exact time for the resumption of
production at the Kaiyuan Mine at this stage.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
(C) Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine (continued)

2.

Updates on the renewal of Mining Right (continued)
On 28 May 2018, the Kaiyuan Company successfully
renewed and was granted a Mining Right by the Xinjiang
Land Department. The Mining Right is valid for 1 year from
26 December 2017 to 31 December 2018 to conduct
mining activities at the Kaiyuan Mine.

The Company had immediately on 29 May 2018 applied
to the Xinjiang Coal Mine Safety Supervision and
Administration Bureau* (MTi2HIEL 2 EE /) (the “Coal
Mine Safety Bureau”) for the renewal of the Work Safety
Permit.

According to the PRC legal opinion obtained by the
Company, based on past experience, the renewal
application of the Work Safety Permit shall be approved
in approximately thirty business days upon receipt of
the renewal application by the Coal Mine Safety Bureau.
However, due to the local situation and the priority to
deal with the social stability of the local area, the Xinjiang
government has been highly occupied with stability
maintenance work, which made it difficult to estimate the
processing time of the renewal application of the Work
Safety Permit.

Once the renewal application is approved and the
Company is granted the Work Safety Permit, the
Company shall promptly apply to the Bureau for
resumption of production at the Kaiyuan Mine. The PRC
lawyer further opined that, the Company can only resume
production at the Kaiyuan Mine once the Bureau has
approved the application.

On 25 June 2018, the Kaiyuan Company successfully
renewed and was granted the Work Safety Permit by the
Coal Mine Safety Bureau. The Work Safety Permit is valid
for 3 years from 25 June 2018 to 24 June 2021.

The Company has immediately applied to the Safety
Bureau of the Zhundong Development Zone for the
necessary approval and acceptance procedures to
resume production at the Kaiyuan Mine.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
(C) Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine (continued)

2.

Updates on the renewal of Mining Right (continued)
Since the suspension of production at the Kaiyuan
Mine on 11 April 2018, Kaiyuan Company has carried
out plenty of effective remedial work. On 29 August
2018, Kaiyuan Company received a notice issued by
the Safety Bureau of the Zhundong Development Zone
confirming that the Kaiyuan Company could resume
normal production at the Kaiyuan Mine. According to the
notice, the Kaiyuan Company is required to, among other
things, strictly observe and comply with the applicable
laws and regulations on mining safety, strengthen on-site
management on safety, ensure mining and production
safety and undertake to resume production.

On 29 September 2018, Kaiyuan Company applied to the
Xinjiang Natural Resources Department for a renewal of
the Existing Mining Permit. The Company was informed
that the Xinjiang Natural Resources Department was
in the process of reviewing the Kaiyuan Extended Area
Mining Right Application. Upon approval by the Xinjiang
Natural Resources Department, the Kaiyuan Extended
Area Mining Right shall be granted, in replacement of the
Existing Mining Permit, with the mining area increased
from approximately 1.1596 km? to approximately 4.1165
km?, representing the enlarged mining area of the existing
Kaiyuan Mine and the Kaiyuan Extended Area. The
Kaiyuan Extended Area Mining Right shall entitle Kaiyuan
Company an annual production volume of 0.9 million
tonnes, whereas Kaiyuan Company is only entitled to an
annual production volume of 0.09 million tonnes under the
Existing Mining Permit.

In light of the above and according to the legal opinion
issued by the PRC legal adviser of the Company, in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations of the
PRC, Kaiyuan Company shall temporarily suspend its
mining operations and sale after the expiry of the Existing
Mining Permit on 31 December 2018 until the grant of the
Kaiyuan Extended Area Mining Right.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
(C) Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine (continued)

ESAC)EE))
(C) SURERZIFE (8

2. Updates on the renewal of Mining Right (continued)
After further communication between the Company
and the Xinjiang Natural Resources Department,
having considered that (i) Kaiyuan Company has been
complying with the relevant laws and regulations of the
PRC regarding its mining operations and sale; and (i) the
demand for coal in winter is huge in Xinjiang, the Xinjiang
Natural Resources Department decided to approve
renewal of the Existing Mining Permit (the “Renewed
Mining Permit”). Kaiyuan Company obtained the Renewed
Mining Permit on 7 January 2019, which is valid from 3
November 2018 to 3 November 2019.

(D) Acquisition of 90% of the issued share capital of

NEFIN Leasing Technologies Limited and the loans
On 10 August 2018, Radiant Day Holdings Limited (“Radiant
Day”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with NEFIN Holding
Limited and Mr. Lim Hong Teo (together referred to as the
“Vendors”), pursuant to which Radiant Day agreed to purchase,
and the Vendors agreed to sell 90% equity interest in NEFIN
Leasing Technologies Limited and its wholly-owned subsidiary,
NEFIN Technology (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. (“NEFIN Technology”)
(together the “NEFIN Group”) at an aggregate consideration of
US$1,350,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$10,530,000).
The Vendors have jointly and severally guaranteed that the
annual result of NEFIN Technology for the years ending 30
September 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023 would not
be less than 5% of the consideration, i.e. approximately
HK$527,000 per annum. The transaction completed on 8
October 2018 as all conditions in the sale and purchase
agreement were fulfilled.

NEFIN Group is principally engaged in renewable energy
solutions and solar farm development in Malaysia. The Directors
are of the view that the acquisition will further enhance the
Group’s expansion of innovative and renewable energy
business. The acquisition constituted a business combination
and had been accounted for using the acquisition method under
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(E)

Event after reporting period

On 11 March 2019, Ample Talent Ventures Limited (“Ample
Talent”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an
independent third party, pursuant to which the vendor has
conditionally agreed to sell, and Ample Talent has conditionally
agreed to purchase 80% equity interest in Harbour Group
Holdings Limited (“Harbour Group”) and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Target Group”), at an aggregate
consideration of HK$35,712,000; and (ii) Ample Talent and
Harbour Group entered into a subscription agreement, pursuant
to which Harbour Group has conditionally agreed to issue
and allot to Ample Talent, and Ample Talent has conditionally
agreed to subscribe for 450 ordinary shares, representing
approximately 4.5% of the total number of shares in issue
as at the date of subscription agreement at an aggregate
subscription price of HK$2,008,800. Upon completion of
the above transactions, Ample Talent will hold approximately
80.86% equity interest in Harbour Group.

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, the vendor has
agreed to guarantee that the audited consolidated net profit
generated from operating activities of the Target Group in its
ordinary and usual course of business, prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs (the “Net Profit”), for the years ended or ending
31 December 2018, 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2020 (the “PG Period”) shall be no less than HK$7,200,000 per
annum (the “Guaranteed Profit”). In the event that the Net Profit
during the each of the PG Period is less than the Guaranteed
Profit, the vendor unconditionally and irrevocably undertakes
and guarantees, as a continuing obligation, to pay the shortfall
to the Group under the terms as stipulated in the sale and
purchase agreement.

The Target Group consists of Harbour Group, Harbour Group
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd., Harbour Group Consulting (UK) Limited,
HGH Technology Sdn. Bhd., Mountain Managed Cloud
Consulting Limited and Vanguard Business Services Limited.
The Target Group is principally engaged in the provision of
information technology outsourcing, consultancy and technical
services mainly in Hong Kong with expanding business in United
Kingdom, Malaysia and Singapore. The Directors are of the view
that the acquisition can broaden the Group’s revenue base and
benefit from the diversified return in future.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(E) Event after reporting period (continued)
As at 31 March 2019, deposit for acquisition of the Target
Group of approximately HK$3,571,000 was paid to the vendor
and was included in “Refundable deposit paid for acquisition
of subsidiaries”. Details of the acquisition were set out in the
Company’s circular dated 12 April 2019.

On 23 April 2019, the conditions as stipulated in the sale
and purchase agreement and subscription agreement were
fulfilled. The Target Group became indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Company. The acquisition constituted a
business combination and will be accounted for using the
acquisition method under HKFRS 3 Business Combinations.

As the initial accounting for the acquisition of the Target Group
is incomplete, it is not practicable to reliably estimate its financial
effort.

PROSPECTS

The Board considers that the coal business is full of challenges
and endeavors to achieve our goal of bringing maximum values
for shareholders by strengthening management of the Company,
controlling the cost of coal mining, cooperating with the national
policies of developing economy in the western region, seizing
new chances, exploring new markets, and seeking for investment
opportunities.

Being cognizant of the impact of coal mining operations on the
environment, we are committed to the implementation of environment
management in compliance with laws and regulations. As coal mining
inevitably generates emissions, the Group will increase investment in
upgrading eco-friendly equipment, striving to mitigate dust dispersion
in the production and storage process.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

PROSPECTS (continued)

Regarding the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan, as
explained above, Kaiyuan Company and Zexu Company have already
followed the request from the Changji Land Department to enter into
the Four Undisputed Agreements respectively to dispose of Zexu
Mine and acquire the Kaiyuan Extended Area. The Company is now
going through official procedures to apply for the exploration right
and mining right in respect of the extended areas. The Company
will make further announcement(s) as and when appropriate to keep
shareholders posted of any further development of the Updated
Optimization and Upgrading Plan.

The Group has been exploring new markets and seeking to extend
its business coverage on technological and renewable energy sector.
The Board is of the view that the acquisition of NEFIN Group will
further enhance the Group’s expansion of innovative and renewable
energy business. There will be a reasonable expected amount of
expenditure in capital assets, in particular for the new plants and
machines for the environmental protection remedial works. Sources
of funding are expected to come primarily from the coal sales revenue
and also external banking facilities of the Group.

APPRECIATION

| wish to thank my fellow directors, management and staff for their
unrelentless efforts for the business development of the Company.
On behalf of the Board, | express our sincere gratitude to our
shareholders, customers, suppliers, employees and business
partners for their continuing support of the Company.

By Order of the Board

Kwan Man Fai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 June 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BRI

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$75,625,000
for the Year (2018: approximately HK$182,445,000). It represents a
decrease of approximately HK$106,820,000 or approximately 59%
as compared with last year.

Geographically, Xinjiang is remote from major industrial cities in the
PRC. Coal produced in Xinjiang is mainly consumed locally due to the
reason of logistic and transportation costs.

Decrease in revenue was mainly due to (i) the suspension of
production at the Kaiyuan Mine from 11 April 2018 to 29 August 2018;
and (i) the construction of a coal sifting machine at the Kaiyuan Mine
as required by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment and expected
to be completed approximately towards the end of August 2019 and
will impact upon the normal production at the Kaiyuan Mine. The
Group sold approximately 1,764,591 tonnes (2018: approximately
3,183,450 tonnes) of coal, decreased by approximately 44.6% in
volume from a year ago.

Cost of sales

The cost of sales for the Year was approximately HK$44,542,000
(2018: approximately HK$130,398,000). The cost mainly comprises
direct labor cost, cost for explosive works, depreciation, amortisation
etc. The decrease in cost of sales was largely in line with the decrease
in sales volume during the Year as compared with the previous year.

Gross profit

Due to the factors explained above, the gross profit of the Group
for the Year decreased to approximately HK$31,083,000 (2018:
approximately HK$52,047,000). It represents a decrease of
approximately of HK$20,964,000 or approximately 40% as compared
with last year but gross profit margin increased by approximately
44.05% for the Year to approximately 41.1%. It was mainly due to
the lower cost by selling of slack coal and weathered coal which then
generated higher gross profit margin compared with the piece coal.

Other revenue

The Group’s other revenue for the Year was approximately
HK$10,438,000 (2018: approximately HK$6,332,000), representing
an increase of approximately HK$4,106,000 or approximately 64.8%
as compared with the last year. This was mainly due to increase
in net income from selling coal gangue (E4T£) by approximately
HK$4,626,000, but compensated by the decrease of other revenue
by approximately HK$476,000.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Administrative and operating expenses

The Group’s administrative and operating expenses for the
Year was approximately HK$28,688,000 (2018: approximately
HK$22,456,000), representing an increase of approximately
HK$6,232,000 or approximately 28% as compared with the previous
year. This was mainly due to increase in legal and professional fees by
approximately HK$3,754,000 for acquisitions during the Year.

Profit for the Year

Profit of the Group for the Year was approximately HK$28,843,000
(2018: approximately HK$36,678,000), representing a decrease in
profit of approximately HK$7,835,000 as compared with last year.
The decrease in profit was mainly due to the net effect of a decrease
in gross profit; increase in gain in fair value of convertible bond
from approximately HK$14,374,000 in last year to approximately
HK$29,373,000 in current year; no impairment losses on intangible
assets and property, plant and equipment incurred during the
Year (2018: approximately HK$12,618,000 and approximately
HK$3,511,000 respectively); and the turnaround from exchange gain
to exchange loss of approximately HK$15,041,000 as compared with
last year.

Impairment loss on intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment

The Company completed the acquisition of 51% and 49% equity
interest in Star Fortune International Investment Company Limited,
which is the beneficial owner of the mining rights and the related fixed
assets of the Kaiyuan Mine (the “Coal Mining Assets”), on 3 July 2009
and 16 August 2010 respectively (details of which were respectively
set out in the circulars of the Company dated 12 June 2009 and 27
July 2010 and announcements of the Company dated 3 July 2009
and 17 August 2010) (the “Acquisitions”).

Impairment loss on intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment refers to the amount of impairment loss recognized in
respect of the Coal Mine Assets. No impairment loss on intangible
assets and property, plant and equipment incurred during the
Year (2018: approximately HK$12,618,000 and approximately
HK$3,511,000, respectively).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Profit for the Year (continued)

Impairment loss on intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment (continued)

The Company conducted valuation of the Coal Mining Assets every
financial year after the Acquisitions in compliance with the relevant
accounting policies. The Company has engaged ValQuest Advisory
Group Limited (2018: Roma Appraisals Limited) as its independent
professional valuer for the purpose of assessing the value of the Coal
Mining Assets as at 31 March 2019. The valuation was based on
value-in-use basis, which is defined as the present value of the future
cash flow expected to be derived from the Coal Mining Assets. When
conducting the valuation, the valuer has taken into account factors
including but not limited to selling prices and sales volume of coal,
production cost and other expenses, capital expenditure, production
plan and discount rate, the current conditions of the market and the
Company and estimated trend in the future, etc.

The table below sets out the sales volume, selling prices and gross
revenue of different types of coal of the Company for the Year as
compared with the year ended 31 March 2018:

1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018
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Sales price Gross Sales price Gross Sales price Gross
volume  perton  revenue volume perton  revenue volume perton  revenue
HE SHEE ks HE BEEE ks HE BHEE ks
(Tonnes) (HKS) (HK$000) Q=S (HK$)  (HK$'000)
(Brx) (F#xn) (B8) (Bm) (T%x)
Large Coal AR - - - 26,122 114 2,981 -100% -100% -100%
Middle Coal RS = - - 81,670 125 10,246 -100% -100% -100%
Small Medium Coal N - - - 118829 118 14,004 -100% -100% -100%
Mixed Coal oaeyit 169,644 88 14,925 - - - 100% 100% 100%
36 Coal = 125 % 12 230,397 88 20,202 -100% 9% 100%
38 Coal N 66 106 7 133,989 % 12,824 -100% 10% -100%
Sub-total for Coal EiRNat 169,835 - 14944 591,007 - 60,257 -71% - -75%
Slack Coal IR 62,882 58 3,630 1,207,194 61 73,188 -95% -5% -95%
Weathered Coal RBE 1,531,874 37 56,660 1,385,249 35 49,000 11% 6% 16%
Total @t 1,764,591 - 75,234 3,183,450 - 182445 -45% - -59%
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Profit for the Year (continued)

Impairment loss on intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment (continued)

The market demand for coal had been persistently decreased
in recent years due to a decrease in large scale industrial and
infrastructure projects and promotion of the use of clean energy by
the PRC government, however due to the high demand of slack coal
and weathered coal, we focused on selling slack coal and weathered
coal during the Year and the gross sales revenue increased more than
double of previous year.

The production cost and other expenses of coal per ton remain
constant as applied by the valuer. The valuation methodology in
arriving at the discount rates as at 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018
was consistent. The post-tax discount rates adopted were 14.60%
and 15.20% respectively as at 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018
and the pre-tax discount rates adopted were 21.5% and 26.78%
respectively as at 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018. The slight
change in post-tax discount rates was due to the change in market
data and parameters adopted in the calculation of discount rate as at
31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018 were as follows:
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Corporate tax rate R R
Weighted average cost of capital NEEF G E R
Inflation rate R=

Discount rate BRI =
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As at As at

31 March 31 March
2019 2018
RoZ—NF NSNS
=B=+—H =A=+—H
1.47%-3.07% 3.75%
6.65%-6.94% 10.71%
0.16-1.63 1.06
3.48% 5.59%
19.50% 20.65%
3.70% 4.90%
69.00% 81.02%
31.00% 18.98%
25.00% 25.00%
14.60% 17.43%
3.00% 1.92%
14.60% 15.20%



FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Profit for the Year (continued)

Impairment loss on intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment (continued)

Major assumptions adopted by the valuer in the valuation of the Coal
Mining Assets include:

a. the resource estimates for Kaiyuan Mine sourced from a
technical report as at 27 June 2010 prepared by John T.
Boyd Company and certain engineering survey reports can
reasonably reflect the reserve status of Kaiyuan Mine;

b.  the coal prices for the projection period were estimated by the
Directors with reference to the historical stability of the coal
price;

C. economic conditions will not deviate significantly from the
projections regarding the production schedule, selling volume,
operating expenses and capital expenditure provided by the
Directors;

d.  the mining license of Kaiyuan Mine was renewed from 26
December 2017 to 31 December 2018;

e.  as at the date of the valuation, the Company has still not yet
received any written notification from any Xinjiang government
department on the update status of the approval process of
the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan. In view of the
uncertainties in the final outcome regarding the approval of
the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan, the additional
resources in the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan is
not considered in the valuation of the Coal Mining Assets; and

f. the risk free rate adopted was the yield rate of the long term
China Government Bond as at 31 March 2019 as extracted
from Bloomberg.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS B E&Tim &

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Profit for the Year (continued)

Impairment loss on intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment (continued)

The valuation report showed that the value-in-use of the Coal Mining
Assets as at 31 March 2019 approximates its carrying amount.

The valuation report and the value-in-use were assessed and
reviewed by the Directors.

Increase in gain on change in fair value of convertible bond

The zero coupon convertible bond (the “Convertible Bond”) of the
Company in the principal amount of HK$200,000,000 was issued on
14 March 2008 with a conversion price of HK$0.2 per share (subject
to adjustments) and maturity date of 17 March 2011 (details of which
were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 28 January
2008 and 14 March 2008).

The maturity date of the Convertible Bond was then extended to
13 March 2014, 13 March 2017 and further extended to 13 March
2020 (details of which were respectively set out in the circulars of
the Company dated 21 February 2011, 13 February 2014 and 16
February 2017 and announcements of the Company dated 11 March
2011, 10 March 2014 and 7 March 2017).

As at the date of this annual report, the outstanding principal amount
of the Convertible Bond is HK$200,000,000.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Profit for the Year (continued)

Increase in gain on change in fair value of convertible bond
(continued)

The Company conducted valuation for the fair value of the Convertible
Bond every financial year after its issuance in compliance with the
relevant accounting policies. The Company has engaged ValQuest
Advisory Group Limited (2018: Roma Appraisals Limited) as its
independent professional valuer for the purpose of assessing the fair
value of the Convertible Bond as at 31 March 2019. In assessing the
fair value of the Convertible Bond, the binomial option pricing model
was adopted and factors including stock price of the Company,
specific terms and structure of the Convertible Bond, trading
conditions and liquidity of the Convertible Bond, and ancillary effects
associated with the exercise or conversion and partial conversion of
the Convertible Bond were taken into account. The calculation for the
discount rate of the Convertible Bond is “discount rate = spot interest
rate + other spread”, whereas it was concluded that the credit rating
of the Convertible Bond should be “Below B” with the assumption that
the other spread would not be changed in a period of time, and the
discount rate was 9.40% (2018: 7.62%).

The fair values of the Convertible Bond were approximately
HK$247,242,000 and approximately HK$217,869,000 as at 31
March 2018 and 31 March 2019, respectively. The amounts were
assessed and reviewed by the Directors and reviewed and audited
by the auditor of the Company. According to the relevant accounting
policies, the decrease in fair value of the Convertible Bond represents
a decrease in liabilities of the Company. The amount of the change in
fair value of the Convertible Bond of approximately HK$29,373,000
was derived by taking the difference between the fair value of the
Convertible Bond as at 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2019. The
significant change in fair value of the Convertible Bond was mainly due
to the significant change in the stock price of the Company during the
Year and the expected volatility of the stock price of the Company.
The closing stock prices of the Company were HK$0.42 and HK$0.24
as at 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2019, respectively and the
expected volatility of the stock price of the Company was 65.46% and
64.00% based on the historical price volatility of the Company for the
financial years ended 31 March 2018 and 2019, respectively.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Business segment

Information reported to the executive Directors, being identified as the
chief operating decision makers (the “CODM”), for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses
on types of goods delivered or services rendered. No operating
segments identified by the CODM have been aggregated in arriving at
the reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments are as
follows:

(1) Coal mining business segment: mining and sales of coal mine in
the PRGC;

(2) Renewable energy business segment: service income from
renewable energy services in Malaysia.

Segment revenue and results
Segment revenue represents revenue derived from (i) coal mining
business and (i) renewable energy business.

(i)  Coal Mining Business
Coal mining is the major business of the Group at present. It
contributed a revenue of approximately HK$75,234,000 for the
Year (2018: approximately HK$182,445,000), representing an
approximately 59% decrease as compared with last year.

Sales and Production of Coals

During the Year, the Group sold approximately 1.76 million
tonnes of coals (2018: approximately 3.18 million tonnes) with
total sales income of approximately HK$75,234,000 (2018:
approximately HK$182,445,000). Details of sales of coals in
tonnes are listed in the below table:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEEstia &k

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment revenue and results (continued)
(i)  Coal Mining Business (continued)

Coal Sales (tonnes) and Percentage of Coal Sales

pagi

2 REN(E)
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() BEES )

IR B (W) RIRIR I E B 77t

Coal Sales Coal Sales

(tonnes) in %

RREHE RRHE

(W8) BoOtk

36 Coal =73k 125 0

38 Coal =\ 66 0

Mixed Coal JEA& & 169,644 9.61

Slack Coal #H 62,882 3.56

Weathered Coal [E/t /& 1,531,874 86.83

Total 25t 1,764,591 100.00

(i)  Renewable Energy Business (i)  AABERERFER

Service income from renewable energy services contributed a RAFE A BEERRBELEZR

revenue of approximately HK$391,000 for the Year (2018: Nil).

Reserves and Resources

The Group owns a Mining Right, which is located in Xinjiang. The
estimated remaining coal reserve in Kaiyuan Mine was approximately
6.20 million tonnes as at 31 March 2019 (2018: approximately 7.90
million tonnes). During the Year, there were approximately 1.70 million
tonnes of coal being extracted (2018: approximately 1.81 million
tonnes). The Group also owns an Exploration Permit, which is also
located in Xinjiang. The original Exploration Permit had expired on
5 April 2017 and a renewal of the permit from 16 May 2017 to 16
May 2019 was granted by the Xinjiang Land Department. Please
refer to the Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan and the
Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan in relation to the latest
status. The following tables are the estimated coal reserves for the
Kaiyuan Mine and estimated coal resources for the Zexu Mine as of 31
March 2010 conducted by John T. Boyd Company in June 2010.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Reserves and Resources (continued)
Estimated coal reserves for the Kaiyuan Mine:

Average Mineable
Seam Thickness (m)

DEEN (&
HERERE)
SURBIE Z fHEt R E

Marketable Reserves (million tonnes)
As of 31 March 2010

AR fE ERE(EEMW)
FHEE(CK) BE-_Z—ZH=A=+—H
% of
Seam Total (Coal/Parting) Proved Probable Total Total
1h#E
yod=] Mt (B %E) RE FE AR et Aok
North of Current Pit
(Potentially Oxidized)
RAEmR UL (Baseat)
B2 13.1 - 4.58 4.58 100.00
Mine Plan Area
BLRBEE
Bs 10.8 3.57 - 3.57 25.00
B2 19.6 10.86 - 10.86 75.00
14.43 - 14.43 100.00
Total
#Et

Bs 10.8 3.57 - 3.57 19.00
B 17.7 10.86 4.58 15.44 81.00
14.43 4.58 19.01 100.00

Approximately 75% of the total reserves are classified as “Proved”. BFEERT5% DR [BE HE7 -

Coal Reserve as at 31 March 2019 = Coal Reserve as at 31 March R—-ZE—HE=A=+—H 7 HEEHE-R
2018 — Amount of coal extracted by the Group during the period from —ZE—N\&F=H=+—BZEEHS —4~&E

1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019.

ER_ZE-N\FHA—-RE_T-NF=H
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34 NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R &REXER A =



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS B[t a2
SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) PEER(E
Reserves and Resources (continued) HERER(E)

Estimated coal resources for the Zexu Mine totalling 119.38 Mt, are
summarised below:

IR AR £11038E 8
WE - T

Marketable Resources

(million tonnes)

EFE(EEMW)

Average Mineable % of
Seam Seam Thickness (m)  Measured Indicated Total Resources
AR HEIR
pod=] FHERE(CK) REA 25 #at BotE
B7 8.5 10.23 10.46 20.69 17
Bs 3.9 2.77 3.98 6.75 6
Bs 6.3 5.80 10.42 16.22 14
B! 1.8 0.29 0.01 0.30 1
B 6.1 6.85 10.21 17.06 14
Bs 6.3 8.06 8.03 16.09 13
B2 211 22.58 19.69 42.27 35
Total #85+ 56.58 62.80 119.38 100

Geographical segment HhE5 A

The geographical location of customers is determined based on the
location where the goods are delivered or services are rendered. The
Group’s revenue and results from operations are mainly derived from
activities in the PRC. Activities outside the PRC are insignificant. The
principal assets of the Group are located in the PRC and Malaysia.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as otherwise disclosed, there were neither significant
investments held as at 31 March 2019 nor material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries during the Year.

Save as otherwise disclosed, the Group does not have any future
plans for material investments. There will, however, be a reasonable
expected amount of expenditure in capital assets, in particular for the
new plants and machines for the environmental protection remedial
works. Sources of funding are expected to come primarily from the
coal sales revenue and also external banking facilities of the Group.

BERHRUE KBS MmN SR RS 2
WHETE - AREZWamhEEXEETRIR
BB XS - PEIRINEBBIMTRE -
AEEZEREETGUNFELSHEA
EER

FiFERRE WEBLRZERR
BRHESEUREAREHER
BEZRETE

BARITREEN R_E-NEF=A=1—
AYEFEEARE - NAFEATENE
REZEBAWESHESE -

BRITHRBEEN  AEEYETFAEARE
ZARRETE o AR AEEBHMRENEE
FHAEMY - LEEARRFREMIREZ
G K es - FHESRRETERAAS
B2 B 3 B W e S SNEBSRT TR S

Annual Report 2019 4

35



36

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
As at 31 March 2019, the Group had:

o net current assets of approximately HK$84,255,000 (2018:
approximately HK$374,179,000).

° cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$416,662,000
(2018: approximately HK$440,437,000) which comprised
financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$60,236,000 and restricted bank balances
of approximately HK$77,612,000 and the bank balances
were the major components of the Group’s current assets
of approximately HK$432,459,000 (2018: approximately
HK$451,867,000).

° current liabilities of approximately HK$348,204,000 (2018:
approximately HK$77,688,000) which comprised mainly trade
and other payables of approximately HK$58,794,000 (2018:
approximately HK$69,798,000), interest-bearing borrowings of
approximately HK$68,345,000 (2018: Nil) and convertible bond
designated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss of approximately HK$217,869,000 (2018: Nil).

° non-current liabilities of approximately HK$3,257,000 (2018:
approximately HK$250,316,000 which comprised mainly
convertible bond designated as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss of approximately HK$247,242,000).

The Group’s gearing ratio was approximately 1.55 (2018:
approximately 1.49). The computation is based on total debt
(convertible bond designated as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss and interest-bearing borrowings) divided by total equity.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
The capital of the Group comprises only ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2019, there were 765,373,584 ordinary shares of the
Company in issue.

Zero coupon convertible bonds of the Company with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$200,000,000 were issued on 14 March 2008
the maturity date of which was approved to be further extended for 36
months to 13 March 2020 by the shareholders of the Company on 7
March 2017.
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CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had pledged restricted bank
balances with carrying amount of approximately HK$77,612,000
(2018: Nil) to the bank as a security for interest-bearing borrowings.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly earns revenue in Renminbi (“RMB”) and incurs
costs in RMB and Hong Kong dollars. The Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk based on fluctuations between Hong Kong
dollars and RMB arising from its core operation in the PRC. The
currency exchange risk for the Year is mainly derived from the net
exchange gain on convertible bond designated as financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss, which is a result from the sustained
depreciation of RMB against Hong Kong dollars. In order to minimise
the foreign currency risk exposure between these two currencies, the
Group maintained cash balances in both currencies that are sufficient
to meet three to four months’ operating cash flows requirements of
the Group.

TREASURY POLICIES

Apart from the issuance of convertible bond at their face value of
HK$200,000,000, the Group finances its operation mainly by internal
generated resources.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2019, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had 82 employees (2018:
73) spreading amongst Hong Kong, Malaysia and the PRC.
Total staff costs (excluding Directors’ emoluments) for the Year
amounted to approximately HK$10,913,000 (2018: approximately
HK$10,266,000). Employment relationship has been well maintained
by the Group with its employees. The Group has adopted an
extensive training policy for its employees. It has also sponsored
senior executives for higher education programmes.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERSREEAEHE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Kwan Man Fai (“Mr. Kwan”), aged 50, is an executive Director
appointed on 25 March 2008. Mr. Kwan has been the chairman
and managing director of the Company since March 2017 and is
a member of the remuneration committee and the chairman of the
nomination committee of the Company. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Kwan graduated from the University
of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in laws and a postgraduate
certificate in laws. Mr. Kwan also holds a master degree in laws from
The London School of Economics and Social Sciences, the University
of London and a master degree in the PRC law from the City
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Kwan is now a consultant of Messrs.
Anthony Siu & Co., a law firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Kwan has over 10
years of experience in corporate finance and banking work, including
assisting various companies in their listing on the Main Board and
the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

Mr. Wang Xiangfei, aged 67, is an executive Director appointed
on 25 March 2008. Mr. Wang Xiangfei is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wang Xiangfei graduated from
Renmin University of China with a bachelor degree in economics
in 1982. Mr. Wang Xiangfei is now a senior accountant. Mr. Wang
Xiangfei serves as the financial advisor of China Sonangol International
Holding Limited. Mr. Wang Xiangfei is also an independent non-
executive director of China Development Bank International
Investment Limited (stock code: 1062), a company whose shares
are listed on the Stock Exchange and Tianjin Capital Environmental
Protection Group Company Limited, a company whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1065) and the Shanghai
Stock Exchange. Mr. Wang Xiangfei is a director of Ascent Goal
Investments Limited, the controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr.
Wang Xiangfei is the husband of Ms. Lo Fong Hung, a substantial
shareholder of the Company and the father of Mr. Wong Sze Wai, an
executive Director and the alternate director to Mr. Wang Xiangfei.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED & REXER AT

HITES

BSOESELE(TRERE D) - 505% - R=FTN
FZA-THREZERMITES - KL
BTt = ARBRLEARRERRES
RIEE - RARAIFHERERBMRERR
BEXFE - WNARRRETHEBARZE
T -BREEXNBAAR  BRAIELE
RIREBEEEFSE - BEETRHERBKE
BB G R EFA PR T 2L F B
MASZERTEM(PEE) - EAERS
FRRMER B REIT 2 B -
BAEERCEREMRITES T HERAE T+
FRB  ETEEBHZEATNEEHRS
RZARAR([BAT ) ERKRGEM LT
kil

FAREE 675 RZZTEENF=A
ZT+HHEZEARITES - TAREEN
BARNGETHBRARIZES - TAREE
R—NNZFEERFEHARKZIERLL
EELEBN - TARGCERAESR DR -
FORAEREFLTFBREEABZERERA
Al AR - EAREET BB HE
WEBRRAE (RO - 1062) (AR MR
B FT BT 2 AR)) R RZRIERREBER
MAHERAE(ERGPERZAT (DRI
1065) M EBBEARR G EM AR 2B
SMIEMITES o TARGERERRIERRK
REEZREBRARIZEE - THREESR
RATTERREF I L+ 2 RN T M4
EEHITEEREIIRLECBRES) 2
%



BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT EE K SR EEASHE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

In addition, Mr. Wang Xiangfei was the independent non-executive
director of Chongging Iron & Steel Company Limited, a company
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1053)
and the Shanghai Stock Exchange, from July 2002 to June 2009
and China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited, a company whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 998) and the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, from December 2006 to November 2012.
Mr. Wang Xiangfei was an independent non-executive director of
Shandong Chenming Paper Holdings Limited from April 2010 to May
2013, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1812), the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange. Mr. Wang Xiangfei was an independent non-
executive director of SEEC Media Group Limited (stock code: 205)
from June 2003 to May 2015, a company whose shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wang Xiangfei was also an external
supervisor of Shenzhen Rural Commercial Bank from April 2009
to May 2015. Previously, Mr. Wang Xiangfei had also served as an
executive director and CEO of China Everbright International Limited,
an executive director of China Everbright Limited and China Everbright
Technology Limited (now known as China Haidian Holdings Limited),
a director & assistant general manager of China Everbright Holdings
Company Limited.

Mr. Wong Sze Wai, aged 36, is an executive Director and an
alternate director to Mr. Wang Xiangfei, the executive Director,
appointed on 20 November 2018 and 18 July 2017, respectively.
Mr. Wong Sze Wai is the member of remuneration committee of the
Company. Mr. Wong Sze Wai is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. He was the personal assistant to Mr. Wang Xiangfei
during the period from 1 August 2018 to 19 November 2018. Mr.
Wong Sze Wai is also the alternate director to Mr. Wang Xiangfei in
several subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wong Sze Wai obtained a
master degree in Social Science from the University of Hong Kong in
2010 and a bachelor degree in Science from McMaster University of
Canada in 2007. Mr. Wong Sze Wai is currently a director of several
private companies in Hong Kong, focusing on business development
and legal aspects. His industrial experience includes research and
development, business development, and legal and compliance,
etc. Mr. Wong Sze Wai is a director and an alternate director to Mr.
Wang Xiangfei of Ascent Goal Investments Limited, the controlling
shareholder of the Company. Mr. Wong Sze Wai is the son of Mr.
Wang Xiangfei, the executive Director and substantial shareholder,
and Ms. Lo Fong Hung, a substantial shareholder of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT EE K SR EEASHE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond, aged 53, is an independent non-
executive Director appointed on 25 March 2008. Dr. Wong Man
Hin Raymond is the chairman of the remuneration committee of
the Company and a member of both the audit committee and
the nomination committee of the Company. Dr. Wong Man Hin
Raymond is a member of American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (CPA), a Certified Management Accountant (CMA) and
holds a certificate in financial management (CFM). Dr. Wong Man
Hin Raymond holds a bachelor degree in chemical engineering, a
master degree in economics and a doctorate degree in business
administration. Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond is an executive director
and deputy chairman of Raymond Industrial Limited (stock code:
229), a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond is also an independent
non-executive director of Modern Beauty Salon Holdings Limited
(stock code: 919), a company whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, and Tak Lee Machinery Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8142) and Zhejiang United Investment Holdings
Group Limited (stock code: 8366), companies whose shares are listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange. Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond is the
vice president and council member of the Hong Kong Independent
Non-Executive Director Association and an independent manager of
TWGHs Wong Fut Nam College.

Mr. Chan Yiu Fai Youdey (“Mr. Chan”), aged 49, is an independent
non-executive Director appointed on 25 March 2008. Mr. Chan is
a member of each of the audit committee, remuneration committee
and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Chan graduated
from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in laws
and a postgraduate certificate in laws. Mr. Chan also holds master
degrees in laws from the City University of Hong Kong and from
the People’s University of China. Mr. Chan is currently a partner of
Messrs. David Y.Y. Fung & Co., a law firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan
has extensive experience in civil and commercial crime litigation and
also handles various transactions for corporate clients and banks in
Hong Kong. Mr. Chan is also an independent non-executive director
of Qingin Foodstuffs (Cayman) Company Limited (stock code: 1583),
a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT EE K SR EEASHE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Mr. Pak Wai Keung Martin (“Mr. Pak”), aged 55, is an independent
non-executive Director appointed on 19 September 2017. He is the
chairman of audit committee, a member of each of remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company. He is a
fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, an
associate of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators
in the United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries. He has over 25 years of experience in finance,
accounting and corporate governance affairs. Mr. Pak had held
positions as the chief financial officer and the company secretary
at various listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Pak is currently (i)
an independent non-executive director of Dragon Mining Limited
(Stock Code: 1712); (i) an independent non-executive director of
Convoy Global Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1019); and (i) an
independent non-executive director of China Huiyuan Juice Group
Limited (Stock Code: 1886), the shares of all of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Pak is also an independent
non-executive director of Viva China Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
8032), the shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.
He had been an independent non-executive director of Trony Solar
Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 2468) from January 2017
to August 2018, the shares of which were listed and were delisted on
23 August 2018 on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was
an independent non-executive director of Ta Yang Group Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 1991) from April 2016 to October 2018, the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Chun Fung (“Mr. Li"), aged 37, is the company secretary of
the Company appointed on 21 April 2015. Mr. Li graduated from the
Imperial College, University of London with master degree in chemical
engineering. Mr. Li is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and has extensive experience in corporate
governance and compliance matters.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXRER®|E

COMMITMENT TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate governance
emphasizing on transparency, independence, accountability,
responsibility and fairness.

The Directors had reviewed the Company’s performance of its
corporate governance practices that the Company has complied with
the code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) throughout
the Year, save for the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the Code
as set out in the section headed “Chairman and Chief Executive” of
this annual report.

THE BOARD

Roles and responsibilities

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. It
should act in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders at
all times. The Board sets strategies for the Company and monitors the
performance and activities of the senior management.

The executive Directors and the senior management of the Company
are responsible for the day to day operations of the Company
whereas the independent non-executive Directors are responsible
for ensuring a high standard of financial and management reporting
to the Board and shareholders of the Company as well as to provide
a balanced composition in the Board so that there is a strong
independent element on the Board.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board composition

The members of the Board during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Kwan Man Fai (Chairman & Managing Director)
Lo Fong Hung (vacated on 20 November 2018)
Wang Xiangfei (with Wong Sze Wai as alternate)
Wong Sze Wai (appointed on 20 November 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Wong Man Hin Raymond

Chan Yiu Fai Youdey

Pak Wai Keung Martin

After annual assessment by the nomination committee of the
Company at a meeting on 20 June 2019, the Board considers that all
the Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise
so as to give a balance of skills, knowledge and experience, and
diversity of perspectives required for the running of an effective Board.
The Board currently comprises three executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. The brief biographical details
of the Directors and the senior management and relationship among
them are set out in the section headed “Biography of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report.

Board diversity

In June 2014, the Company adopted a policy on diversity of the Board
members, which has been revised in January 2019. The policy is
to review, assess and recommend any appointment, re-election or
any succession plan of any Directors to the Board from time to time
after considering a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, race, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and tenure of appointment to allow for
the Company’s business model and specific needs.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board meetings and general meeting

During the Year, the Board held four regular meetings and two
ad-hoc meetings, and the Company held one general meeting. The
attendance records of individual Directors at the Board meetings and
at the general meeting are set out below:

E=E(#&)

EEgERRRRAE

RAEER  EFRERTHAEHEER
MR & - URARBGERIT—RBIR
RE - AR ESNEFEETRALBERAGL
SR -

Number of Number of R/ HE/
Board meetings  general meeting BER REK
attended/ attended/ i i
eligible eligible £28 BRAE
Name of Directors to attend to attend EEpg R ¥
Executive Directors: HITES:
Kwan Man Fai e
(Chairman & Managing Director) 6/6 1/1 (TEHRESLLRE) 6/6 1
Lo Fong Hung ERI(RN-2—\&
(vacated on 20 November 2018) 0/5 0/1 AT B 0/5 01
Wang Xiangfei IR
(with Wong Sze Wai as alternate) 6/6 11 (Im&EBRES) 6/6 11
Wong Sze Wai TR =E-NE
(appointed on 20 November 2018) 1/1 0/0 +-A=+HEZH) 1/1 0/0
Independent Non-executive Directors: BUFHTES !
Wong Man Hin Raymond 5/6 11 BEXE 5/6 il
Chan Yiu Fai Youdey 5/6 11 =57 5/6 il
Pak Wai Keung Martin 5/6 11 A& 5/6 11

# Independent non-executive Directors had attended meeting(s) independently held
with the chairman of the Board without the executive Directors present on the
direction of the Group’s strategy and policies during the Year.

All Directors have access to the company secretary of the Company
who is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are followed
and all applicable rules and regulations are complied with.

The Board ensures that its members are supplied, in a timely manner,

with all necessary information in a form and of a quality appropriate to
enable the Board to discharge its duties.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board meetings and general meeting (continued)

The minutes of Board meetings recorded all the details of the matters
considered by the Board and the decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting views expressed.
Minutes of Board meetings are kept by the company secretary of the
Company and are available for inspection by any Director.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

The appointment of new Directors is a matter for consideration by
the nomination committee of the Company. In accordance with the
Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting, one-third of
the Directors for the time being, shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed three independent non-executive
Directors who represent half of the Board and with two of whom
hold appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

Code provision A.4.1 of the Code specifies that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to
re-election. Two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond and Mr. Chan Yiu Fai Youdey, were
appointed on 25 March 2008. Their service agreements have been
extended for one year commencing on 25 March 2019. Mr. Pak
Wai Keung Martin, the independent non-executive Director, was
appointed on 19 September 2017 and the service agreement has
been extended for one year commencing from 19 September 2018.
However, they are still subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the
provisions of the Company’s Bye-laws.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and after annual assessment by
the nomination committee of the Company at a meeting on 20 June
2019, the Company considers that all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Directors’ and Officers’ liability

Appropriate insurance cover on Directors and officers’ liabilities has
been provided to cover potential legal actions against Directors and
officers.

Training and support for Directors

All Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. The
Group provides briefings and other training to develop and refresh the
Directors’ knowledge and skills. Details of the continuous professional
development participated by the Directors for the Year, that the
Company received, are set out below:

Exg(R)

ESReABECER
ARRERA Y ES RSRM B 2%
#1718 REERSABERFEEEER

G o
AA

EEEIIN
PREFAFHEBRREZERET - A&
EREGN REMIR  NRERENEE
ZHERAE NI EE - RAFIMERHTESR
AEEANZEBFEZERI ZFHBERIIM
T

Attended seminars or SHENFAER

Name of Directors briefing/read materials BEENE Bhe MEER
Executive Directors: BiTES:
Kwan Man Fai BE

(Chairman & Managing Director) v (XRREFHLE) v
Lo Fong Hung BHI (A= \F

(vacated on 20 November 2018) - +— B -+ B -
Wang Xiangfei FHIR

(with Wong Sze Wai as alternate) v (FH#RERES) 4
Wong Sze Wai TR =ZT—N\F

(appointed on 20 November 2018) v +T—RAZTREZM) v
Independent Non-executive Directors: BUFHTES :
Wong Man Hin Raymond v BN v
Chan Yiu Fai Youdey v PR 2 pE v
Pak Wai Keung Martin v SEE v
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS EEBSFRS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. All Directors have
confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that they have
complied with the required standard as set out in the Model Code
throughout the Year.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision A.2.1 of the Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive (the “CE”) should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

During the Year, the Company did not have any officer with CE
title. Mr. Kwan Man Fai, the chairman and managing director of the
Company, also carried out the responsibility of CE during the Year. In
view of the size of operation of the Group, the Board considered that
this structure is more suitable for the Company as it can promote the
efficient formulation and implementation of the Company’s strategies.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees to oversee particular
aspects of the Group’s affairs and to assist in the execution
of the Board’s responsibilities. All committees have their own
terms of reference. The views of different committees and their
recommendation not only ensure proper control of the Group but
also the continual achievement of the high corporate governance
standards expected of a listed company. The Board conducts
regular review of the structure and composition of the committees
with particular attention to the skills, knowledge and experience of
individual members.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
set up in March 1999 with specific terms of reference. The terms
of reference of the Audit Committee which are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company have included the
duties which are set out in code provision C.3.3 of the Code, with
appropriate modifications when necessary. The terms of reference of
the Audit Committee were amended on 15 March 2016 in order to
comply with the amendments to the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee currently consists of three independent
non-executive Directors namely, Mr. Pak Wai Keung Martin, the
chairman of the Audit Committee, Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond and
Mr. Chan Yiu Fai Youdey.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

A total of three meetings were held during the Year and the
attendances of individual members are as follows:

EEZEE(H)

BREEE (&)

RAFER - KBETT=ZRE% - ERIKEZ
HERsgmT

Number of S

meetings attended/ EEREE

Name of members eligible to attend REHE 230
Pak Wai Keung Martin (Chairman) 3/3 BE®R(ER) 3/3
Wong Man Hin Raymond 3/3 BN 3/3
Chan Yiu Fai Youdey 3/3 FRiRrE 3/3

The Audit Committee together with the management of the Company
have reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed risk management, internal controls and financial
reporting matters including the review of the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the Year.

The Audit Committee reviewed the interim and annual results, risk
management and internal control systems, and financial reporting
matters in conjunction with the external auditors during the Year.
The Audit Committee endorsed the accounting treatment adopted
by the Company and had the best of its ability assured itself that the
disclosure of the financial information in this annual report complies
with the applicable accounting standards and Disclosure of Financial
Information set out in Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was set up in July 2005 with specific terms of reference.
The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee which are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
have included the duties which are set out in code provision B.1.2 of
the Code, with appropriate modifications when necessary. The terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee were amended on 27
March 2012 in order to comply with the amendments to the Listing
Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises five members,
including the chairman and managing director of the Company, Mr.
Kwan Man Fai, the executive Director, Mr. Wong Sze Wai and three
independent non-executive Directors, Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond
as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, Mr. Chan Yiu Fai
Youdey and Mr. Pak Wai Keung Martin.

The remuneration packages of Directors and senior management of
the Company are recommended by the Remuneration Committee to
the Board for determination, as authorised by the shareholders at the
annual general meeting, having regard to the operating results of the
Company, individual performance and prevailing market conditions.
The Board conducts regular review of the structure and composition
of the Remuneration Committee with particular attention to the skills,
knowledge and experience of individual members.

During the Year, four meetings were held and the Remuneration
Committee had reviewed the existing remuneration packages of the
Board and the senior management of the Company and to make
recommendation on the remuneration package of all Directors and
senior management. The attendances of individual members are as
follows:

EEZEE(H)

FMEEE (&)
YNZESRRBOBKEER - BEAR
BXEREFHCERELE  WTES
TM@EER=RBEIIFNTEEFEXRE
T(HFWEREEXR)  RBERERARR
pifa o

AAREEREREBAB ZFHMFEHH
MEZEERESSEE  YHEFSKRER
RRBREFAGRERL ZEN - k&2
ERDAEEEE - AARARBRITHRE
BT EFoeTiRITFMEZESCRER
REHEG - LEERMERIKE 2% - A#

RAFER  HFMESSEBTHRAEEL
EEREFENARAEREBAEBREH
Hirs  THEREFRSRERENSH
fRBEL RS - [ERIKE 2 hF s
T

Number of S

meetings attended/ SERLE

Name of members eligible to attend REHE =E
Wong Man Hin Raymond (Chairman) 4/4 HEXHE(ER) 4/4
Kwan Man Fai 4/4 A E 4/4
Chan Yiu Fai Youdey 4/4 Per 2 4 4/4
Pak Wai Keung Martin 4/4 SlEE: 4/4

Remuneration paid to senior management
Senior management’s remuneration payment of the Group for the
Year falls within the following band:

XN TFEREEAS ZFHMH
AEERAFEINTRRERAR ZFH M
TFATEE

Number of
individual(s)

AB

Nil to HK$1,000,000 T 21,000,000/ 7T
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was set up in March 2012 with specific terms of
reference. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company have included the duties which are set out in code provision
A.5.2 of the Code, with appropriate modifications when necessary.

The Nomination Committee will take into consideration a candidate’s
qualification, experience, expertise, knowledge and diversity of
perspectives, the requirements applicable to the Company and the
structure and composition of the Board. The Nomination Committee
identifies, reviews and nominates with diligence and care that
candidates suitably qualified as Board members before making
recommendation to the Board for their final appointment. Factors
such as gender, age, cultural and educational background, and
professional experience will also be taken into account to maintain a
balanced composition and diversity of the perspectives of the Board.

The Board had adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) setting out the approach to diversify members of the Board.
Selection of candidates will be based on a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, culture and educational
background, race, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
tenure of appointment.

The Board is currently composed of diversified members of different
gender and age, with education in economic, legal, accounting and
chemical engineering respectively from leading universities in China
(including Hong Kong) and England. Business and professional
experiences of the Board are even diversified which include but
not limited to, multinational entrepreneurship, listed companies
directorship in Hong Kong, Shanghai and Shenzhen, legal practices in
Hong Kong, corporation finance and investment banking, accounting
and auditing, and financial management.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

As at the date of this annual report, the information (including sex,
age, educational background, business experience, professional
experience, term of appointment and designation) of the Board
Diversity Policy is as follows:

EEZEE(H)

REZEE(H)

RAERAE  BERSTBEZ AR

(BIEMR - ik HEBR
HERLR  EHEBB)MT

N TR

No. of Directors

EEAY
Age group: 31 t0 40 31E405% 1
FHER 4110 50 A E508% 2
5110 60 512607 2
Over 60 e E1e0)3 1
Gender: Male B 6
MR Female 74 0
Educational background: ~ Hong Kong B 5
HEE= PRC =8 3
Overseas pisZIN 4
Business experience: Multinational entrepreneurship FE T 3
EEHS & Listed companies directorship in = LER 6
Hong Kong, Shanghai and FYN ETRARIESE
Shenzhen
Professional experience: Legal practices in Hong Kong BB ZEERD 2
EHLE Corporation finance and PERME R 1
investment banking WEIRTT
Accounting and auditing FETREZ 2
Financial management g ER 3
Length of service (year): <1 HR—F 0
PR# RS = (B F&T) - 1-5 1255 2
6-10 6E 105 0
Over 10 F2i810%F 4
Designation: Executive Director WITESF 3
B Independent Non-executive Director B3/ JFHI1TE S 3
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

After annual assessment by the Nomination Committee at a meeting
on 20 June 2019, the Company considers that the Board has
achieved the following measurable objectives under the Board
Diversity Policy for the Year:

1. at least one third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors; and

2. at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
accounting or other professional qualifications.

The Nomination Committee currently comprises four members,
including the chairman and managing director of the Company, Mr.
Kwan Man Fai as the chairman of the Nomination Committee and
three independent non-executive Directors namely, Dr. Wong Man
Hin Raymond, Mr. Chan Yiu Fai Youdey and Mr. Pak Wai Keung
Martin.

The office of Ms. Lo Fong Hung as an executive Director was vacated
pursuant to bye-law 89(3) of the Bye-Laws of the Company and Mr.
Wong Sze Wai has been appointed as an executive Director to fill the
vacancy created by the disqualification of Ms. Lo Fong Hung with
effect from 20 November 2018, respectively.

During the Year, four meetings were held and the Nomination
Committee had reviewed and adopted the existing policy for the
nomination of Directors. The attendances of individual members are
as follows:

EEZEE(H)

REZEE(H)
REZAEBN-T-NEXA-TABITE
WETEETRE  ARTRE  EFER
AFENDETEEESTLREET 2T
LR

1. EEGEL=N2z-KERBILIEH
TEE R

0. EFUEL—RMABRBRH R
BEEG -

REZESRAAMBKEEK  BEAX
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BeXIE)R=2BIUIFNTESE AR
T BRRERAERARREL -

BIFEARAFH AR A FE8IQ)IF » & T AL
TEMHITESHE TR RITUELRED
EZEARTEEFNEHETUEE ALt
BERMEEMBRUIZER - 2RIE =T —N\F
+—A-+HBER-
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el W ARARISE IR B 2 BUR - @RI &
Z R

Number of )

meetings attended/ SERLE

Name of members eligible to attend REHE F=E
Kwan Man Fai (Chairman) 44 BASE(EE) 4/4
Wong Man Hin Raymond 4/4 =N 4/4
Chan Yiu Fai Youdey 4/4 Per 2 4 4/4
Pak Wai Keung Martin 4/4 SlEE: 4/4
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is dedicated to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance and the Board is responsible for performing
the corporate governance duties as stipulated in the Listing Rules.
During the Year, the Board committees had developed and reviewed
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;
reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management; reviewed and
monitored the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements and reviewed the compliance with
the Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Nomination Policy
The nomination policy of the Company (the “Nomination Policy”) was
adopted by the Board and became effective on 9 January 2019.

Objective

° The Nomination Committee may, as it considers appropriate,
nominate a number of candidates more than the number of
directors to be appointed or re-appointed at a general meeting,
or the number of casual vacancies to be filled.

Selection Criteria

° The factors listed below could be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate:

- Reputation for integrity

- Accomplishment and experience in the related industry

- Relevant skills and experience to contribute to the Board

- Commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest

- Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational

background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)
Nomination Policy (continued)
Selection Criteria (continued)

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the
discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with their
written consent to be appointed as a Director and to the
public disclosure of their personal data on any documents or
the relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to their
standing for election as Directors.

The Nomination Committee may request candidates to provide
additional information and documents, if considered necessary.

Nomination Procedures

The company secretary of the Company shall call a meeting
of the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of
candidates from Board members or senior management if
any, for consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to
its meeting. The Nomination Committee may also put forward
candidates who are not nominated by Board members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall
make recommendations for the Board’s consideration and
approval.

A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any time
before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the
company secretary of the Company.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to
its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any
general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to present a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment relating to annual and interim
reports, inside information and price-sensitive announcements and
other financial disclosures under the Listing Rules, and reports to
regulators as well as to information required to be disclosed pursuant
to statutory requirements. As at 31 March 2019, the Directors are not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
which may cast significant doubt upon the ability of the Company to
continue as a going concern. The statement of the external auditor of
the Company about its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report
from page 93 to page 103 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
During the Year, the Group has complied with code provision C.2 of
the Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. Management is responsible for the
design, implementation and monitoring of such systems, while the
Board oversees management in performing its duties on an ongoing
basis. Main features of the risk management and internal control
systems are described in the sections below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk
associated with its business and operations. The system comprises
the following phases:

° Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

o Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

o Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and monitor the residual risks
persistently.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2018/19, no significant
risk was identified.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSQO”) 2013 framework. The framework
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The components of
the framework are shown as follows:

° Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures to provide the basis for carrying out internal control
across the Group.

° Risk Assessment. A dynamic and iterative process for identifying
and analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a
basis for determining how risks should be managed.

° Control Activities: Actions established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried out.

° Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain

whether each component of internal control is present and
functioning.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Internal Control System (continued)

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and
implements an inside information policy and procedures. Certain
reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure
that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of disclosure
requirements in relation to the Group, which include:

° the access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality;

° confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations; and

° the executive Directors are designated persons who speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with external
parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in 2018/19, no
significant control deficiency was identified.

Internal Audit

The Group has an Internal Audit (“IA”) function, which is consisted
of professional staff with relevant expertise (such as Certified Public
Accountant). The IA function is independent of the Group’s daily
operation and carries out appraisal of the risk management and
internal control systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and
tests of operating effectiveness.

An |A plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal control
systems is conducted semi-annually and the results are reported to
the Board via Audit Committee afterwards.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and ensuring review of the effectiveness of
these systems has been conducted semi-annually. Several areas
have been considered during the Board’s reviews, which include but
not limited to:

(i) the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks since
the last annual review, and the Group’s ability to respond to
changes in its business and the external environment; and

(i) the scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of
risks and of the internal control systems.

The Board, through its reviews and the reviews made by IA function
and Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and
internal control systems were effective and adequate during the
Year. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the resources, staff
qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate and the
training programmes and budget provided were sufficient.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited has retired as the auditor of the
Company with effect from the conclusion of the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 7 September 2017 (the “2017
AGM”). Mazars CPA Limited has been appointed as the auditor of
the Company by the approval of shareholders of the Company at the
2017 AGM, with effect from 7 September 2017.

The audit works of the Group for the Year were performed by Mazars
CPA Limited.

For the Year, fees paid or payable to the auditor of the Company,
Mazars CPA Limited, and its affiliates by the Group are as follows:
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— Audit services —EZRE
— Non-audit services — JEBIZARTE

2019 2018

S el =7
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
1,050 700
1,080 180
2,130 880
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Mr. Li Chun Fung (“Mr. Li"),
who has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. Mr. Li has
taken over 15 hours of relevant professional training in accordance
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the Year.

SHAREHOLDER’S COMMUNICATIONS

A shareholders communication policy was adopted on 27 March
2012 to ensure that shareholders are provided with ready, equal and
timely access to balanced and understandable information about the
Company. The shareholders communication policy is available on the
Company’s website. The Company has established various channels
of communications with its shareholders such as publication of interim
and annual reports, press release and announcement of the latest
development of the Company in a timely manner. The annual general
meeting provides an opportunity for shareholders to exchange views
with the Board. External auditor is also available at the annual general
meeting to address shareholders’ queries. Moreover, resolutions are
proposed at annual general meeting on each substantially separate
issue, including the election of individual Directors.

The 2019 annual general meeting of the Company will be held on 20
August 2019. A notice of annual general meeting will be sent to the
shareholders of the Company at least 20 clear business days before
the meeting.

Dividend Policy
The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”) was
adopted by the Board and became effective on 9 January 2019.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Company could also take into
account, inter alia:

(@  the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

(b)  retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Group and
each of the members of the Group;

(c) the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity
and the relevant financial covenants;
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SHAREHOLDER’S COMMUNICATIONS (continued)

Dividend Policy (continued)

(d) the Group’s capacity from current and future operation, future
commitments at the time of declaration of dividend;

(e) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed
by the Group’s lenders;

® any restrictions under the law in Bermuda and the Company’s
Bye-laws;

(@ the dividends received from the Group’s subsidiaries and
associates, which in turn will depend on the ability of those
subsidiaries and associates to pay a dividend;

(h)  the Group’s expected working capital requirements;

(i) general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
motion control business and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group; and

() any other factors that the Board deem appropriate.

The Dividend Policy and the declaration and/or payment of future
dividends under the Dividend Policy are subject to the Board’s
continuing determination that the Dividend Policy and the declaration
and/or payment of dividends would be in the best interests of the
Group and Shareholders, and are in compliance with all applicable
laws and regulations. The Board endeavours to maintain a balance
between meeting its shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital
management with a sustainable dividend policy.

The Board could continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify
and/or cancel the Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy
shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Group
in respect of its future dividend and/or in no way obligate the Group
to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time, there can be
no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period. Even if the Board decides to recommend and pay
dividends, the form, frequency and amount will depend upon the
abovementioned factors.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition sent to the Company’s
registered office and its principal office in Hong Kong for the attention
of the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require
a special general meeting (the “SGM”) to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit
of such requisition. The written requisition must state the purposes
of the general meeting, signed by the shareholder(s) concerned and
may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more of those shareholders. If the requisition is in order, the company
secretary of the Company will ask the Board to convene a SGM by
serving sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory requirements
to all the registered shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition is
invalid, the shareholders concerned will be advised of this outcome
and accordingly, a SGM will not be convened as requested.

Shareholder(s) of the Company holding (i) not less than one-twentieth
of the total voting rights of all shareholders having the right to vote
at the general meeting; or (i) not less than 100 shareholders, can
submit a written request stating the resolution intended to be moved
at the annual general meeting (the “AGM”) or a statement of not
more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at a particular
general meeting. The written request/statements must be signed
by the shareholder(s) concerned and deposited at the Company’s
registered office and its principal office in Hong Kong for the attention
of the company secretary of the Company, not less than six weeks
before the AGM in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a
resolution and not less than one week before the general meeting
in the case of any other requisition. If the written request is in order,
the company secretary of the Company will ask the Board (i) to
include the resolution in the agenda for the AGM,; or (i) to circulate the
statement for the general meeting, provided that the shareholder(s)
concerned have deposited a sum of money reasonably determined
by the Board sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in serving
the notice of the resolution and/or circulating the statement submitted
by the shareholder(s) concerned in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the registered shareholders. On the contrary, if
the requisition is invalid or the shareholder(s) concerned have failed
to deposit sufficient money to meet the Company’s expenses for
the said purposes, the shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of
this outcome and accordingly, the proposed resolution will not be
included in the agenda for the AGM or the statement will not be
circulated for the general meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Shareholders and other stakeholders may at any time send their
enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing them to the
company secretary of the Company by post, fax or email. The contact
details are set out as below:

Clarendon House,
2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Registered office:

Principal place of 8/F., Tower 2,
business in Admiralty Centre,
Hong Kong: 18 Harcourt Road,

Admiralty, Hong Kong

8/F., Tower 2,
Admiralty Centre,

18 Harcourt Road,
Admiralty, Hong Kong

Postal address:

Tel: 3845 5790
Fax: 2110 1907
Email: info@nannanlisted.com

INVESTOR RELATIONS
During the Year, there were no change in the Memorandum of
Association and Bye-laws of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The subsidiaries of
the Company are principally engaged in (i) mining and sales of coal;
and (i) renewable energy solutions and solar farm development.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the Year and the state of affairs of the
Company and the Group are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 104 to 238. The Board does not recommend
the payment of any dividend for the Year (2018: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business for the Year, a discussion on
the Group’s future business development and principal risks and
uncertainties that the Group is facing are provided in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 24 and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 25 to 37 of this annual report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are set out in Note 30(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

Please refer to page 22 for the events after reporting period under the
Business Review.

The Company promotes the culture of adhering to the high ethical
standards of business conduct and commits to complying with all
prevailing laws and regulations in all its operating regions. During the
Year, the Company did not aware of any material non-compliance or
breach of legislation.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities, and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements is set
out on pages 239 to 240 of this annual report. This summary does not
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in Note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital are set out in
Note 25(b) to the consolidated financial statements. The Company
does not adopt share option scheme.

CONVERTIBLE BOND

Details of the Convertible Bond issued by the Company during the
Year are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Convertible Bond” of this
annual report and Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements,
no equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company during
the Year.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that our management, employees,
customers and business partners (including suppliers, financial
institutions and academic bodies) are key stakeholders to the
Company’s success. We strive to achieve corporate sustainability
through engaging our management and employees, providing quality
products to our customers, collaborating with business partners to
deliver quality sustainable products and services and supporting our
community.

ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
In accordance with Rule 13.91 of the Listing Rules, the Company will
publish an Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report
within three months after the publication of this annual report in
compliance with the provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide in
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company’s Bye-laws provided that all Directors and officers
of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of
the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they shall or
may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or
omitted in or about the execution of their duty. Directors’ and officers’
liability insurance is arranged to cover the directors and officers of the
Group against any potential costs and liabilities arising from claims
brought against them.
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RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined
contribution scheme managed by an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, each of the Group (the employer) and its employees
make monthly contributions to the MPF Scheme generally at 5% of
the employees’ earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident
Fund legislation. The monthly contributions of each of the employer
and the employee are subject to a maximum contribution of
HK$1,500 per month (for period after 1 June 2014) and thereafter
contributions are voluntary. The Group has no further obligation for
post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of the state-managed retirement benefit plan operated by the
government of the PRC. The subsidiaries contributed certain
percentage of basic salaries to the retirement benefits plan to fund the
benefits. The Group has no further obligations for the actual payment
of pensions or post-retirements benefits beyond these contributions.
The state-sponsored retirement plans are responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to retired employees.

REMUNERATION POLICY

Remuneration policy of the Company is reviewed regularly, making
reference to market condition and performance of the Company and
individual staff (including the Directors). The remuneration policy and
remuneration packages of the Directors and management team are
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee and the Board which are
detailed in the paragraph headed “Remuneration Committee” under
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 48 to 49.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Directors consider that those related party transactions disclosed
in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements did not fall under
the definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing connected
transactions” (as the case may be) in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
which are required to comply with any of the reporting, announcement
or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules. The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the Year, save as disclosed in the paragraph headed
“Convertible Bond” under the Report of the Directors on page 65,
the Company did not have any connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions which were subject to the reporting
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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MAJOR EVENTS

(A)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan*#

Pursuant to the instructions from the National Development and
Reform Commission of the PRC, the Department of Land and
Resources of Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region (the “Xinjiang
Land Department”) had to plan for a management restructuring
of seven different coal mines (including the Zexu Open Pit
Coal Mine (the “Zexu Mine”)) in the Xiheishan Mining Area
(the “Optimization and Upgrading Plan”), consolidating some
smaller mines together so as to increase the size efficiency (for
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 11
November 2011). After being informed of this Optimization and
Upgrading Plan, the Board has requested our management in
the Xinjiang Uyger Autonomous Region of China (“Xinjiang”) to
conduct frequent meetings and negotiations with the Xinjiang
Land Department and other relevant government authorities
in order to protect the Company’s interest in relation to the
exploration permit of the Zexu Mine (the “Exploration Permit”).

According to the letter dated 13 June 2012 issued by the
Administrative Bureau of Coal Industry of Changji Prefecture
informing the updated status of the Optimization and Upgrading
Plan, the following proposals (the “Updated Optimization and
Upgrading Plan”) in relation to the Company’s Kaiyuan Open
Pit Coal Mine (the “Kaiyuan Mine”) and Zexu Mine have been
submitted to the working group head office for coal industry
structural upgrade work of Xinjiang for consideration and
approval:

1. The Company’s Kaiyuan Mine would be restructured
and upgraded, and the Exploration Permit granted to the
Company would be terminated; and

2. The mining area of the Kaiyuan Mine, where the Company
is how conducting mining activities, was proposed to be
increased from 1.1596 square kilometers to 4.12 square
kilometers (“Kaiyuan Extended Area”), with the estimated
coal resources of approximately 131.18 million tonnes.
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MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

(A)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan#
(continued)

As stated in the Company’s announcement dated 15 August
2017, as requested by the Department of Land and Resources
of Changji Hui Autonomous Prefecture* (2 Bl ik B 4 M &
+&JRR) (the “Changji Land Department”), with the aim of
expediting the resources restructuring work and accelerating
and completing the process to fix the mining area for each
mining right owner inside Zhundong Meitian Xiheishan Coal
Mining Area* (/ff B FH 78 2B I LM R E ), where the Zexu Mine
and Kaiyuan Mine of the Company are located, Qitai County
Zexu Trading Company Limited* (F &% 2B EGRE T
~A]) (“Zexu Company”) and Mulei County Kai Yuan Coal
Company Limited* (AR&ZIRE K AR EEQF]) (“Kaiyuan
Company”), the subsidiaries of the Company, respectively
entered into the following four undisputed agreements (the
“Four Undisputed Agreements”) with the relevant parties to
dispose of Zexu Mine and acquire Kaiyuan Extended Area:

1. First Undisputed Agreement

On 15 August 2017, Zexu Company entered into an
undisputed agreement (the “First Undisputed Agreement”)
with Xinjiang Jinneng Mining Company Limited (“Jinneng
Company”), pursuant to which Jinneng Company should
occupy an area of 0.297 km? within the Zexu Mine and
could apply to the Xinjiang Land Department to fix such
mining area. Jinneng Company should, within 10 working
days upon signing the agreement, compensate Zexu
Company with an amount of RMB505,197, which was
calculated by multiplying the area of 0.297 km? with the
agreed compensation amount of RMB486,000 per km?
and the agreed compensation multiples of 3.5. The above
compensation standard was determined by the Changji
Land Department.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED & REXER AT

BEREHE(E)

(A)

BIEARTRRBICAREHRS
e ZER(E)

HBMARBBERAB-_T—LF A
THAZAEML - REREETEKE
AMBETERB(TEEELERB])
ZEXR  BrEEREASTIF Uk
AR TE AR AR R R 28 R L R R B [ (%
[ AN BB LB N SR B AE 2 P
i) AEEEASIERRBERF 2
BEy . ARAZHBARE G HKER
BEAERAEEAR(NEBRF L) RA
BHRINREREREEAR(TIRA
A1) DRI BB ARERE T A TER
ESEmE( RN EFHERZE]) -
AR B Z B TE R EREUREAHE

HEFZ s

.
R-_Z—+FNA+EH 28
NEIEFESEEEBRA A
([ReERAEE] T —EFH
(I E—HEFEHHED &
It e A RIS AR EETER
HIE0.297T F HAEMEHE @ &
A [A) 37 98 B + & RS R 58 B E %
BREE - LEATEAHER
TEHETIERR - AEBEATR
ST HERARES05,197 7T °
ZEEREAEE027FE A A
BRUGZBEESTFAREA
R # 486,000 7T K 17 & 17 {8 15 &1
S5ETHEBGE o« Ll ERET
HETELTERBRTE °



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE2#H 4%

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

(A) Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan?
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan#
(continued)

2.

Second Undisputed Agreement

On 15 August 2017, Zexu Company entered into
an undisputed agreement (the “Second Undisputed
Agreement”) with Xinjiang Beishan Mining Company
Limited (“Beishan Company”), pursuant to which
Beishan Company should occupy an area of 2.582 km?
within the Zexu Mine and could apply to the Xinjiang
Land Department to fix such mining area. Beishan
Company should, within 10 working days upon signing
the agreement, compensate Zexu Company with an
amount of RMB4,391,982, which was calculated by
multiplying the area of 2.582 km? with the agreed
compensation amount of RMB486,000 per km? and
the agreed compensation multiples of 3.5. The above
compensation standard was determined by the Changji
Land Department.

Third Undisputed Agreement

On 15 August 2017, Kaiyuan Company entered into
an undisputed agreement (the “Third Undisputed
Agreement”) with Jinneng Company, pursuant to which
Kaiyuan Company should occupy an area of 1.292
km? within the exploration area of the mine of Jinneng
Company (the “First Extended Area”) and could apply to
the Xinjiang Land Department to fix such mining area.
Kaiyuan Company should, within 10 working days upon
signing the agreement, compensate Jinneng Company
with an amount of RMB2,197,692, which was calculated
by multiplying the area of 1.292 km? with the agreed
compensation amount of RMB486,000 per km? and
the agreed compensation multiples of 3.5. The above
compensation standard was determined by the Changiji
Land Department.

The First Extended Area to be occupied by Kaiyuan
Company from Jinneng Company is located next to the
Kaiyuan Mine currently operated by Kaiyuan Company.
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MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

(A) Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan?
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan#
(continued)

4. Fourth Undisputed Agreement

On 15 August 2017, Kaiyuan Company entered into
an undisputed agreement (the “Fourth Undisputed
Agreement”) with Beishan Company, pursuant to which
Kaiyuan Company should occupy an area of 0.016 km?
within the mining area of the mine of Beishan Company
(the “Second Extended Area”) and could apply to the
Xinjiang Land Department to fix such mining area.
Kaiyuan Company should, within 10 working days upon
signing the agreement, compensate Beishan Company
with an amount of RMB27,216, which was calculated
by multiplying the area of 0.016 km? with the agreed
compensation amount of RMB486,000 per km? and
the agreed compensation multiples of 3.5. The above
compensation standard was determined by the Changji
Land Department.

The Second Extended Area to be occupied by Kaiyuan
Company from Beishan Company is located next to the
Kaiyuan Mine currently operated by Kaiyuan Company.

The total area of 2.879 km? of Zexu Mine being occupied
by Jinneng Company and Beishan Company under the
First Undisputed Agreement and the Second Undisputed
Agreement respectively represent the whole area of the Zexu
Mine. Since the said two agreements had been completed, the
Exploration Permit became invalid. Since the Zexu Mine has not
commenced mining, it has not generated any revenue for the
Group in the past years.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE2#H 4%

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

(A)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan®
(continued)

So far as the Company is aware, the First Extended Area
and the Second Extended Area being occupied by Kaiyuan
Company under the Third Undisputed Agreement and Fourth
Undisputed Agreement respectively have not yet commenced
mining. After having completed such agreements, the Company
was required to go through official procedures with the relevant
land and resources departments to obtain the exploration
right and then the mining right in respect of these extended
areas. When the related exploration right or mining right is
obtained, the Company will appoint professional parties to
evaluate possible coal reserves and perform valuation on
the First Extended Area and Second Extended Area. For
accounting purposes, these extended area were booked as
“Non-refundable deposits” under non-current assets with value
of approximately RMB2,099,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,604,000) in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position, which, if appropriate, would be transferred
to the intangible assets after conclusion is reached with the
government departments. Upon obtaining the exploration
right or mining right, the Company will discuss again with
professional parties (including its valuer and auditor) regarding
the possible coal reserves, valuation and accounting treatment
of the First Extended Area and Second Extended Area. The
Company has not received any update from the relevant
government departments since the completion of the Four
Undisputed Agreements.

According to the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan, the
mining area of the Kaiyuan Mine was proposed to be increased
from 1.1596 km? to 4.12 km?. For the First Extended Area and
the Second Extended Area, since they were originally owned
by Jinneng Company and Beishan Company respectively,
the Third Undisputed Agreement and the Fourth Undisputed
Agreement were required to be signed respectively for transfer
of such area and as one of the important procedures for
obtaining the exploration right and then the mining right. Upon
completion of the Third Undisputed Agreement and Fourth
Undisputed Agreement, the area of the Kaiyuan Mine will
only increase to approximately 2.4676 km?. Concerning the
outstanding proposed increased area of approximately 1.6524
km? (the “Outstanding Mining Area”), so far as the Company
is aware, such area is located next to the Kaiyuan Mine and is
currently owned by the government. To obtain the exploration
right and then the mining right of such area, the Company is still
required to go through official procedures with the relevant land
and resources departments.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE2#H 4%

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

(A)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan#
(continued)

By a letter dated 6 February 2018 from the Zhundong Economic
and Technological Development Zone Division of the Ministry
of Land and Resources of Changji Hui Autonomous Prefecture®
(EFOEEAMNBE+ERBARKCERMFEE D B) (the
“Zhundong Division of the Ministry of Land and Resources”), as
part of the application, the Zhundong Division of the Ministry of
Land and Resources required Kaiyuan Company to sign a deed
of undertaking (the “Deed of Undertaking”).

Since the Outstanding Mining Area is a national resource of the
PRC government, the Deed of Undertaking requires Kaiyuan
Company to undertake to (1) apply for a bid invitation, auction
and listing (the “Bid, Auction and Listing”) for exploration right
of the Outstanding Mining Area and to grant state-owned
enterprises within the Zhundong Economic and Technological
Development Zone* (fEERAL BT EEER) (the “State-Owned
Enterprises”) a priority to participate in the Bid, Auction and
Listing (the “Priority”); and (2) grant the State-Owned Enterprises
who obtain exploration right in the Outstanding Mining Area a
right to invest in the mining of the Outstanding Mining Area (the
“Right to Invest”). As at the date of the announcement on 28
March 2018, no concrete terms of the Priority and the Right
to Invest have been provided by the Zhundong Division of the
Ministry of Land and Resources. Detailed terms and conditions
of the possible business cooperation with the State-Owned
Enterprises in the Outstanding Mining Area will be subject
to further development on the Updated Optimization and
Upgrading Plan and government policy.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE2#H 4%

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

(A)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan#
(continued)

Upon receiving the Deed of Undertaking, the Company
proactively contacted the Zhundong Division of the Ministry
of Land and Resources in order to understand or obtain the
concrete terms of the Priority and the Right to Invest as stated
in the Deed of Undertaking. However, after a few weeks of
contact and communication, with the intervening Chinese New
Year holiday from 13 February 2018 to 8 March 2018 in Xinjiang,
the Zhundong Division of the Ministry of Land and Resources
confirmed that it was not able to provide any concrete
terms of the Priority and the Right to Invest. In light of these
circumstances, the Company sought legal opinion from a PRC
lawyer in Xinjiang. According to the PRC legal opinion obtained
by the Company:

1. three out of the four companies with mines in the
Xiheishan Mining Area had executed the Deed of
Undertaking;

2. if Kaiyuan Company did not execute the Deed of
Undertaking, the Zhundong Division of the Ministry of
Land and Resources will cease to process Kaiyuan
Company’s application for exploration right and mining
right in the Kaiyuan Extended Area; and

3. no concrete terms of the Priority and the Right to Invest
had been provided by the Zhundong Division of the
Ministry of Land and Resources.

To further facilitate the Updated Optimization and Upgrading
Plan and to enable Kaiyuan Company to continue to apply for
exploration right and mining right in the Kaiyuan Extended Area,
Kaiyuan Company had executed the Deed of Undertaking within
7 days of the date of the announcement on 28 March 2018.
The Priority and the Right to Invest may or may not be exercised
by the State-Owned Enterprises. The Board considers that
any possible business cooperation with the State-Owned
Enterprises in the Outstanding Mining Area is to comply with
the execution of the Updated Optimization and Upgrading
Plan. In the event that the Right to Invest is exercised by the
State-Owned Enterprises, the Company will negotiate for fair
and reasonable terms taking into account the interests of the
Company and shareholders as a whole.

BEREHE(E)

(A)

BIARTRREBIEAREHRS
e ZER(E)

W EIRZ AR & - ANQ R AR L f
REBERMHAERSBHE - 5 EK
i 5 E A5 5 R bR A P 3 2 4B S RE AT
DR 2 FHRIER o BB SR M
BHNEDR ETEREEAFEHR_-Z
—NE-A+=HE-ZE—N\F=A
JANB® R B FREmAE - ERL
ERITAEE D BERERGERET
I RNME o i R 2 AR 2 FF AR SR~
KN B IR 1 R A AL 1A 7 98 A0 P
BMSSOEEER - REAQRRE
ZHENEEER

1. ERUFAREBEHEEEENERA
CIEGIEr UNCIRE + - ¥
K

2. WHURRRIARFBZAGYH - &
REAERMAZERD BRI S
BHER A RN EURIEAHE
BBV R ERIERE RS - )

3. HEREERMHAZERSBRAR
HEMBARN BT R 2B 2 F

ADIEK

BLEBICHAREN HRaLE—SHE
Fae e E R glR A R elR B K &
BRI RERREESRS - SURA R
BERZZE—NF=ZAZF+N\BZRE
HERR7 ANETRBZAR L - BE
EJESKTSITEELERIR
E-EReRATMAREREME
RHBRTRERMB 2 EHERERRALES
BIEABRETRFROBMIT - EEHB D
E¥TFELRENBRLT KAREE
EBEANFIRBRERETZ - FEA
FEIR 7GR

Annual Report 2019 4

73



74

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE2#H 4%

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

(A)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan#
(continued)

The management of Kaiyuan Company has been
communicating and negotiating with the Zhundong Division
of the Ministry of Land and Resources in order to protect the
Company’s best interest in the Outstanding Mining Area.

The application for exploration right and mining right of the
Outstanding Mining Area is irrelevant to the renewal of the
mining right in the Kaiyuan Mine (the “Mining Right”) as stated in
the announcement of the Company dated 27 December 2017.

On 30 November 2018 and 5 December 2018, Kaiyuan
Company obtained notices and approvals (the “Notices and
Approvals”) from the Management Committee of Xinjiang
Zhundong Economic and Technological Development Zone*
BERKCERMAZREREZE82) and Zhundong
Economic and Technological Development Zone Division of the
Ministry of Land and Resources of Changji Hui Autonomous
Prefecture* (8 & [Bl1& B4 N B £ &R B & RAOE R T %=
2 /3) respectively in respect of the application for the mining
right of an annual production volume of 0.9 million tonnes of
the Kaiyuan Extended Area (“Kaiyuan Extended Area Mining
Right Application”) and Kaiyuan Company subsequently
submitted the Notices and Approvals to the Ministry of Land
and Resources of Changji Hui Autonomous Prefecture* (£
EAMBE L EJRB) on 10 December 2018 for approval.

According to the legal opinion from the PRC lawyer, Kaiyuan
Company is required to go through certain official procedures
for the grant of the Kaiyuan Extended Area Mining Right
Application, namely, upon obtaining the approval from the
Ministry of Land and Resources of Changji Hui Autonomous
Prefecture, Kaiyuan Company would need to submit the
Kaiyuan Extended Area Mining Right Application to the
Department of Land and Resources of Xinjiang Uygur
Autonomous Region* (#Tig4t & /R B/6 R Bl + ZREE) for such
approval.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE2#H 4%

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

(A)

#

(B)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan#
(continued)

On 10 May 2019, the Company received a notification
dated 8 April 2019 regarding the grant of exploration right
for the Outstanding Mining Area with an area of 1.68 km?
by the Department of Natural Resources of Xinjiang Uygur
Autonomous Region* (T4 L E AR B R EREE) for a
period of 3 years from 8 April 2019 to 8 April 2022. Now having
obtained the Exploration Permit, the Company will proceed to
fulfill all the necessary requirements and procedures to obtain
the relevant mining permit.

“Optimization and Upgrading Plan” was previously referred to as
“Management Restructuring Plan” in the announcement of the Company
dated 11 November 2011 and in the announcements, notices, circulars,
interim reports and annual reports of the Company thereafter.

“Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan” was previously referred to as
“Updated Restructuring Proposals” in the announcement of the Company
dated 15 June 2012 and in the announcements, notices, circulars, interim
reports and annual reports of the Company thereafter.

Suspension of Production and Production Resumption
at Kaiyuan Mine and Demolishment of Gas Station

As stated in the Company’s announcement dated 25
September 2017, Kaiyuan Company received notices from the
relevant government departments requesting for suspension
of the production at Kaiyuan Mine and demolishment of gas
station therein.

1. Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine

At the night of 19 September 2017, Kaiyuan Company
received a notice dated 16 September 2017 from the
Environmental Protection Bureau of Xinjiang Zhundong
Economy and Technology Development Area* (37526
RGBT RIRIFR#R) and a notice dated 19
September 2017 from the Environmental Protection
Committee of Xinjiang Zhundong Economy and
Technology Development Area* (58 A R T 7
ERIRIFRHELZE D), requesting Kaiyuan Company
to suspend production at its Kaiyuan Mine since
Kaiyuan Company had yet to implement the coal mine
environmental comprehensive remediation proposal in
accordance with the requirements of, among other things,
the “Implementation Opinion on Environmental Protection
Specific Remediation in Zhundong Development Area* (/&
RAZERRREREZHELERER).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE2#H 4%

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

(B) Suspension of Production and Production Resumption
at Kaiyuan Mine and Demolishment of Gas Station
(continued)

2.

Production Resumption at Kaiyuan Mine

As stated in the Company’s announcement dated 26
October 2017, Kaiyuan Company received notices from
the relevant government departments to resume the
production at Kaiyuan Mine.

At the night of 23 October 2017, Kaiyuan Company
received a notice (the “Notice”) dated 23 October
2017 from the Party and Government Office of Xinjiang
Zhundong Economy and Technology Development
Area* (758 /& R AOE T F 3@ ZBUIHAE) requesting
the relevant enterprises in the development area,
including Kaiyuan Company, to thoroughly implement
the requirements of the “Emergency notice to better
implement the work to safeguard supply of coal* (B
AT AR PR k4 B T /B R 2B AN)” (the “Emergency
Notice”) issued by the Office of the People’s Government
of Changji Hui Autonomous Prefecture* (& @15 B4
ARBURF#HAZE). According to the Emergency Notice,
several coal mines, including the Kaiyuan Mine, were
requested to conduct coal production and at the same
time implement the environmental protection remedial
works.

Upon discussion with the relevant government
departments, Kaiyuan Company was confirmed that the
Kaiyuan Mine could resume normal production while
fulfiling the requirements of conducting the environmental
protection remedial works.

The Kaiyuan Mine had resumed production according
to the Notice and the Emergency Notice. Although the
production at the Kaiyuan Mine was suspended for
around one month, it did not create material financial
impact on the Group since Kaiyuan Company continued
to sell its inventory of slack coal during the production
suspension period. So far as the Company is aware,
Kaiyuan Company has not received any claims arising
from non-supply of coal during the production suspension
period. Meanwhile, Kaiyuan Company will cooperate with
the relevant government departments to complete the
requested environmental protection remedial works.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE2#H 4%

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

(B) Suspension of Production and Production Resumption
at Kaiyuan Mine and Demolishment of Gas Station
(continued)

3.

Demolishment of Gas Station

On 21 September 2017, Kaiyuan Company received an
“Administrative Enforcement Document of Production
Safety” (X2 HEEITHHENE)” from the Production
Safety Supervision and Administration Bureau* (& 4 &=
ECREIRSD) of the Administration Committee of Xinjiang
Zhundong Economy and Technology Development Area*
(FTBRERLCERMAZREEZS) (the “Document”),
alleging that there were illegal storage and use of diesel at
the Kaiyuan Mine and the gas station constructed therein
was not in compliance with the “Regulations on Design
and Construction of Gas Station* (AN3H L% 5t ER s T #7
f)”. Kaiyuan Company was requested to cease usage of
the gas station immediately and demolish the gas station
before 6 October 2017.

The gas station at the Kaiyuan Mine was constructed
long time ago to supply diesel to the facilities
and transportation vehicles at the Kaiyuan Mine.
Demolishment of the gas station would not affect
the operation of the Kaiyuan Mine seriously. Upon
receipt of the Document, the management of Kaiyuan
Company had negotiated with the relevant government
departments, which on 22 September 2017, verbally
allowed Kaiyuan Company to use up all the diesel
remained in the gas station first and then demolish
such station thereafter. The management of Kaiyuan
Company looked for other effective means to supply
diesel to the facilities and transportation vehicles at the
Kaiyuan Mine. Kaiyuan Company selected a contractor
for the renovation of the gas station after the design was
approved by the relevant government departments.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE2#H 4%

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)
(C) Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine

On 11 April 2018, Kaiyuan Company received an on-site
punishment decision* ((R1ZEEIERTF E) dated 11 April 2018
(the “Decision”) from the Production Safety Supervision and
Administration Bureau* (&£ EEEEIEB) of the Xinjiang
Zhundong Economic and Technological Development Zone*
(i8R AE T3 &) (the “Bureau”), ordering Kaiyuan
Company to suspend all production, construction and operation
at the Kaiyuan Mine. However, the construction work of basic
facilities and sale of its inventory of slack coal during the
production suspension period were permitted. The Decision
was issued as the Mining Right and the work safety permit* (%
ZHEEFFAE) (the “Work Safety Permit”) of Kaiyuan Company
had expired on 26 December 2017 and 18 January 2018
respectively.

The renewal of the Work Safety Permit is conditional on the
renewal of the Mining Right.

On 2 January 2019, the Safety Bureau of the Zhundong
Development Zone suspended the operations of the Kaiyuan
Mine due to the expiry of the Existing Mining Permit. On 9
January 2019, the Safety Bureau of the Zhundong Development
Zone re-examined the mining permits of Kaiyuan Company
and confirmed that the Existing Mining Permit had been
renewed. According to the legal opinion issued by the PRC
legal adviser of the Company, Kaiyuan Company based on
such confirmation, is allowed to resume its mining operations
and sale. On 10 January 2019, Kaiyuan Company resumed its
mining operations and sale.

1. Impacts on the Group and measures to be taken
Kaiyuan Mine is the major operating business of the
Group. After preliminary assessment, it was expected
that the production suspension at the Kaiyuan Mine will
lead to a decrease in the production volume of coal.
Nevertheless, since the Group can still sell its existing
inventory of slack coal during the production suspension
period, the production suspension shall not have
material financial impact on the Group in short-term.
The Company expects that the slack coal inventory may
support the coming sales until around end of August
2018. If, after the slack coal inventory is sold out, the
production still cannot be resumed, the production
suspension may create adverse impact on the financial
position and operation of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE2#H 4%

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)
(C) Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine (continued)

1.

Impacts on the Group and measures to be taken
(continued)

Immediately upon receipt of the Decision, Kaiyuan
Company proactively liaised with officers of the Bureau
in order to understand the implementation of the
punishment and the affected area of the Kaiyuan Mine as
stated in the Decision. Upon preliminary communication
with the officers, Kaiyuan Company was informed that
the construction of basic facilities (including, among
others, road hardening within the mine, domestic
sewage treatment and backup gas station) and sale of its
inventory of slack coal during the production suspension
period are permitted. Kaiyuan Company will continue to
closely follow up with the Bureau for the renewal of the
Work Safety Permit in order to resume the production of
the Kaiyuan Mine.

Updates on the renewal of Mining Right

In light of the Decision, the Company has sought legal
opinion from a PRC lawyer in Xinjiang. According to the
PRC legal opinion obtained by the Company, Kaiyuan
Company had commenced renewal application in
September 2017 to renew the Mining Right which was
expired on 26 December 2017. The Mining Right was
subsequently granted on 28 May 2018.

According to the PRC legal opinion obtained by the
Company, based on PRC laws and regulations, the
renewal application of Mining Right was to be submitted
to and reviewed by different governmental departments
in a hierarchical order. Kaiyuan Company commenced
the renewal application for the Mining Right in September
2017 at the Zhundong Economic and Technological
Development Zone Division of the Department of Land
and Resources* (#7158 /&R & EFKiTFAEE D B) and in
turn the Changji Land Department.

On 9 November 2017, Kaiyuan Company already applied
to the Xinjiang Land Department for the renewal of the
Mining Right. After initial review by the Xinjiang Land
Department, Kaiyuan Company submitted supplemental
information on 14 December 2017.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE2#H 4%

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)
(C) Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine (continued)

2.

Updates on the renewal of Mining Right (continued)
The renewal application of the Mining Right was accepted
at the office of the head of the Xinjiang Land Department
meeting* (BB ¥ A €:%) on 9 March 2018 and the
Xinjiang Land Department requested the Administration
Committee of Xinjiang Zhundong Economy and
Technology Development Area* (#7538 f 32 &8 2 H 1T 55
EREZD) (the “Administration Committee”) to issue
renewal approval documents so that the Mining Right can
be renewed.

On 9 April 2018, Kaiyuan Company submitted the
application report on consent to the renewal of the mining
permit of 90,000 tonnes/year of Kaiyuan Company ([a]
EAREGZINRERBRETARIEBN FHREFIT
ER 5 to the Administration Committee which
processed the renewal application.

The PRC lawyer opined that, based on past experience,
the renewal application of Mining Right shall be approved
in approximately three months after the expiry. However,
due to the local situation and the priority to deal with the
social stability of the local area, the Xinjiang government
has been highly occupied with stability maintenance work,
which has been causing delay to the renewal application
process of Mining Right.

The PRC lawyer further opined that the Decision would
not affect the renewal application of the Mining Right,
documentations for the Work Safety Permit renewal
application are completed but the renewal of Mining Right
must be obtained in order to proceed with the application.
Kaiyuan Company will continue to communicate with the
relevant government departments in order to facilitate
the renewal of Mining Right and in turn the renewal of the
Work Safety Permit. It is unable to estimate the time for
the renewal application process hence the Company is
unable to estimate the exact time for the resumption of
production at the Kaiyuan Mine at this stage.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE2#H 4%

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)
(C) Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine (continued)

2.

Updates on the renewal of Mining Right (continued)
On 28 May 2018, the Kaiyuan Company successfully
renewed and was granted a Mining Right by the Xinjiang
Land Department. The Mining Right is valid for 1 year from
26 December 2017 to 31 December 2018 to conduct
mining activities at the Kaiyuan Mine.

The Company had immediately on 29 May 2018 applied
to the Xinjiang Coal Mine Safety Supervision and
Administration Bureau* (MTi2HIEL 2 EE /) (the “Coal
Mine Safety Bureau”) for the renewal of the Work Safety
Permit.

According to the PRC legal opinion obtained by the
Company, based on past experience, the renewal
application of the Work Safety Permit shall be approved
in approximately thirty business days upon receipt of
the renewal application by the Coal Mine Safety Bureau.
However, due to the local situation and the priority to
deal with the social stability of the local area, the Xinjiang
government has been highly occupied with stability
maintenance work, which made it difficult to estimate the
processing time of the renewal application of the Work
Safety Permit.

Once the renewal application is approved and the
Company is granted the Work Safety Permit, the
Company shall promptly apply to the Bureau for
resumption of production at the Kaiyuan Mine. The PRC
lawyer further opined that, the Company can only resume
production at the Kaiyuan Mine once the Bureau has
approved the application.

On 25 June 2018, the Kaiyuan Company successfully
renewed and was granted the Work Safety Permit by the
Coal Mine Safety Bureau. The Work Safety Permit is valid
for 3 years from 25 June 2018 to 24 June 2021.

The Company has immediately applied to the Safety
Bureau of the Zhundong Development Zone for the
necessary approval and acceptance procedures to
resume production at the Kaiyuan Mine.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE2#H 4%

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)
(C) Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine (continued)

2.

Updates on the renewal of Mining Right (continued)
Since the suspension of production at the Kaiyuan
Mine on 11 April 2018, Kaiyuan Company has carried
out plenty of effective remedial work. On 29 August
2018, Kaiyuan Company received a notice issued by
the Safety Bureau of the Zhundong Development Zone
confirming that the Kaiyuan Company could resume
normal production at the Kaiyuan Mine. According to the
notice, the Kaiyuan Company is required to, among other
things, strictly observe and comply with the applicable
laws and regulations on mining safety, strengthen on-site
management on safety, ensure mining and production
safety and undertake to resume production.

On 29 September 2018, Kaiyuan Company applied to the
Xinjiang Natural Resources Department for a renewal of
the Existing Mining Permit. The Company was informed
that the Xinjiang Natural Resources Department was
in the process of reviewing the Kaiyuan Extended Area
Mining Right Application. Upon approval by the Xinjiang
Natural Resources Department, the Kaiyuan Extended
Area Mining Right shall be granted, in replacement of the
Existing Mining Permit, with the mining area increased
from approximately 1.1596 km? to approximately 4.1165
km?, representing the enlarged mining area of the existing
Kaiyuan Mine and the Kaiyuan Extended Area. The
Kaiyuan Extended Area Mining Right shall entitle Kaiyuan
Company an annual production volume of 0.9 million
tonnes, whereas Kaiyuan Company is only entitled to an
annual production volume of 0.09 million tonnes under the
Existing Mining Permit.

In light of the above and according to the legal opinion
issued by the PRC legal adviser of the Company, in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations of the
PRC, Kaiyuan Company shall temporarily suspend its
mining operations and sale after the expiry of the Existing
Mining Permit on 31 December 2018 until the grant of the
Kaiyuan Extended Area Mining Right.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED & REXER AT

BEREHE(E)
C) SNFREEZIFE (&)

2.

FIEEEB 2 RFT1E0 ()

B-ZF—/\FOA+—HEURK
BEIFEAR - SURRAIEFREK
EAMBEHIIE - R-T—\F
NAZTAR - SURRBIEREE
RAEZEBELERLAE BN
REUR A B A IR E SRR 2 IE
BEE - RipAM  gURRAIA
(BB BRETRNE B
RigZ 2 2 BRERMER -
BRGLEER - HRRIREL
ERE  WAGRELE -

RZE—N\FHLA=-+NAB &l
RARIRFEBAERERS
EERBRETAIE - AAR)E
HH - MEEAEREERRMS
TRIER S E SRR o R
EEAERERER - SUREX
& [EIRERE G E R L URARIRS
HET A RIBEGHEFHD
1.1596F 5 A BN ELI4.1165
FHAE - BRAIRERE R
TRIEREE 2 SRR E -
R A & B iR IR A
RIZEBFESE09BEME - M
FIRA AIRIRIR B IR A B &
ERESFEZ0.008 5 -

BB b Pt R ARIE AN R AR B
FRBEREAZEZZER B
ETHBEERERER - SUR
RABERBEFRBEAIER-F
—N\FtHZR=+—REmWEY
FERBEEBLEE  BERK
SURIB RS EREESLL



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE2#H 4%

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)
(C) Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine (continued)

BEREHE(E)
C) SUREEZIFE(E)

2. Updates on the renewal of Mining Right (continued)
After further communication between the Company
and the Xinjiang Natural Resources Department,
having considered that (i) Kaiyuan Company has been
complying with the relevant laws and regulations of the
PRC regarding its mining operations and sale; and (i) the
demand for coal in winter is huge in Xinjiang, the Xinjiang
Natural Resources Department decided to approve
renewal of the Existing Mining Permit (the “Renewed
Mining Permit”). Kaiyuan Company obtained the Renewed
Mining Permit on 7 January 2019, which is valid from 3
November 2018 to 3 November 2019.

(D) Acquisition of 90% of the issued share capital of

NEFIN Leasing Technologies Limited and the loans
On 10 August 2018, Radiant Day Holdings Limited (“Radiant
Day”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with NEFIN Holding
Limited and Mr. Lim Hong Teo (together referred to as the
“Vendors”), pursuant to which Radiant Day agreed to purchase,
and the Vendors agreed to sell 90% equity interest in NEFIN
Leasing Technologies Limited and its wholly-owned subsidiary,
NEFIN Technology (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. (“NEFIN Technology”)
(together the “NEFIN Group”) at an aggregate consideration of
US$1,350,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$10,530,000).
The Vendors have jointly and severally guaranteed that the
annual result of NEFIN Technology for the years ending 30
September 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023 would not
be less than 5% of the consideration, i.e. approximately
HK$527,000 per annum. The transaction completed on 8
October 2018 as all conditions in the sale and purchase
agreement were fulfilled.

NEFIN Group is principally engaged in renewable energy
solutions and solar farm development in Malaysia. The Directors
are of the view that the acquisition will further enhance the
Group’s expansion of innovative and renewable energy
business. The acquisition constituted a business combination
and had been accounted for using the acquisition method under
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations.
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MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

(E)

Event after reporting period

On 11 March 2019, Ample Talent Ventures Limited (“Ample
Talent”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an
independent third party, pursuant to which the vendor has
conditionally agreed to sell, and Ample Talent has conditionally
agreed to purchase 80% equity interest in Harbour Group
Holdings Limited (“Harbour Group”) and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Target Group”), at an aggregate
consideration of HK$35,712,000; and (ii) Ample Talent and
Harbour Group entered into a subscription agreement, pursuant
to which Harbour Group has conditionally agreed to issue
and allot to Ample Talent, and Ample Talent has conditionally
agreed to subscribe for 450 ordinary shares, representing
approximately 4.5% of the total number of shares in issue
as at the date of subscription agreement at an aggregate
subscription price of HK$2,008,800. Upon completion of
the above transactions, Ample Talent will hold approximately
80.86% equity interest in Harbour Group.

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, the vendor has
agreed to guarantee that the audited consolidated net profit
generated from operating activities of the Target Group in its
ordinary and usual course of business, prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs (the “Net Profit”), for the years ended or ending
31 December 2018, 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2020 (the “PG Period”) shall be no less than HK$7,200,000 per
annum (the “Guaranteed Profit”). In the event that the Net Profit
during the each of the PG Period is less than the Guaranteed
Profit, the vendor unconditionally and irrevocably undertakes
and guarantees, as a continuing obligation, to pay the shortfall
to the Group under the terms as stipulated in the sale and
purchase agreement.

The Target Group consists of Harbour Group, Harbour Group
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd., Harbour Group Consulting (UK) Limited,
HGH Technology Sdn. Bhd., Mountain Managed Cloud
Consulting Limited and Vanguard Business Services Limited.
The Target Group is principally engaged in the provision of
information technology outsourcing, consultancy and technical
services mainly in Hong Kong with expanding business in United
Kingdom, Malaysia and Singapore. The Directors are of the view
that the acquisition can broaden the Group’s revenue base and
benefit from the diversified return in future.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE2#H 4%

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

(E) Event after reporting period (continued)
As at 31 March 2019, deposit for acquisition of the Target
Group of approximately HK$3,571,000 was paid to the vendor
and was included in “Refundable deposit paid for acquisition
of subsidiaries”. Details of the acquisition were set out in the
Company’s circular dated 12 April 2019.

On 23 April 2019, the conditions as stipulated in the sale
and purchase agreement and subscription agreement were
fulfilled. The Target Group became indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Company. The acquisition constituted a
business combination and will be accounted for using the
acquisition method under HKFRS 3 Business Combinations.

As the initial accounting for the acquisition of the Target Group
is incomplete, it is not practicable to reliably estimate its financial
effort.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-
laws of the Company or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the Year are set out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2019, the Company had no retained profits
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie. Under
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the Company’s contributed
surplus of approximately HK$128,013,000 may be distributed under
certain circumstances. In addition, the Company’s share premium
account with a balance of approximately HK$191,534,000 may be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted
for 98.44% of the total sales for the Year and sales to the largest
customer included therein amounted to 74.92%. Purchases of goods
and services from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
97.92% of the total purchases for the Year and purchases from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to 55.40%.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report
were:

Executive Directors:

Kwan Man Fai (Chairman & Managing Director)
Lo Fong Hung (vacated on 20 November 2018)
Wang Xiangfei (with Wong Sze Wai as alternate)
Wong Sze Wai (appointed on 20 November 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Wong Man Hin Raymond

Chan Yiu Fai Youdey

Pak Wai Keung Martin

In accordance with bye-law 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Kwan Man Fai and Mr. Chan Yiu Fai Youdey will retire by rotation
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

In accordance with bye-law 86 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Wong
Sze Wai shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company after his appointment and being eligible, offer himself for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

In accordance with bye-law 92 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Wong
Sze Wai shall hold office as an alternate Director to Mr. Wang Xiangfei
only until the next annual election of Directors, or if earlier, the date on
which Mr. Wang Xiangfei ceases to be a Director, or until Mr. Wang
Xiangfei removes him as an alternate Director. Mr. Wang Xiangfei, has
confirmed to re-appoint Mr. Wong Sze Wai as his alternate Director.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE2#H 4%

BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 38 to 41 of this annual report.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Changes in the information of the Directors required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules subsequent to the
publication of the 2018 interim report of the Company are set out
below:

(1)  Subsequent to a review of Directors’ duties and responsibilities
in the Company as well as the market conditions, the executive
Directors’ emoluments were approved and revised by the
Board with effect from 1 June 2019. The monthly emolument
of Mr. Kwan Man Fai was changed to HK$94,815. The monthly
emolument of Mr. Wang Xiangfei was changed to HK$70,560.
The monthly emolument of Mr. Wong Sze Wai was changed to
HK$70,560.

(2)  The service agreements of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond and Mr. Chan
Yiu Fai Youdey, entered with the Company expired on 24 March
2019 and their service agreements had been extended for one
year commencing on 25 March 2019;

(8) The service agreements of the executive Directors, namely
Mr. Kwan Man Fai and Mr. Wang Xiangfei, entered with
the Company expired on 24 March 2019 and their service
agreements had been extended for one year commencing on
25 March 2019; and

(4)  Mr. Pak Wai Keung Martin, the independent non-executive
Director, has been the independent non-executive director
of China Huiyuan Juice Group Limited (Sock Code: 1886),
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of Stock
Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company, which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

No Director or his/her connected entity had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly in any transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any its subsidiaries was party at the end of the Year or at
any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2019, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO”)), as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions
Interests in shares of an associated corporation of the Company

EERNRT  RHRENzER

ERNHBBERHER AR R SKE MM
B RAIRAFEERIAFENEMEEART
VEAEEEBEBEEAMEZEARS &
BREHH  BEEIEEEFTMERE

Ny
S o

I

EERFTETHAERRSG REE
Ry 2 EERORR

R-ZE-NEF=ZA=1+—H8 ARAEEK
TETBABRARRSEMBEE(EE
RESMEGRD(TEF ARG ) EXV
m) 2Bty - RO REST  BAEEE
LR AR BRIEE 7 & B 5] 5 3521678
FEZELMzEm AR HRELETR
A8+ PRERE T RIAS TR AR E R
B Pz e BORB AT

39}
RAE 2 BIEEEBR 17 .2 2

Approximate
percentage

of the issued
share capital of

Number the associated
of shares corporation
Name of interested {5 AE B =
Name of Directors Notes associated corporation Capacity BEERZZ BEITRA
EENSE Mz  MEEEEERE g% BOEE BAEDL
Mr. Wang Xiangfei 1 New Bright International Interest of spouse 3,000 (L) 30%
FARSE Development Limited Ao B
(“New Bright”)
BB R AR A A
(M8l
() denotes as long position L EHE
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)
Note:

1. Ms. Lo Fong Hung is interested in 3,000 shares in New Bright, representing
30% of the issued share capital of New Bright, which currently owns 70%
shareholding interests in China Sonangol International Limited (“China
Sonangol”). China Sonangol is the holding company of Ascent Goal
Investments Limited (“Ascent Goal”), the controlling shareholder of the
Company. The shareholding interests of Ascent Goal in the Company is set
out in the section headed “Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares” of this annual report. Mr. Wang
Xiangfei is the husband of Ms. Lo Fong Hung and is deemed to be interested
in 3,000 shares of New Bright under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, neither the Directors
nor the chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries was a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate at any time during the Year or at the end of the
Year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Group has not adopted any share option scheme during the
Year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHARESHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 March 2019, the following persons (other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in shares or underlying shares of the

FERRRROREERKRG 2 EE

599}

RZZE-NAF=A=+—H  TIAL(E
ERARAETEZTBRABRINRARFR
i AR A AE TR AR BIREE
L AEIGRDIEIBERMEFEZ BT 21

SEEEUK A .
BIKE

RARBRGIEERD 2FE

Company

Approximate
percentage of
the total
number
of issued
shares of
Total number  the Company
Number of of shares (Note 7)
underlying and underlying ENN|
Number of shares held shares held BRITRA
Name of Shareholders Notes  Nature of interest shares held i iERAR HBEEAEIHL
RRER 5 M BEtE FRERAME HERGEE ABEROLE (PE7)
Ascent Goal 1,5 Beneficial owner 569,616,589  1,000,000,000  1,569,616,589 205.08%
=2 EREBA
China Sonangol 2,5 Interests of controlled 569,616,589  1,000,000,000  1,569,616,589 205.08%
ZHER corporation
FREE
New Bright 2,5 Interests of controlled 569,616,589  1,000,000,000  1,569,616,589 205.08%
gl corporation
XEEE R
Ms. Fung Yuen Kwan Veronica 3,5 Interests of controlled 569,616,589  1,000,000,000  1,569,616,589 205.08%
Bt corporation
TEEE s
Ms. Lo Fong Hung 45 Interests of controlled 569,616,589  1,000,000,000  1,569,616,589 205.08%
BAtlat corporation
REEE BE
Mr. Lev Leviev 6 Beneficial owner 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 0.13%
Lev LevieviE 4 EREEA
6 Interests of controlled 66,542,000 - 66,542,000 8.69%
corporation
A R

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED & REXER AT



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE2#H 4%

SUBSTANTIAL SHARESHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (continued)

Long positions in shares or underlying shares of the
Company (continued)

Notes:

1.

Ascent Goal was directly interested in 569,616,589 shares and further
1,000,000,000 underlying shares which may be fully allotted and issued if
the Convertible Bond are converted at the conversion price of HK$0.20 per
share. These 1,569,616,589 shares were held by Ascent Goal directly as
beneficial owner. It includes (i) interests in 569,616,589 shares and (i) the
Convertible Bond giving rise to an interest in 1,000,000,000 underlying
shares.

Since Ascent Goal is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Sonangol which
is beneficially owned as to 70% by New Bright, the interests of Ascent Goal
is deemed to be the interests of China Sonangol and in turn the interests of
New Bright under the SFO.

Ms. Fung Yuen Kwan Veronica is deemed to have interests in the shares and
underlying shares through her 70% interests in New Bright.

Ms. Lo Fong Hung is deemed to have interests in the shares and underlying
shares through her 30% interests in New Bright.

The 569,616,589 shares and 1,000,000,000 underlying shares under the
Convertible Bond represent approximately 74.42% and approximately
130.66% of the total number of issued shares of the Company respectively,
thus the total of 569,616,589 shares and 1,000,000,000 underlying shares
represent approximately 205.08% of the total number of issued shares of
the Company. The conversion rights attaching to the Convertible Bond will
not be exercised and the Company will not issue the conversion shares if,
immediately following the conversion, the Company would be unable to meet
the public float requirement under the Listing Rules.

For the shares held by Mr. Lev Leviev, of these shares, 37,580,000 shares
were held by Africa Israel Investments Ltd., a company controlled by Mr.
Lev Leviev through his approximately 48.13% interests in Africa Israel
Investments Ltd.; 28,962,000 shares were held by Memorand Management
(1998) Ltd., a company controlled by Mr. Lev Leviev through his 100%
interests in Memorand Ltd. which holds 100% interest in Memorand
Management (1998) Ltd.; and 1,000,000 shares were held by Mr. Lev Leviev
directly.

The approximate percentage of shareholdings is based on 765,373,584
shares as at 31 March 2019, not the enlarged number of issued shares of the
Company upon full conversion of the Convertible Bond.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, the Company had
not been notified by any persons (other than the Directors and
chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the
section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares” above), who had interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of
the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
No Director had interests in a business which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group, as defined in the Listing Rules, during the Year and up to the
date of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on the information that
is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of
the Directors, over 25% of the total number of issued shares of the
Company is held by the public as required under the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been audited
by Mazars CPA Limited who will retire and, being eligible, offer itself
for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Mazars
CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On Behalf of the Board

Kwan Man Fai
Chairman and Managing Director
Hong Kong, 20 June 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZHENHRE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Nan Nan
Resources Enterprise Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 104 to 238, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2019,
and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Mazars CPA LiMITED

B IR (i) e A R 7
42™ Floor, Central Plaza,

18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
UG TE 18 SEr P IR, 42 1

Tel Erfi: (852) 2909 5555

Fax {#20: (852) 2810 0032

Email T info@mazars.hk

Website A41k: www.mazars.hk
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B\ & EisR &

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment on coal mines related non-current

assets

Refer to Notes 2, 3, 4, 12, 13 and 19 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Key Audit Matter
HREXSHE

FRELSE(E)
KIRMERISE R B E ERER G

BRMGAUERENFE2 341213
%19 -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMzERNAEEERERSEE

As at 31 March 2019, the Group held various coal
mines related non-current assets, including property,
plant and equipment, prepayments for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, in
the People’s Republic of China with carrying amounts
of approximately HK$45,507,000, HK$19,635,000 and
HK$16,913,000 respectively.

In view of expected capital expenditure to be incurred
for environmental protection remedial works, the
management identified the existence of an impairment
indication on certain coal mines related non-current
assets. The management engaged an independent
valuer (the “Valuer”) to assess the value-in-use of coal
mines related non-current assets. The impairment
assessment involves the management’s estimates
in certain areas including the discount rate and the
underlying cash flow projection based on the future
market supply and demand conditions. Any changes in
the management’s estimates may result in significant
financial impact to the Group.

We have identified the impairment assessment on
coal mines related non-current assets as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the amounts involved
and the significant estimates made by management
in determining the recoverable amounts of the
corresponding cash-generating unit.

As set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management concluded that the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit was
higher than its carrying value and no impairment
provision was required for the current year.

Our key audit procedures included:

@)

evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuer engaged by the management
to assess the value-in-use of coal mines related non-
current assets;

assessing the valuation methodologies adopted in
the valuation with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards;

challenging the suitability of the source data as the
basis for the valuation by comparing key financial
information in the source data with the financial
statements and operational forecast prepared by the
management;

challenging the key assumptions underlying the
operational forecasts by comparison with historical
financial performance together with market and other
externally available information;

assessing the discount rates applied in the cash flow
forecasts, by benchmarking against those of similar
companies in the markets; and

re-performing the management’s calculations of
the sensitivity of the key assumptions adopted in
the cash flow forecasts and considering possible
management bias in the selection of assumptions.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment on coal mines related non-current

assets (continued)

Key Audit Matter
AREXEE

FRELSE(E)
RIRAERASE R B & ER(E R4 ()

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
Bz ERNAEERERERSE

RIZ-—NF=ZA=+—H0 > E£ERPEARHL
MEEEZERBEEERDEE(BEYE  BER
Bl WEME - BERREZFENREARERE
E - BEmED R4 A45,507,0005% 7T ~ 19,635,000
7£ 16,913,000/ 7T °

ENREREBNTERELTRRESHRX BEE
EREAETRERBIERDHEEZRETR - B2
EBoREB I MERD([(AEM S REREIFRSE
EETEMREENME - BRBEMEIREEEST
FEfEE - BREREARENRARRTGEKER 2
AR RETRA - EREGT EAIRZEDRES
B BERBEREAUBTZE

B2 BAE R ERRIERB B EETTREN A
REZEE RASMPEREANEEENETER
FEIR & B BN 2 Al Bl & R F H E M RT -

MANERE MR 13 - ERERRRCEL
Bz R eERREREERANFEHE R
BRI

BTz T EERREF B

@)

(b)

Az EEEMER B AEMENGRIEARIERDE
EFEREERLREE  EHREEN

KRERITEETER 2 E25k  fFHEEA2HER
VA

FERRREEZ T 2N ENEMBRRNEEE
REZEETRAETLER  GRRBERDHEAE
RIGEEE

3B 38 LB S B T AR ER A [F) T 45 Ko EL A S SRR A ER
ZEM  EREMEEFEANZERRE

UG ERUARESERE - AR RERAMR
RAREER R

ENETEEBYRERERAMRATIERR
FREAENEEEERENEEEARFEZR
E’ o

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED & REXER AT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Valuation of convertible bond designated as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (the “Convertible

Bond”)

Refer to in Notes 2, 3, 26 and 30(b) to the consolidated financial

statements.

Key Audit Matter
HREXSHE

==
=

BREZEE(E)
EBEARATFEIRIEERANEE 2
emaEzRRES ([ UTRRKRES]
ZAh{E

F2EEREMBHREN T2 - 3 26%30(b) °

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMzERNAEE@RRERSER

As at 31 March 2019, the fair value of the Convertible
Bond was approximately HK$217,869,000.

The management has engaged the Valuer to estimate
the fair value of the Convertible Bond as at 31 March
2019.

We have identified the valuation of the Convertible
Bond as a key audit matter because the amounts
involved are significant and the valuation of the
Convertible Bond and the related disclosures require
market data and modelling techniques which rely on
a range of inputs. Where observable market data are
not available, or where instruments are not liquid,
estimates must be developed based on the most
appropriate source data. These estimates are subject
to significant judgement. In addition, we have identified
the disclosure of the fair value of the Convertible Bond
in the fair value hierarchy as an area of focus. Besides,
the recognition and measurement of the Convertible
Bond involved significant judgement and estimates by
the management.
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Our key audit procedures included:

(@)

evaluating the Valuer’'s competence, capabilities and
objectivity;

assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
methodology, and the reasonableness on the key
inputs used and assumptions by the Valuer and
agreed by the management including the discount
rate and share price; and

evaluating the sensitivity analysis performed by the
Valuer in relation to the fluctuation on the discount
rate and share price of the Company’s shares.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Acquisition accounting for NEFIN Leasing Technologies

==
=

FRELSE(E)
HMERBEEREARAARANEAF

Limited and its subsidiary (together referred to as “NEFIN (%8 [ #TeeREE |) 2 WiE S

Group”)

Refer to in Notes 2 and 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter
BAREXSE

B2 R A M RAME2M32 -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMzERNMEEERERSEE

The Group completed the acquisition of NEFIN Group
on 8 October 2018 at a consideration of US$1,350,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$10,530,000) (the
“NEFIN Acquisition”). The NEFIN Acquisition constituted
a business combination for accounting purposes.

The initial accounting for the NEFIN Acquisition required
the Group to identify the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed and measure their amounts. In particular, the
management engaged the Valuer to provide assistance
in measuring the values of identifiable assets and
liabilities. Goodwill of approximately HK$4,229,000
arising from the NEFIN Acquisition was recognised at
the date of acquisition.

We considered this matter as a key audit matter due to
the significance of amounts involved and the significant
estimates made by the management in estimating the
value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

Our key audit procedures included:

(@)

evaluating management’s assessment of the terms of
the acquisition agreement;

understanding the valuation processes and
methodologies, significant assumptions adopted
and key inputs used in the valuation of assets and
liabilities;

challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions
based on our knowledge and understanding of the
businesses of NEFIN Group and markets;

assessing the appropriateness of the methodologies
and the reasonableness of significant assumptions
used by the management in determining the value of
assets acquired and liabilities assumed including fair
value adjustments as at the date of acquisition;

evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuer; and

performing legal search on NEFIN Group and
obtaining confirmation from the Group’s lawyer to
identify any contingent liabilities and evaluate the
impact.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED & REXER AT



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B\ & EisR &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

REEaEE(E)

Acquisition accounting for NEFIN Leasing Technologies R ERFERATIRENB AT
Limited and its subsidiary (together referred to as “NEFIN (58 [ #Tee &R |) 2 WS L (&)

Group”) (continued)

Key Audit Matter
HRELEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EfzERNMEERREREE
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BT T EEREFBE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B\ & EisR &

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Company’s 2019 annual report but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED & REXER AT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B\ & EisR &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

QOur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B\ & EisR &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED & REXER AT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B\ & EisR &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 20 June 2019

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

She Shing Pang

Practising Certificate number: PO5510
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEeEBERkHEMEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-Z-NF=ZA=+—-HLEE

Revenue
Cost of services and goods sold

Gross profit
Other revenue
Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses

Exchange (loss)/gain, net

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment

Impairment loss on intangible assets
Finance costs

Change in fair value of convertible bond designated as

financial liabilities at FVPL

Profit before tax
Income tax expenses

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive (loss)/income, net of nil tax

Item that maybe reclassified subsequently to

profit or loss:

Exchange difference on translation of functional

currency to presentation currency
Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year attributable to:
— Owners of the Company
- Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income for the year
attributable to:
- Owners of the Company
- Non-controlling interests

Earnings/(Loss) per share (expressed in
Hong Kong cents)
- Basic

- Diluted

6
EERBRE MK

£

At

HERDHER

TBRABE=ZEH

X (BR), Mz F 8

nE - B RXEREBE

BYEERERR

REKA

HERRATEIRY A R
NEIE 2 &R A EZ TR
EHzATEED

BRA AT
ISR

o

Ath2mE(BR) K
NBREHE
HE B TR
FH
BENEERAZIIEE
EXER

FRZENGER
AT ALEIEFAEN -

~KREEAA
~ $riniEas

ATATEEFAZAERE
B

—ARAEBA
— R

FRE/(BR) CAEILZF)
—EA
—#%

The notes on pages 111 to 238 form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED & REXER AT

2019 2018
S i

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
(s TR FET
5 75,625 182,445
(44,542) (130,398)

31,083 52,047

6 10,438 6,332
(474) (414)

(28,688) (22,456)

(6,175) 8,866

12 - (3,511)
13 - (12,618)
7 (964) -
26 29,373 14,374
7 34,593 42,620
8 (5,750) (5,942)
28,843 36,678

(10,909) 13,671

17,934 50,349

28,843 36,678

28,843 36,678

17,923 50,349

1 -

17,934 50,349

10 377 479
10 0.90 0.07)

JIHNFEII1E238E 2 B ZFHRA
PARsERR e — 87 -



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

NENE S O
As at 31 March 2019
R=F-n#=A=t+—8

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Security deposit

Non-refundable deposits

Prepayments for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment

Deferred tax assets

Current assets
Inventories
Financial assets measured at FVPL

Trade and other receivables
Restricted bank balances
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities
Convertible bond designated as
financial liabilities at FVPL

Trade and other payables
Interest-bearing borrowings
Tax payables

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

FRBEE
YEN T &
BIEE

e

RERE

TARERS
W% - BFE k&R
BRIA

B IAEE

REBEE

T8
BAHESRLEBEA
RHEZEREE

& YU R B A FE WK IR
SR ERITAEER
RekHeFEEAR

RBRE

BE AR A HESIRRAL A
BaiREzemMaE
Z AR ES

A 5 3 e LA B A5 5K
HEEE

FETRIA

RBEEFE

REERABAE

17

18
19
21
22

26
23
24

2019 2018
—z— s LS
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
51,370 9,166
18,505 23,095
4,229 -
5,506 5,048
2,431 2,604
19,635 -
2,009 1,940
103,685 41,853
7,573 7,221
60,236 -
8,224 4,209
77,612 -
278,814 440,437
432,459 451,867
217,869 -
58,794 69,798
68,345 -
3,196 7,890
348,204 77,688
84,255 374,179
187,940 416,032
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION #& Bk &R
As at 31 March 2019
R-E-AFE=A=+—H

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T
Capital and reserves BAREE
Share capital R 25 76,537 76,537
Reserves HE 107,102 89,179
Equity attributable to owners of RAREE AELER
the Company 183,639 165,716
Non-controlling interests IR i R 1,044 -
Total equity R 184,683 165,716
Non-current liabilities FRBER
Convertible bond designated as &€ BIR AT EYIRIT £
financial liabilities at FVPL BaNRE e
Z AR ES 26 - 247 242
Provision for close down, restoration and  E8E] ~ 1828 RIRIBAK AN
environmental costs B 27 2,870 3,074
Deferred tax liabilities EIEFIEAE 28 387 -
3,257 250,316
187,940 416,032

These consolidated financial statements were approved and (ZEGABMBEREN_ZE—HLFENA-1TH
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 June 2019 and  HhESZ@ G RFETIE  WHNU TATR

signed on its behalf by ~EE
Kwan Man Fai Wang Xiangfei
B AR
Director Director
EF EF

The notes on pages 111 to 238 form an integral part of these JIEH R FE111E238E v M T B Z S 4546
consolidated financial statements. B igEc .z — 8B °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-Z-NF=ZA=+—-HLEE

Attriutable to owners of the Company

FARESNER
Bxchange Non-

Share Share Captal  Staiufory  translafion Special  Accumuated controling Total

coptal - premium fBSENE  IBSRIeS T6SeVe T8Se1Ve losses Totd  inferests equty

BE BORE  ATBE  ERR ENRR O ROEE  LiEE B dEE  EER

(Note25a))  MNote25afl) (Note25afil) MNote25a) (Note25al)
(Hma)) (Heal) (Hasai) (Hsay) (He2a)

HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS$O00

TR A ThL TR TR TR TR TR TEL T
Asat 1 Apr 2017 AZE-tEmA-H 76587 19153 14,882 16,598 6430 M3 Qiree 115367 - 11837
Proft o he year R - - - - - - %6 % - %6
Total other comprehensive income; b2 FUREE :
ltem that maybe reciassifed ERTRET B2 ER
subsequentl to proft or loss EF
Bichangs dfference on tansition of - BENEERET|ERZ
functional curency to presentation Y £%
currency - - - - 18671 - - 13671 - 13671
Totel comprefiensive income EneEkgaE
forthe year - - - - 13en - %1 50349 - 503
Transactions with owners: SRENEG2RG
Appropriation of statitoryresene  EEEEZ IR - - - 382 - - (3826) - - -
Aporopriaton for mantenancgand ~ EBREEES7AE
production funds - - - 28017 - - 28017) - - -
Utlisaton of maintenance and BEREEEBR
production funds - - - 8o - - 8017 - - -
Asat 31 March 2018 RZE-\E=F=1-H 76537 19153 g 044 M0 M3 (184914 165716 - 165716
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY GREEE S BIR

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-Z-NF=A=+—-HLEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KLREARR
Exchange Non-
Share Share  Capital  Stafutory translation ~ Special  Accumulated controling Total
captal  premium  reseve  reserves  resenve  resene losses Total interests equity
Be  REEE EARE  iERE  ERRE  GAEE  EiEE B8 FEREE 46
(Note25afi) (Note25afi) (Note25a(ii) (Note25af)) (Note25aly)
(W2oa) (Wkonafi) (WaF5afi) (WE25al) (WE25al)
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS$'000
Tén Tén Tén Tén Thn Th7 Thn T T
Asat 1 Apri 2018 A-%-)\EBA-H 191,534 14,682 20,424 20,110 0143 (184914 165716 - 165716
Proftfor the year Egi - - - - - B 28848 - B8
Total other comprehensive loss:  EH2EFBAE !
Item that maybe reclassifed EREIEEERT
subsequentl to proft or loss EE
Exchange diferenceon frangation of - ES S ER RS EH Y
functional curency to presentation B EE
curency - - - (109) - - (109) 1 (10909
Total comprehensive income EpeEbREE
for e yea - - - (s 1Y 11 TR
Transactons vith owners: SRENEG2RG
Aopopraon of tautory esene R AR - -2 = - 256 = - -
Appropriaton for mainenanceand  EEREEEE24E
production funds - - 26,612 - - (6612 - - -
Utlisaton of maintenance and BEREEES /IR
production funds - - (6612 - - 2,612 - - -
- - - L) - - -
Changes in ownership interests BEEERRS
Non-contrallng nterests arisng from - FE A L AHIRER
busingss combintion (Note 32) (H=3) - - - - - - - 1,033 1,033
Asat 31 March 2019 AE-NEZAz1-R 191,534 14,682 22,986 9190 2143 (1568633 183639 1,044 184683

JIENFEII1E238E 2 B Z EHRA
BrigERER 2 — 87 -

The notes on pages 111 to 238 form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AN A~ —|
wh =3 }EQUWE%
For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-Z-NF=ZA=+—-HLEE

Operating activities
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets which was
included in “cost of services and goods sold”
Impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment
Impairment loss on intangible assets
Change in fair value of convertible bond
designated as financial liabilities at FVPL

Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Net exchange loss/(gain)

Finance costs

Interest income

Operating cash flow before movements in
working capital

(Increase)/Decrease in inventories
Decrease in trade and other receivables

(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables

Cash generated from operations
Interest paid
Income tax paid

Net cash from operating activities

REXH

BRB A4 7
BLTHREERE -
nx  BERRERE
BREEBHGIAIDE
AR B kA )
nEx - BERRE
RERR
B BERNERE
BEARDFHEIIRLE
BEMNRE 2 AR
Bz N TEED
HEME - BE L&
ZER
SR (e ) Fa
BB
MEBA

EEATRPA CERTRE

FEOEN) D

RS R KRR
B

B R R R
(), 4800

REXBHERE

ENHE
ERAEH

REEREREFR

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
{53 TAET TET
34,593 42,620

2,356 3,022

4,685 5,478

- 3,511

- 12,618

(29,373) (14,374)

979 132

15,448 (22,090)

964 -

(4,343) (4,322)

25,309 26,595

(704) 47,918

269 9,868

(7,214) 1,524

17,660 85,905

(964) -

(10,124) (13,025)

6,572 72,880
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS #R&#H &7

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-Z-NF=A=+—-HLEE

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Payment of non-refundable deposits
Non-refundable deposits received
Prepayments for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment
Refundable deposit paid for acquisition
of subsidiaries
Net outflow from acquisition of subsidiaries
Purchases of financial assets measured
at FVPL
Redemption of financial assets measured
at FVPL
Interest received

Net cash (used in)/from investing activities

Financing activities

Inception of interest-bearing borrowings
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings
Increase in restricted bank balances

Net cash used in financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year

Effect on foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year,
represented by bank balances and cash

REXEK
BEVE  BERRE
HENE - BE RRE
FiSs0A
XFPRERS
ERAPRERSE
WEYE - BERRE
PACINE S
WEMBRATZER
ARERS
Wﬁf‘ﬁ%/& /?//\LHj
BERLTEIIRYERR
NEECMEE
BEEAHEFIREARR
NEEZEMEE
EKHE

REXB (M) /5
REFR

BMEEHK
HEREEEM

R EEE

SRR 1T A28 A0
BMELEMARSTFE

ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ
WD),/ EIEE

ENzRERREEEER

(BRI 7 28

FRZBRERAEEEER
APARTEBRRE

The notes on pages 111 to 238 form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED & REXER AT

2019 2018
= Bk —N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
{53 FEx FAET
(40,441) (4,167)
- 93
- (2,604)
- 6,075
(19,635) -
37 (3,571) -
32 (10,323) -
18 (60,236) (307,440)
18 - 307,440
4,343 4,322
(129,863) 3,719
69,577 -
(1,160) -
(77,612) -
(9,195) -
(132,486) 76,599
440,437 331,606
(29,137) 32,232
278,814 440,437
TIE R EIN1 =238 B 2 TN ZELRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B mRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-Z-NF=ZA=+—-HLEE

GENERAL

Nan Nan Resources Enterprise Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability. The shares of the Company are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, its holding
company is Ascent Goal Investments Limited (“Ascent Goal”),
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) with
limited liability and its ultimate holding company is New Bright
International Development Limited (“New Bright”), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability. Its ultimate
controlling party is Ms. Fung Yuen Kwan, Veronica. These
entities do not produce financial statements available for public
use.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2019 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
subsidiaries of the Company are principally engaged in (i) mining
and sales of coal; and (ii) renewable energy solutions and solar
farm development. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are
set out in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless
otherwise indicated.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted in the
2018 consolidated financial statements except for the adoption
of the following new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the
Group and effective from the current year as set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied for the first time, the following new/
revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22: Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

HK (IFRIC)-Int 22 clarifies that, in determining the spot
exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset,
expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to advance
consideration, the date of the transaction is the date on which
an entity initially recognised the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.

The adoption of HK (IFRIC)-Int 22 does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 9: Financial Instruments
The following terms are used in these consolidated financial
statements:

° FVPL.: fair value through profit or loss.

° FVOCI: fair value through other comprehensive income.

o Designated FVOCI: equity instruments measured at
FVOCI.

° Mandatory FVOCI: debt instruments measured at FVOCI.

HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39 Financial Instruments.: Recognition
and Measurement for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018. It introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities, impairment for financial assets and hedge accounting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 9: Financial Instruments (continued)

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 9,
comparative information has not been restated and the Group
has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively to financial instruments
that existed as at 1 April 2018 (i.e. the date of initial application),
except as described below (if applicable):

(@)

The following assessments are made on the basis of
facts and circumstances that existed at the date of initial
application:

(i) the determination of the business model within
which a financial asset is held;

(i) the designation of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVPL or, in case of financial assets, at
Designated FVOCI; and

(iiy  the de-designation of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVPL.

The above resulting classification shall be applied
retrospectively.

If, at the date of initial application, determining whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition would require undue cost or effort, a loss
allowance is recognised at an amount equal to lifetime
expected credit losses at each reporting date until the
financial instrument is derecognised unless that financial
instrument has low credit risk at a reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 9: Financial Instruments (continued)

(c)  Forinvestments in equity instruments that were measured
at cost under HKAS 39, the instruments are measured at
fair value at the date of initial application.

The adoption of HKFRS 9 has no significant effect on the
classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities as at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2018.
The carrying amounts for all financial assets and financial
liabilities as at 1 April 2018 have not been impacted by the initial
application of HKFRS 9.

HKFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 replaces, among others, HKAS 18 and HKAS
11 which specified the revenue recognition arising from sale
of goods and rendering of services and the accounting for
construction contracts respectively. The standard establishes a
comprehensive framework for revenue recognition and certain
costs from contracts with customers within its scope. It also
introduces a cohesive set of disclosure requirements that would
result in an entity providing users of financial statements with
comprehensive information about the nature, amount, timing
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the
entity’s contracts with customers.

The Group has elected to apply the cumulative effect transition
method and recognised the cumulative effect of initial adoption
as an adjustment to the opening balance of components of
equity as at 1 April 2018 (i.e. the date of initial application).
Therefore, the comparative information has not been restated
for the effect of HKFRS 15.

In addition, the Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively
only to contracts that were not completed as at 1 April 2018 in
accordance with the transitional provisions therein.

The adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have any significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is historical cost, except for
the unlisted investments in principal guaranteed funds, which
are classified as financial assets measured at FVPL and the
convertible bond designated as financial liabilities at FVPL,
which are measured at fair value as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as that of the Company using consistent
accounting policies.

All intra-group balance, transactions, income and expenses and
profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from
owners of the Company, in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and within
equity in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The non-controlling interests in the acquiree, that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the acquiree’s net assets in event of liquidation,
are measured initially either at fair value or at the present
ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. This choice
of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are initially
measured at fair value, unless another measurement basis is
required by HKFRSs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. XE&:HKE(H)
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued) mERBEEE(E)
Allocation of total comprehensive income DEEE AR EE

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
is attributed to the owners of the Company and the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in ownership interest

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the
fair value of any retained interest determined at the date when
control is lost and (i) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests at the date when control is lost. The amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to the disposed subsidiary are accounted for on the same basis
as would be required if the parent had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Any investment retained in the former
subsidiary and any amounts owed by or to the former subsidiary
are accounted for as a financial asset, associate, joint venture or
others as appropriate from the date when control is lost.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

- deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Incomes
Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

- liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and

- assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured
in accordance with that standard.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment,
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Where the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and included as part of the consideration transferred in
a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with the
corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset
or a liability is remeasured at fair value at subsequent reporting
dates with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to its acquisition date fair value and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income where appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment
would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items
for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional
amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see
above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to
reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances
that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have
affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the elements of control.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Subsidiaries (continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is
presented within these notes, an investment in subsidiary is
stated at cost less impairment losses. The carrying amount
of the investment is reduced to its recoverable amount on an
individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable amount. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there
is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If some or all of
the goodwill allocated to a cash-generating unit was acquired in
a business combination during the current annual period, that
unit shall be tested for impairment before the end of the current
annual period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit, and then to the other assets of the unit on
a pro rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly
in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is
not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of profit or
loss on disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land and
building held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes are stated at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use. Repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the period in
which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account their estimated residual value,
using the straight-line method. Where parts of an item of
property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the
cost or valuation of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis
and depreciated separately.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are expensed
in profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised at
their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their
cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with finite
useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses. The estimated useful
life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Mining right

Mining right is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses and is amortised based on the units of
production method utilising only recoverable coal reserves as
the depletion base.

Exploration right

Exploration right is stated at cost less impairment losses.
Cost of the exploration right is transferred to mining right
upon the government’s approval of the mining license and the
commencement of the mining activities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation activity involves the search for
mineral resources, the determination of technical feasibility and
the assessment of commercial viability of an identified resource.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure comprises costs which
are directly attributable to:

researching and analysing historical exploration data;

- gathering exploration data through topographical,
geochemical and geophysical studies;

- exploratory drilling, trenching and sampling;

- determining and examining the volume and grade of the
resource;

- surveying transportation and infrastructure requirements;
and

- conducting market and finance studies.

Expenditure during the initial exploration stage of a project
is charged to profit or loss as incurred. Exploration and
evaluation assets are recognised at cost on initial recognition.
Subsequent to initial recognition, exploration and evaluation
assets are stated at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses. Exploration and evaluation costs, including the costs of
acquiring licenses, are capitalised as exploration and evaluation
assets on a project-by-project basis pending determination of
the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the project.

The capitalised costs are presented as either tangible or
intangible exploration and evaluation assets according to the
nature of the assets. Tangible and intangible exploration and
evaluation assets that are available for use are depreciated/
amortised over their useful lives. When a project is abandoned,
the related irrecoverable costs are written off to profit or loss
immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

Renewable energy service contract

Renewable energy services contract is stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
Amortisation is provided on the straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of 25 years.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the
Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows from the financial
asset expire or (i) the Group transfers the financial asset and
either (a) it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the financial asset but it does not retain control of the financial
asset.

Classification and measurement — applicable from 1 April 2018

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a
significant financing component) are initially recognised at their
fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not carried at FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial assets. Such trade receivables are initially
measured at their transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i)
measured at amortised cost; (i) Mandatory FVOCI; (iii)
Designated FVOCI; or (iv) measured at FVPL.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and measurement — applicable from 1 April 2018
(continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the Group’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics. Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent
to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business
model for managing them, in which case all affected financial
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first annual
reporting period following the change in the business model.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both
of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective is to
hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows; and

(i)  its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest rate method and are subject
to impairment. Gains and losses arising from impairment,
derecognition or through the amortisation process are
recognised in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
debt instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost (continued)

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include security
deposit, trade and other receivables, restricted bank balances
and cash and cash equivalents.

Financial assets measured at FVPL

These investments include financial assets held for trading,
financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at FVPL,
financial assets resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies and financial assets that are otherwise required to be
measured at FVPL. They are carried at fair value, with any
resultant gain and loss recognised in profit or loss, which does
not include any dividend or interest earned on the financial
assets. Dividend or interest income is presented separately from
fair value gain or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near
term;

(i)  part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that
are managed together and for which there is evidence of
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on initial
recognition; or

(i)  a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or not
a designated and effective hedging instrument.

Derivatives embedded in a hybrid contract in which a host is
an asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not separated from
the host. Instead, the entire hybrid contract is assessed for
classification.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at
FVPL only if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise
arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains
or losses on them on different bases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

The Group’s financial assets mandatorily measured at FVPL
include the unlisted investments in principal guaranteed funds.

Classification and measurement — applicable before 1 April 2018

Financial assets are initially recognised at their fair value plus,
in the case of financial assets not carried at FVPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial assets.

The Group classified its financial assets into the following
category before 1 April 2018:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables including security deposit, trade and
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market and are not held for
trading. They are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, except where receivables are interest-free
loans and without any fixed repayment term or the effect of
discounting would be insignificant. In such case, the receivables
are stated at cost less impairment loss. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition over the period to maturity. Gains and losses arising
from derecognition, impairment or through the amortisation
process are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the
liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus,
in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL, transaction
costs that are direct attributable to the issue of the financial
liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
interest-bearing borrowings and convertible bond designated
as financial liabilities at FVPL. All financial liabilities, except for
convertible bond designated as financial liabilities at FVPL, are
recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, unless
the effect of discounting would be insignificant, in which case
they are stated at cost.

Financial liabilities at FVPL include financial liabilities held for
trading, financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as
at FVPL and financial liabilities that are contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies. They are carried at fair value, with any resultant gain
and loss recognised in profit or loss, except for the portion of fair
value changes of financial liabilities designated at FVPL that are
attributable to the credit risk of the liabilities which is presented
in other comprehensive income unless such treatment would
create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. The
amounts presented in other comprehensive income shall not be
subsequently transferred to profit or loss. Before the adoption
of HKFRS 9, all the fair value gain or loss of financial liabilities at
FVPL is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i)

(i)

incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in
the near term;

part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that
are managed together and for which there is evidence of
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on initial
recognition; or

a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or not
a designated and effective hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities are designated at initial recognition as at FVPL
only if:

(i)

(i)

the designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains or losses on them on different
bases;

they are part of a group of financial liabilities or financial
assets and financial liabilities that are managed and
their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with a documented risk management
strategy; or

they contain one or more embedded derivatives, in which
case the entire hybrid contract may be designated as a
financial liability at FVPL, except where the embedded
derivatives do not significantly modify the cash flows or
it is clear that separation of the embedded derivatives is
prohibited.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

The convertible bond issued by the Group (including related
embedded derivative) is designated as financial liabilities at
FVPL on initial recognition. Subsequent to the initial recognition,
the entire convertible bond is measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise except for the changes in fair value attributable
to the changes of the credit risk of the liabilities.

Interest expenses is recognised on an effective interest basis
other than financial liabilities classified as at FVPL.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Derivatives embedded in a hybrid contract with a host that is not
an asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 are treated as separate
derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative, their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to
those of the host, and the hybrid contract is not measured at
FVPL.

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9

Applicable from 1 April 2018

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECL”) on financial assets that are measured at
amortised cost which the impairment requirements apply in
accordance with HKFRS 9. Except for the specific treatments
as detailed below, at each reporting date, the Group measures
a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to
the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit risk
on a financial asset has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that
financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (continued)

Applicable from 1 April 2018 (continued)

Measurement of ECL (continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument
while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the past due information or
other credit risk characteristics.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial
instrument that meets any of the following criteria:

(i) information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(i) there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (continued)

Applicable from 1 April 2018 (continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due,
except for which the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate.

Low credit risk
A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i)  the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(i)  adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (continued)

Applicable from 1 April 2018 (continued)

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a
simplified approach in calculating ECL. The Group recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date and
has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data about
the following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.

(o) abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

()  the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (continued)

Applicable from 1 April 2018 (continued)

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no
reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual cash
flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The
Group expects no significant recovery from the amount written
off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s procedures
for recovery of amounts due, taking into account legal advice if
appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is recognised in profit or
loss.

Applicable before 1 April 2018

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether there is objective evidence that financial assets, other
than those at FVPL, are impaired. The impairment loss of
financial assets carried at amortised cost is measured as the
difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flow discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate. Such impairment loss
is reversed in subsequent periods through profit or loss when
an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was
recognised, subject to a restriction that the carrying amount
of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows.

Revenue recognition

Dividend income

Dividend income from financial assets is recognised when the
Group’s rights to receive dividend is established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

Applicable from 1 April 2018

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the assets while
it is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount
net of loss allowance) in case of credit-impaired financial assets.

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
Nature of goods or services

The nature of goods or services provided by the Group is (i)
sales of coals; and (i) renewable energy services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Applicable from 1 April 2018 (continued)

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or
services promised in a contract with a customer and identify
as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the
customer either:

(@) agood or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct; or

(b)  a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same and that have the same pattern of transfer to the
customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if
both of the following criteria are met:

(@ the customer can benefit from the good or service either
on its own or together with other resources that are
readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service
is capable of being distinct); and

(b)  the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service to the
customer is separately identifiable from other promises
in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or
service is distinct within the context of the contract).

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or
service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred
when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Applicable from 1 April 2018 (continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (continued)

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
(for example, work in progress) that the customer controls
as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group
satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining
when the transfer of control occurs, the Group considers the
concept of control and such indicators as legal title, physical
possession, right to payment, significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Sales of coals are recognised at a point in time at which the
customer obtains the control of the promised asset, which
generally coincides with the time when the goods are delivered
to customers and the title is passed.

Service income from renewable energy services is recognised
over time when services are rendered.

TESTBER(E)

MRS ()
B=Z—-NFMA—HEEH &)
Yoz ERRHIBFET (48

WEFE TIME— M - AEBEE—E
RIS S SR A B4
YR E-BRERRBRITEORS R
HERUA

(@) BEPEAKBEREQNREESGR

HEABASRBRENREHENF

b) AEENENITRAEIRRE
PEEEWRAIE N R EZES
MEE(IERTRE) %

© AKENEDTRAARENEIA
ARAEEARBEARENE
E - WAARKEEER SR
B FERK BB K9 EE 0 WCBURRIR ©

WE—BREBRARERBITEOEE
AR EE R T PEUS AL B E R
ROKBHETENEME RETE
B VRS RS - AN EZ R
BB ARAERBGHE - B
B AREN - BEMBENERE
N MERIA R B AR R HHEAR o

BRIHEN T P RGAEEENES

RHERHM(—REERAEF MR
B #EEE X BV B FRVAR AT ) RERR

A] 5 A4 B TR AR 75 2 AR TS MR A R £ AR
TERHER o

Annual Report 2019 4

139



140

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Applicable from 1 April 2018 (continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (continued)

For revenue recognised over time under HKFRS 15, provided
the outcome of the performance obligation can be reasonably
measured, the Group applies the output method (i.e. based on
the direct measurements of the value to the customer of the
goods or services transferred to date relative to the remaining
goods or services promised under the contract) to measure
the progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation because the method provides a faithful depiction of
the Group’s performance and reliable information is available
to the Group to apply the method. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised only to the extent of the costs incurred until such
time that it can reasonably measure the outcome of the
performance obligation.

The principal output applied in the output method for service
income of renewable energy services is unit of energy
produced.

Transaction price: significant financing components

When the contract contains a significant financing component
(i.e. the customer or the Group is provided with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer), in determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised consideration for the effects of the
time value of money. The effect of the significant financing
component is recognised as an interest income or interest
expense separately from revenue from contracts with
customers in profit or loss.

The Group determines the interest rate that is commensurate
with the rate that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and its customer at contract
inception by reference to, where appropriate, the interest rate
implicit in the contract (i.e. the interest rate that discounts the
cash selling price of the goods or services to the amount paid
in advance or arrears), the prevailing market interest rates, the
Group’s borrowing rates and other relevant creditworthiness
information of the customer of the Group.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for the
effect of the significant financing component if the period of
financing is one year or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Applicable before 1 April 2018

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is recognised when the
account can be reliably measured: when it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the Group and when
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities
as described below.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised on the transfer of
risks and rewards of ownership, which generally coincides with
the time when the goods are delivered to customers and the title
has passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a timely
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, the contract is presented as a contract asset,
excluding any amounts presented as a receivable. Conversely,
if a customer pays consideration, or the Group has a right to
an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the
Group transfers a good or service to the customer, the contract
is presented as a contract liability when the payment is made
or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is
the Group’s right to consideration that is unconditional or
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (continued)
For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
Contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts
are not presented on a net basis.

For the Group’s businesses, it is common for the Group to
receive from the customer the whole or some of the contractual
payments before the services are completed or when the goods
are delivered (i.e. the timing of revenue recognition for such
transactions). The Group recognises a contract liability until it
is recognised as revenue. During that period, any significant
financing components, if applicable, will be included in the
contract liability and will be expensed as accrued unless the
interest expense is eligible for capitalisation.

The Group’s billing to its customers which are largely in line with
the timing of revenue recognition and no significant contract
assets are recognised. Contract liabilities in relation to advances
from customers are recognised under “Trade and other
payables”.

Foreign currency translation

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) for the convenience of
the shareholders as the Company is listed in Hong Kong. The
Company’s functional currency is Renminbi (‘RMB”).

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-Z-NF=A=+—-HLEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Foreign currency translation (continued)
The results and financial position of all the group entities that
have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency (“foreign operations”) are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

° assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented, are translated at the closing rate at the
end of each reporting period;

o income and expenses for each statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rate;

o all resulting exchange differences arising from the
above translation and exchange differences arising
from a monetary item that forms part of the Group’s net
investment in a foreign operation are recognised as a
separate component of equity;

° on the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes
a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation and a disposal involving the loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating
to the foreign operation that is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the separate
component of equity is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss when the gain or loss on disposal is recognised;

° on the partial disposal of the Group’s interest in a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation which does
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences recognised in the separate
component of equity is re-attributed to the non-controlling
interests in that foreign operation and are not reclassified
to profit or loss; and

° on all other partial disposals, which includes partial
disposal of associates or joint ventures that do not result
in the Group losing significant influence or joint control,
the proportionate share of the cumulative amount
of exchange differences recognised in the separate
component of equity is reclassified to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in
which the reversal occurs.

Impairment of other assets, other than goodwill
Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment;
- intangible assets;

- prepayments for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment; and

- investment in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of
financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of other assets, other than goodwill
(continued)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value
less costs of disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of
assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e., a cash-
generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of units)
on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss
in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior periods. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the period in which the
reversals are recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of other assets, other than goodwill
(continued)

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets

The carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is
reviewed at least annually and whenever there is an indication
that they may be impaired. Impairment test is performed in
accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets whenever one
of the following events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable (the list is not
exhaustive):

- the period for which the entity has the right to explore
in the specific area has expired during the period or
will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be
renewed;

- substantive expenditure on further exploration for and
evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area is
neither budgeted nor planned;

- exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area have not led to the discovery of commercially
viable quantities of mineral resources and the entity has
decided to discontinue such activities in the specific area;
or

- sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed,
the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation
asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful
development or by sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of other assets, other than goodwill
(continued)

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets
(continued)

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the period in which the
reversals are recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset
is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are interrupted or complete.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of
the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Provision for close down, restoration and environmental
costs

One consequence of coal mining is land subsidence caused
by the resettlement of the land at the mining sites. Depending
on the circumstances, the Group may relocate inhabitants from
the mining sites prior to conducting mining activities or the
Group may compensate the inhabitants for losses or damage
from close down and land subsidence after the sites have been
mined. The Group may also be required to make payments for
restoration, rehabilitation or environmental protection of the land
after the sites have been mined.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)
Provision for close down, restoration and environmental
costs (continued)

Close down and restoration costs include the dismantling and
demolition of infrastructure and the removal of residual materials
and remediation of disturbed areas. Close down and restoration
costs are provided in the accounting period when the obligation
arising from the related disturbance occurs, whether this occurs
during mine development or during the production phase,
based on the net present value of estimated future costs. The
cost is capitalised where it gives rise to future benefits, whether
the rehabilitation activity is expected to occur over the life of
the operation or at the time of close down. The capitalised cost
other than that is included in the cost of inventories is amortised
over the life of the operation and the increase in the net present
value of the provision is included in borrowing costs or other
items where appropriate.

Where there is a change in the expected decommissioning
and restoration costs, an adjustment is recorded against the
carrying value of the provision and related assets, and the effect
is then recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on a prospective basis
over the remaining life of the operation except for the portion
included in the cost of inventories. Provisions for close down
and restoration costs do not include any additional obligations
which are expected to arise from future disturbance. The cost
estimates are reviewed and revised at the end of the reporting
period to reflect changes in conditions.

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset
or assets for an agreed period of time in return for a payment
or a series of payments. Such a determination is made based
on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is
regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a
lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Leased assets (continued)

(i)

Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held under
finance leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group
are classified as operating leases, with the following
exceptions:

property held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property is classified as an investment property
on a property-by-property basis and, if classified
as investment property, is accounted for as if held
under a finance lease; and

land held for own use under an operating lease, the
fair value of which cannot be measured separately
from the fair value of a building situated thereon at
the inception of the lease, is accounted for as being
held under a finance lease, unless the building is
also clearly held under an operating lease. For these
purposes, the inception of the lease is the time that
the lease was first entered into by the Group, or
taken over from the previous lessee.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED & REXER AT

2.

FE

SETEE (&)

HEEE(E)

U

HETFAEEEEZTH
MASEREEERAZEER
AR Z B R e [
BEASER HENERRE
BMEMERA - BHERZBAE
DR N BRI T BB ERE
BHEESERKEHEE T
FIIFERRAM -

- HREKEHEREZY
EURTTHARENEZ
EE - ARERMEZE
EDFERREME - MK
DERREME - RIEL
REREBEREAK:
K

- RELEHERFERZ
i MEAFEEERR
RELESZZBFRE
EEME 2 AT ED R
2 AT HRIRERE
HERBAAR  HEHE
FOHABBREELEHE
FABEERBGIGN o Btk
o HEARZERER/R
SEBERILEEZR
B RUEERAEAKE
HEZ R -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Leased assets (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance
leases, the amounts representing the fair value of the
leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum
lease payments, of such assets are included in property,
plant and equipment and the corresponding liabilities,
net of finance charges, are recorded as obligations
under finance leases. Depreciation is provided at rates
which write off the cost of the assets over the term of the
relevant lease or, where it is likely the Group will obtain
ownership of the asset, the life of the asset. Impairment
losses are accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy. Finance charges implicit in the lease
payments are charged to profit or loss over the period of
the leases so as to produce an approximately constant
periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the
obligations for each accounting period. Contingent rentals
are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged
to profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease
incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made.
Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease
is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease term except where the property is classified as an
investment property.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which the
associated services are rendered by employees.

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement scheme in Hong Kong are recognised as expense
in profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the Group’s entities established in
Hong Kong in an independently administered fund.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”), the employees of the Group’s
entities established in the PRC are required to participate
in defined contribution retirement plans organised by local
governments. Contributions to those plans are expensed as
incurred and other than these monthly contributions, the Group
has no further obligation for the payment of retirement benefits
to its employees.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when it recognizes restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Share-based payment

Share options granted by the Company to directors and
employees of the Company

For grants of share options that are conditional upon satisfying
specified vesting conditions, the fair value of services received
is determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the date of grant and is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the
fair value of the share options granted is expensed immediately
to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results
for the period as adjusted for items that are non-assessable
or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of each reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the Historical Financial Information. However,
any deferred tax arising from initial recognition of goodwill; or
other asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss is not recognised.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and credits can
be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
investment in subsidiaries and associates, except where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences is controlled
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Related parties
A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(@)

(b)

(i)
(ii
(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the holding company of the Group.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

U

(i)

(i)

(v)

(i)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each holding company,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)() has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a holding
company of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to holding company of the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(@  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes
subsidiaries of the joint venture.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s executive
directors for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial period.

Reserve estimates

Reserves are estimates of the amount of products that can
be economically and legally extracted from the Group’s
coal reserves. In order to calculate reserves, estimates and
assumptions are required about a range of geological, technical
and economic factors, including quantities, grades, production
techniques, recovery rates, production costs, transport costs,
commodity demand and commodity prices. Estimating the
quantity and/or grade of reserves requires the size, shape and
depth of ore bodies or fields to be determined by analysing
geological data such as drilling samples. This process may
require complex and difficult geological judgements and
calculations to interpret the data.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Reserve estimates (continued)

Because the economic assumptions used to estimate reserves
change from period to period, and because additional
geological data is generated during the course of operations,
estimates of reserves may change from period to period.
Changes in reported reserves may affect the Group’s financial
results and financial position in a number of ways, including the
following:

(i) asset carrying values may be affected due to changes in
estimated future cash flows.

(i)  depreciation, depletion and amortisation charged to
the profit or loss may change where such charges are
determined by the units of production basis, or where the
useful economic lives of assets change.

(i)  decommissioning, site restoration and environmental
provisions may change where changes in estimated
reserves affect expectations about the timing or cost of
these activities.

(iv)  the carrying value of deferred tax may change as a result
of changes in the asset carrying values as discussed
above.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED & REXER AT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

B3 52 = 5t ) i % {5t 1 BA B
EZEERR(HE)

T R EE 2 T2 HR (E)
1#E T (&)

MR G REMBEERRSEET
FIEAE ek - g EBEP I
EEMERE - fHEMTHEET
RBAEMEMES - ERHEEZE
AREARIDEFEARE M EA
REFTSIOR - P B TSR

) BAfFRKRESREZZE AL
FEEERME -

() IHTE  FERR R R
BUARETINEE - RAEY
A P E IR A R+ 1A
2RI 2 HTE - FORB BT
BEHED -

(i) fHfEFHEFEZ REFERM - &
SR SRR TRRHZ B RIR
A - PR TBISEE FIRIR
BiBRIREAES -

(V) RAERE 2 BEEAERE L
ey BEBEERETA NS
& o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Carrying value of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets

The Group’s property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets (exclude exploration and evaluation assets classified
as intangible assets) are carried at cost less accumulated
depreciation and amortisation and impairment losses,
where appropriate. These carrying amounts are reviewed
for impairment whenever internal and external sources of
information indicate that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In estimating
the recoverable amounts of assets, various assumptions,
including future cash flows to be associated with the non-
current assets and discount rates, are made. If future events
do not correspond to such assumptions, the recoverable
amounts will need to be revised, and this may have an impact
on the Group’s results of operations or financial position.
The impairment assessment of the Group’s mining right and
exploration and evaluation assets included in intangible assets is
further discussed below.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of mining right and exploration and evaluation
assets

The Group assesses each cash generating unit annually to
determine whether any indication of impairment exists, which
included internal and external sources of information for
mining right, and facts and circumstances for exploration and
evaluation assets. Where an indicator of impairment exists,
a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is made, which
is considered to be the higher of the fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. These assessments require the use
of estimates and assumptions such as long-term commaodity
prices, discount rates, future capital requirements, exploration
potential and operating performance. It is difficult to precisely
estimate fair value because quoted market prices are not
readily available. In determining the value in use, expected cash
flows generated by the asset are discounted to their present
value, which require significant judgement and estimates such
as sale volume, selling price and amount of operating costs.
Management has assessed its cash generating units as being
an individual mine site, which is the lowest level for which cash
flows are largely independent of other assets.

Fair value measurements and valuation process

The Group’s convertible bond is measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes. The directors of the Company
have to determine the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair value measurements and valuation process
(continued)

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party
qualified valuer to perform the valuation. The directors of the
Company work closely with the qualified external valuer to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that
are not based on observable market data to estimate the fair
value of certain types of financial instruments. Note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements provides detailed information
about the valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions
used in the determination of the fair value of various assets and
liabilities.

Changes in subjective input assumptions can materially affect
the fair value estimate.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The directors of the Company determine the estimated useful
lives and related depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment of
similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as
a result of technical innovations and competitor actions in
response to severe industry cycles. Management will increase
the depreciation charges where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives, or it will write off or write down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Write down of inventories

The directors of the Company review the ageing analysis of
inventories at the end of each reporting period, and makes
allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventory items
identified that are no longer suitable for use in production or
sales. The directors of the Company estimate the net realisable
value for consumables and coals based primarily on the latest
invoice prices and current market conditions. The Group carries
out an inventory review on a item-by-item basis at the end of
each reporting period and makes allowance for obsolete items.

Provision for close down, restoration and environmental
costs

The provision for close down, restoration and environmental
costs is determined by the directors of the Company based
on their past experience and best estimation of future
expenditures, after taking into account existing relevant in the
PRC regulations. However, in so far as the effect on the land
and the environment from current mining activities becomes
apparent in future periods, the estimate of the associated costs
may be subject to revision from time to time.

Recognition of deferred tax assets

The Group has recognised deferred tax assets which arose
from deductible temporary differences. The realisability of the
deferred tax assets mainly depends on whether it is probable
that future taxable profits or taxable temporary differences will
be available against which the assets can be utilised. In cases
where the actual future taxable profits or taxable temporary
differences generated are less than expected, a reversal of
deferred tax assets may arise, which will be recognised in profit
or loss for the period in which such reversal takes place.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being identified as the chief operating decision makers
(the “CODM”), for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of
goods delivered or services rendered. No operating segments
identified by the CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments are
as follows:

(1) coal mining business segment: mining and sales of coals
in the PRC; and

(2)  renewable energy business segment: service income from
renewable energy services in Malaysia.

Segment revenue and results

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Segment revenue represents revenue derived from (i) coal
mining business and (i) renewable energy business.

Segment results, which are the measures reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance, represent the profit
earned or loss incurred by each segment without allocation of
change in fair value of convertible bond designated as financial
liabilities at FVPL and exchange loss or gain.

Segment assets include property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, goodwill, security deposit, deferred tax
assets, inventories, financial assets measured at FVPL, trade
and other receivables, restricted bank balances and cash and
cash equivalents. All assets are allocated to operating segments
other than unallocated head office and corporate assets as
these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities include convertible bond designated as
financial liabilities at FVPL, trade and other payables, interest-
bearing borrowings, tax payables, provision for close down,
restoration and environmental costs and deferred tax liabilities.
All liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these
liabilities are managed on a group basis.

In addition, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s place of domicile is Hong Kong, where the central
management and control is located.
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4,
Segment revenue and results (continued)

a *Eﬁ*’l' ( nﬂ)
PEWEREEGE)

The followings are analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by reportable and operating segments:

LATE$’$ B ] s R D
BN EED

7 R

Coal Renewable

mining energy
business business  Unallocated Total

AEE
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR THET THET THET

Year ended 31 March 2019 HEZ-E-h&E=A=1t—-H
LEE

Revenue from external customers

RENPEF 2 Wizh B Al e

and reportable segment revenue DEElES 75,234 391 - 75,625
Gross profit EF 30,867 216 - 31,083
Seling and distrioution expenses ~ HERDHER (474) - - (474)
Segment results DIEEE 30,393 216 - 30,609
Other revenue Hiplizs 8,865 - 1,573 10,438
Administrative and THERAMKZER

other operating expenses (14,099) (261) (14,328) (28,688)
Finance costs BEMA (964) = = (964)
Change in fair value of convertible 1572 A1 A FESIBR T 1B R

bond designated as financial BESRBETERES

liabilities at FVPL ZDTEED - - 29,373 29,373
Exchange loss, net [EREETSE = = (6,175) (6,175)
Profit/(Loss) before tax BHRETERM,/ (E8) 24,195 45) 10,443 34,593
Income tax expenses FrigHAx (5,750) - - (5,750)
Profit/(Loss) for the year FNEF/(B8B) 18,445 (45) 10,443 28,843
Additional segment information: Bt BEH -

Amortisation ey 4,659 26 - 4,685
Depreciation e 2,141 117 98 2,356
Additions to property, RENE - BELEHE

plant and equipment 40,199 - 242 40,441

Additions to intangible assets NEEEE - 1,618 - 1,618
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4.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment revenue and results (continued)

4. 7
iy

R

Coal Renewable

Bl K SRAR ()

x

mining energy
business business  Unallocated Total
EEES
REES ERER RO &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THEL THT THT
Year ended 31 March 2018 BE-Z-N\E=A=1+-H
LFE
Revenue from external customers R BEIMIEE 2 WK
and reportable segment revenue  AJERE S EEE 182,445 - - 182,445
Gross profit E7 52,047 - - 52,047
Selling and distribution expenses HERDEER (414) - - (414)
Impairment loss on property, ¥ - BELEERERE
plant and equipment (3,511) - - (3,511)
Impairment loss on intangible assets &4 & HIEE B (12,618) - - (12,618)
Segment results GECES 35,504 - - 35,504
Other revenue Hiplizs 5,424 - 908 6,332
Administrative and THRAMEZER
other operating expenses (12,491) - (9,965) (22,456)
Change in fair value of convertidle 16T AR AT ENRITEERZA
bond designated as financial REZEMBETRRES
liabilties at FVPL ZATHEED - - 14,374 14,374
Exchange gain, net BE Uz 35 - - 8,866 8,866
Profit before tax B AR A 28,437 - 14,183 42,620
Income tax expenses FEHRAX (5,942) - - (5,942)
Profit for the year FREH 22,495 - 14,183 36,678
Additional segment information: EMrBEN
Amortisation i3] 5,478 - - 5478
Depreciation nE 2,968 - 54 3,022
Additions to property, RENE  BEREHE
plant and equipment 4,167 - - 4,167
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-Z-NF=A=+—-HLEE

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED & REXER AT

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4, DEER(E
Segment revenue and results (continued) DHENGERFEE(E)
Coal  Renewable
mining energy
business business  Unallocated Total
TEE
RIEER BORER AAE “@st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET TET TET
As at 31 March 2019 R-B-AFE=A=+—H
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEREE 45,507 5,618 245 51,370
Intangible assets B EE 16,913 1,592 = 18,505
Goodwill e - 4,229 - 4,229
Other assets HiEE 327,299 1,340 133,401 462,040
Total assets BEE 389,719 12,779 133,646 536,144
Convertible bond designated as EEARATEIIRTEEEA
financial liabilities at FVPL REzeBAR TBRRES - - (217,869) (217,869)
Other liabilities HitBE (129,435) (1,084) (3,079) (133,592)
Total liabilties BEE (129,435) (1,084) (220942  (351,461)
As at 31 March 2018 RZE-N\E=A=+-H
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENERE 9,060 - 106 9,166
Intangible assets EVEE 23,095 - - 23,005
Goodwill S - - - _
Other assets HtEE 306,415 - 155,044 461,459
Total assets BEE 338,570 - 155,150 493,720
Convertible bond designated as EEARATENET RSN
financial liabilities at FVPL RE7eRBRETARES - - (247,242) (047,242)
Other liabilities HipEfE (79,669) - (1,093) (80,762)
Total liabilities gaiE (79,669) - (248,335) (328,004)
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BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. DEER(E

Geographical information IR E R

The following table sets out information about the geographical TREH()\AEERBINSRE 2 s
location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external customers LA EEYZE - BEREE - BF
and (i) the Group’s property, plant and equipment, intangible BE EE - TARERES RKED
assets, goodwill, non-refundable deposits and prepayment for %2 . BMELRBREZENTIE([IETEIE
acquisition of property, plant and equipment (“Specified Non- TREVEE DMIBAE 2 ER o WESH
current Assets”). The geographical location of the revenue BUNEEREFMNEZY - IR
is presented based on the location of the customers. The BECHEBMEREEZERUESR
geographical location of the Specified Non-current Assets is 5l o

presented based on the physical location of the assets.

Location of revenue W lvE
Revenue from external customers KEINEFZ Wam

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLEFE

2019 2018
—z—ng TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FAT
The PRC A 75,234 182,445
Malaysia 2R Tn 391 -
75,625 182,445
Location of the Specified Non-current Assets EEHFREBEENE

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTHEx FATT
The PRC Hh 84,486 34,759
Malaysia BRFEE 11,439 -
95,925 34,759
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4, SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. HEER(E
Information about major customers EREFEREFZER
Revenue from external customers contributing 10% or more of 14 IRZE10% 3 A EBISNER R P A9 Uik
the total revenue is as follow: =R

2019 2018
—B-hE —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAET
Customer A from coal mining REBREXBDELEPA
business segment 56,661 70,563
Customer B from coal mining REREEEDEZ2EFB
business segment * 48,980
Customer C from coal mining RERBEBEBDBE2EFC
business segment * 18,284
*  The corresponding revenue did not contribute 10% or * HE_ZT-NAF=A=1+—H1t
more of the total revenue of the Group during the year FE - HEKRSTEEREZZ
ended 31 March 2019. WEs10% kA £ ©
5. REVENUE 5 Wz
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E— N\
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FBT
Revenue from contracts with BAUBHREENE155
customers within HKFRS 15 RERFEH W
Coal mining business RIEER
— Sales of coals —SHER R 75,234 182,445
Renewable energy business A EAERRER
— Service income from — A BERERREZ
renewable energy services BRAGULA 391 -

75,625 182,445
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BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

5. REVENUE (continued) 5 W= (&)
In addition to the information shown in segment disclosures, DB BRI - BB
the revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 is BHmELEBEISRREZFELH 2
disaggregated as follows: #HIEAT AR
2019 2018
—B-hE —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAET
Timing of revenue recognition: Wozs A -
- at a point in time - RE—FEE
Sales of coals SHE 75,234 182,445
- over time —HERFREER
Service income from Al EARERIRS 2
renewable energy services BRTE WA 391 -
75,625 182,445
6. OTHER REVENUE 6.
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Interest income on bank deposits RITFRZ AEBMA 4,343 2,598
Investment income from financial assets %A A 5IBR I FE 1825 N R I8
measured at FVPL ZEREEZIREWRA - 1,724
Sales of coal gangue HEETA 5,709 1,752
Others Hib 386 258

10,438 6,332
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-Z-NF=A=+—-HLEE

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7.
This is stated at after charging/(crediting):

BREE AR A
BB AR R E kR (GEA) TFIR IR

‘27 :

Finance costs
Interest on interest-bearing borrowings

Staff costs

Staff costs (excluding directors’
remuneration (Note 11))

Basic salaries, allowance and other
short-term employee benefits

Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plan

Other items

Amortisation of intangible assets
(charged to “cost of services and
goods sold”)

Auditor’s remuneration
— audit services
— other services

Cost of inventories sold

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Exchange loss/(gain) on financial
liabilities at FVPL, net

Other net exchange (gain)/loss, net
Operating lease payments
Impairment loss on property,

plant and equipment
Impairment loss on intangible assets
Loss on disposal of property,

plant and equipment

BERA
SHEEENS

BIRA
BTAHAR

(BB (HIFE11)BRIN)
HAHS 2R
HEmRaEE R

JE B RET SR

Hitt®gE
B EEH#H
(R TEERBR
E R A R I0RR)
ZEE =
— 2B
— AR

HEFEMRA
W BERRETE

BAHESIRT AR

NEEsERAGEER
B1R(Was ) F#5R

HAOE R (Was) /B85
REMEFR
M - BB RRERERR

BV EERERRE

HEME - BELREZER

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED & REXER AT

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)\F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
964 -
9,885 9,278
1,028 088
10,913 10,266
4,685 5,478
1,050 700
1,080 180
2,130 880
44,542 130,398
2,356 3,022
16,340 (23,569)
(10,165) 14,703
2,318 2,560
= 3,511

= 12,618

979 132
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-Z-NF=A=+—-HLEE

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

8.

Income tax expenses comprise: FrSBimaiE :
The PRC Enterprise Income Tax R ZEFTIS

— current year —ARFE

— under-provision in prior years —BEFEBETR
Deferred tax (Note 28) IRIERIIA (MI3528)

- Reversal of temporary difference — ETRE =R R[]

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as there was
no estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for both
years. Where there is Hong Kong assessable profits, Hong
Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profits.

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda and is exempted
from income tax. The Company’s subsidiaries established in the
British Virgin Islands and Samoa are exempted from income tax
of the respective jurisdictions.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Malaysia corporate income tax is calculated at the rate of
24% of the Group’s estimated assessable profits arising from
Malaysia during the year ended 31 March 2019.

FrisBiRa

2019 2018

S8 ==
HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FETT

5,948 15,871

- 201

5,948 16,072
(198) (10,130)

5,750 5,942

ARMEEER - WEREBEER
STERBURF] - B B EFEH
EL B - WERB BB ERBUR
F - BB BRI BRI T R R T
Z16.5%RETHE o

AR BIR B5 E E M B L R A
MBS - ARAREB R LB
ENEEGKIZ B RBERRH
N RIAHEE PTG R

REBFBEERMAEHRA(REMEH
EDREERMBRAZERES - &+
B B A AR EFE 2 R R25% ©

BRAGCEMBRIEZASEERE—

E-NFZA=1T—HLFERES
KPR H (R ERREUG FH24%A1 H o
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INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)
The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the

profit before tax as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

Frig iR > (&)
AR R PSR 3T B R B AT S A 2 ¥
BRI

Profit before tax

Notional tax on profit before tax,
calculated at the rates applicable to
profit in the countries concerned

Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purposes

Tax effect of income not taxable
for tax purpose

Under-provision in prior years

Others

Income tax expenses for the year

DIVIDEND

BRI A2 A

RRERBEFKESENZ
SRR E RS 2

HEBIA
TMEHIB R 2 R &

BERRWAZRGZ &

BEFERETTE
HAl

AEFEMEHFAX

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31
March 2019, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end
of the current reporting period (2018: Nil).

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED & REXER AT

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)\F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FAET
34,593 42,620
7,772 9,452
2,572 1,720
(4,855) (5,437)

= 201

261 6
5,750 5,942

9=
RBE-ZF-NFZA=T—HLF
JE RBL RN MR AR -
B AN & HA R DA R I B 5 R )
BRE(ZZ—N\F : #&) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-Z-NF=A=+—-HLEE

10. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 10.
(@) Basic earnings per share
The calculation of the basic earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company for the year is
based on the following data:

BRER,(EE)

(GY)

Profit gl

Profit for the purpose of basic UGt EGRERERN 2
earnings per share (Profit for the SR (ARAREEE A
year attributable to owners of the FEMEFARF)
Company)

Weighted average number of EZERMETTE

ordinary shares

Weighted average number of ordinary FRUASTEGRREREFZ
shares for the purpose of TEEA INE ST 8
basic earnings per share

BRELXRBF
ARARHRENEBEFRTRER
BN TIRE T 5 BB E -

2019 2018
—z-n7 I
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT FHT

28,843 36,678

765,373,584 765,373,584
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

10. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (continued) 10. BRER,(EE) (&)
(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (b) BREERR(EE)
The calculation of the diluted earnings/(loss) per share RARHEE ANEHFATIRES
attributable to the owners of the Company for the year is A/ (E1R) iR T 5 &g
based on the following data: i
(i)  Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners of ()  AREHEBAELER
the Company FIL(E5#8)

2019 2018
—E-hF —TN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
Tz TAET

Profit for the year attributable to KAREEE AFEML

owners of the Company FREF 28,843 36,678
Change in fair value of AR ERF2
convertible bond NEEED) (29,373) (14,374)
Exchange loss/(gain) on AgRES BN
convertible bond B8 (E) 16,340 (23,569)
15,810 (1,265)
(i)  Weighted average number of ordinary shares (i) BB IEFTE
2019 2018
—B-hE —T-N\F
Number of Number of
shares shares
BAEE e B
Weighted average number of G EGREREN]
ordinary shares for the purpose of 7 @R ANFEFHE
basic earnings per share 765,373,584 765,373,584
Effect of conversion of convertible — EIA[HAR{E A 2
bond e 1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000
Weighted average number of ARG EgkEER
ordinary shares for the purpose of ¥ /(18 ) 2 L i@k
diluted earnings/(loss) per share INRESE 8L 1,765,373,584 1,765,373,584
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BE-Z-NF=A=+—-HLEE

11. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF 1. EBREEEFREBREEFA
DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID +22EHR
INDIVIDUALS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) E=FHN
The aggregate amounts of remuneration received and RRElERD IR ER . Fife
receivable by the directors of the Company are as follows: EERUI N
Other emoluments
Rtie
Salaries, Retirement
allowance and benefits
other short-term scheme
Fees employee benefits contributions Total
2R A Bienl
ne KHESER SRS a5
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
ThL Thn TEn T
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z-NF=R=t-BLEE
Executive directors: 8%
LoFong Hung (Note a) B %I(MT a) - S o -
Wang Xiangfel (with Wong Sze Wai as afterate director) E?ﬂﬂ(f@”ﬁﬁ“ﬁii) 781 - 781
Kwan Man Fai 1,049 - - 1,049
Wong Sze Wai (Note b) I (Bisih) - 218 6 224
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHTES .
Wong Man Hin, Raymond EVE 336 - - 336
Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey [ 336 - - 336
Pak Wai Keung, Martin BE% 336 - - 336
2,057 999 6 3,062
For the year ended 31 March 2018 HE-Z3-N\F=A=t-BLEE
Executive directors: HTESE:
LoFong Hung Bl - 528 18 546
Wang Xiangfel TR - 528 - 528
Kwan Man Fai BE 79 - - 792
Alterate director: BRER .
Wong Sze Wai (alternate to Wang Xiangfel) (Note ¢) T (BRIIR) (k) - - - -
Independent non-executive directors: ﬁﬁ;ﬁﬂ TEE:
Wong Man Hin, Raymond 336 - - 336
Lam Ka Wai, Graham (Note d) MMX(W%) 168 - - 168
Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey 336 - - 336
Pak Wai Keung, Martin (Note ¢) BES (Mﬁe) 179 - - 179
1,811 1,056 18 2,885
Notes: PEE
(@  On 20 November 2018, the office of Lo Fong Hung was @ RNZT-NEFE+—-A=+H"
vacated. 1 ZI WA EHERS o

(b) On 20 November 2018, Wong Sze Wai was appointed as an
executive director of the Company.

(©) On 18 July 2017, Wong Sze Wai was appointed as an
alternate director (alternate to Wang Xiangfei) of the Company.

(d) On 7 September 2017, Lam Ka Wai, Graham retired as an
independent non-executive director of the Company.

(e On 19 September 2017, Pak Wai Keung, Martin was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company.

) RZZ-—NF+—AZ-+H
%g%ﬁ%%ﬁcﬁ$@ﬂz%ﬂﬁ

© WKR=ZT—tFtA+NRA =X
MRS TAERARZERE
H(BEREIR) -

d RZZ—+tHFHLAELA  #KX
R AERAREN I TES -

e RZZT—tFNA+NA A
BREZTARARBILIEHR
TESE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-Z-NF=A=+—-HLEE

11. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (2018: three) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are set out above. The emoluments
of the remaining three (2018: two) highest paid individuals
were as follows:

1. EBREEEFREBEEFA

Tt2ER (&
(b) BEBESHAL

Salaries, allowances and e EMK
other short-term employee benefits HEib R EEB &R

Contributions to defined TERB IR BIHEFR

contribution plan

The emoluments of the three (2018: two) highest paid
non-directors fall in the following bands:

RAEEREZRSHALT M
#2(ZE-)N\F: ZR)RART
B HMEHN X - % T=
H(ZF-)N\F  MB)ZESFA
TZMemT

2019 2018
s ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
FB TBT
1,862 1,660

52 38

1,914 1,698

Nil — HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000

£ 21,000,000/7T
1,000,001 87T 2
1,600,000/ 7T

No emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to
the directors of the Company or the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office during
the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018. There
was no arrangement under which a director or the five
highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any
remunerations for the years ended 31 March 2019 and
2018.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED & REXER AT

=Z(ZE-N\F : MB)&=#
HFEZIZHMENTFTIMEE
:

Number of individuals

AZ

RBE-_Z-NER-_ZT-N\F
ZA=tT—HLEFE  AKEY
BAARABRESRARRRHA
ITXNHENBE - AMERKSF
MBEAREE SR NBAEEEZ
RE) O MERWFZBBEE -
RBE-_Z-NER_FT-N\F
ZA=1T—HLFE  SEEF
ERESSARARSHFALHRE
KRB EETFHIZ 25 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

11. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(©)

(d)

Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour
of directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour
of the directors of the Company that were entered into
or subsisted during the years ended 31 March 2019 and
2018.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

After consideration, the directors of the Company are
of the opinion that no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s
business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company, or connected entity
of the directors of the Company, had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year ended 31 March 2019 or at any time during the years
ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

1. ARESEARIBREFA
T2 ER(E

(c)

(d)

LESAZHAZER - £
ERRHEMRZS
BE_T-NFR-_FT-NF=
A=1+—BLFE  BETTH
FEUARRBAEERRBEAZE
R EERIEMR S

BEERRE ZHEREHF
2B RKERS
RARERLZERERE  RE
E_F-NF=ZA=+—HI
FERIBE_E-NER-Z
—N\F=ZA=+—HIEFERTE
AR - EFERNRARRAR
BIEBFRIN  MARRESL
RNARESZHEEEERELH
BERERHREEEAERZEAR
2 BHREH -
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

12. Y% - MERRE

Furniture,
Leasehold equipment
land and Plantand ~ and motor Construction-
buildings ~ machinery vehicles  in-progress Total
HELH B R
kEF BERES RAE EEIR g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT THT
Cost KA
As at 1 April 2017 RZE—tFEA—H 10,642 24,6% 5,997 - 41,334
Exchange realignment T 1,008 2,384 565 - 3,957
Additions NE - 1,564 2,603 - 4,167
Disposals HE (515) (350) (435) - (1,300)
As at 31 March 2018 RZE-\F=A=1-H 11,135 28,293 8,730 - 48,158
As at 1 April 2018 RZZ-NEWMA-A 11,135 28,293 8,730 - 48,158
Exchange realignment A% (741) (1,766) (729) (39) (3,263
Additions through acquisition ERKBNEARRE
of subsidiaries (Note 32) (M13432) - 5,621 15 - 5,636
Additions NE 4,135 3,006 857 32,383 40,441
Disposals HE (7) (9,916) (1,379 - (11,366)
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-AE=A=1+-H 14,458 25,298 7,500 32,350 79,606
Accumulated depreciation and R TERAERE
impairment losses
As at 1 April 2017 RZE—+FNA-A 6,118 19,129 5,017 - 30,264
Exchange realignment BEHEE 666 2,062 543 - 3271
Charge for the year AEESE 308 2,334 385 - 3,022
Impairment loss HEER 1,320 1,838 353 - 3,511
Eliminated on disposals HERHHE (355) (349) (372) - (1,076)
As at 31 March 2018 RZE-\F=F=1+—H 8,052 25,014 5,926 - 38,992
As at 1 April 2018 RZE-NEMA-H 8,062 25,014 5,926 - 38,992
Exchange realignment BEHEE (534) (1,773) 418) - (2,725)
Charge for the year AEELH 287 1,485 584 - 2,356
Eliminated on disposals HERHE 48) (8,968) (1371) - (10,387)
As at 31 March 2019 R=B-nF=R=t-H 7,757 15,758 4,721 - 28,236
Net carrying amount REFE
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-LE=A=1-H 6,701 9,540 2,779 32,350 51,370
As at 31 March 2018 RZE-\F=F=1—-A 3,083 3,279 2,804 - 9,166
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. Y% - BERRE (&)

(continued)

The above property, plant and equipment, except for
construction-in-progress, are depreciated on a straight-line
basis at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings  Over the shorter of the term of
the leases or 3.33%

Plant and machinery 4% 10 25%

Furniture, equipment and 10% to 25%
motor vehicles

The Group'’s leasehold land and buildings were situated in the
PRC under original lease term of 48 years.

No impairment loss was recognised during the year ended 31
March 2019.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, in view of expected
capital expenditure to be incurred for environmental protection
remedial works, the directors of the Company considered that
the recoverable amount (considered to be the same as the
value-in-use (“VIU”) of the cash generating units (“CGUs”") of
the non-current mining assets, including property, plant and
equipment and mining right of the individual mine site, of the
coal mining business of the Group (the “Coal Mining Assets”),
mentioned in Note 13(j) below) of the CGUs is lower than the
carrying amount. Therefore, an impairment of approximately
HK$3,511,000 was made on property, plant and equipment.

PR TZN - Bl - BFE &R
BABRBORIE T OIFREHENE ¢

e REF ST
3.33% 2 [E
LIy SES

S 4%ZE25%

R REESRE 10%E25%

AREEBZHEE L EBFHMAF
= RIEREEEETH A48F -

BHE_ZTZ-NF=A=+—BLLF
[E - SRR EEE

HE T N\E=A=1+—801%
G ZEFBRERENIIEHNISZTE
HEAMYT  ARAREERABRTE
SEMN([BeEASN]) ZAIlE S
B8 (0 T SCPH 5 13(1) BT it 4 45 A B2 AR
EERBEER ERDFEEE (RIE
ZREZWE - BE MR E AR
) ((BEBEEDReESXSEN 2 FH
BE(EAEE] B ERNEER
B Eit EtME - W= MEEE
H 493,511,000 7T 2 FifE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 13. BLEE
Exploration Renewable
and energy
evaluation Mining service
assets right contract Total
TEE
BER ERRHE
HEEE g 1] &% et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FRT FRL FAL FRL
(Notes ii &iii)  (Notes i & iii (Note iv)
(Pt &) (BrYEH &iil) (PzEiv)

Cost BA
As at 1 April 2017 RZE—+FNA—H 45,366 96,027 - 141,393
Exchange realignment [EH A% 4,410 9,334 - 13,744
As at 31 March 2018 R-E-N\F=Zf=1—H 49,776 105,361 - 155,137
Asat 1 April 2018 RZE-NENA—A 49,776 105,361 - 165,137
Exchange realignment B 5 AR (3,292) (6,969) - (10,261)
Additions arising from acquisition of W B ARIES 2 m

subsidiaries (Note 32) (K3E32) - - 1,618 1,618
As at 31 March 2019 R-E-hAE=A=1-H 46,484 98,392 1,618 146,494
Accumulated amortisation and RIBERRERR

impairment losses
As at 1 April 2017 RZE—+FNA—H 45,366 58,240 - 103,606
Exchange realignment I 5 % 4,410 5,930 - 10,340
Charge for the year TEEXH - 5478 - 5,478
Impairment loss REEE - 12,618 - 12,618
As at 31 March 2018 RZZ-\E=A=1—H 49,776 82,266 - 132,042
As at 1 April 2018 RZZ—/\$mA—H 49,776 82,266 - 132,042
Exchange realignment B AR (3,292) (5,446) - (8,738)
Charge for the year KEEZH - 4,659 26 4,685
As at 31 March 2019 R-2-hE=A=1+-A 46,484 81,479 % 127,989
Net carrying amount REEE
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-RE=A=1+-H - 16,913 1,592 18,505
As at 31 March 2018 R-E-N\E=Zf=1—H - 23,095 - 23,095
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-Z-NF=A=+—-HLEE

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Note:

The mining right and the exploration and evaluation assets acquired as
part of a business combination during the year ended 31 March 2010 were
initially recognised at their respective fair values on acquisition with reference
to a professional valuation using discounted cash flow method based on the
operating environment of each of the operating entities.

() Mining right

The directors of the Company conducted impairment
review of the mining right at the end of each reporting
period or when impairment indicator exists. In such
connection, the Company engaged ValQuest Advisory
Group Limited (“ValQuest”) as at 31 March 2019 (2018:
Roma Appraisal Limited (“Roma”)), an independent
professional valuer, to assess the VIU of the Coal Mining
Assets for the purpose of impairment testing.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, with reference to
valuations conducted by ValQuest using discounted cash
flow method, the directors of the Company expected
that the VIU of the Coal Mining Assets approximates
its carrying amount and thus concluded that no
impairment loss was recognised during the year ended
31 March 2019.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, given that the
expected capital expenditures for the environmental
protection remedial works may result in a decrease in the
appraised value of Coal Mining Assets. The directors of
the Company have estimated the recoverable amount
of the Coal Mining Assets with reference to the valuation
report prepared by Roma using discounted cash flow
method as at 30 September 2017. Based on the
assessment, the VIU of the CGUs of the Coal Mining
Assets was approximately HK$32,170,000 resulting in
an impairment loss of approximately HK$16,129,000
being recognised as at 30 September 2017. The Group
allocated the impairment loss based on their relative
carrying amounts amongst the Coal Mining Assets.
Accordingly, impairment loss for items of property,
plant and equipment of approximately HK$3,511,000
and impairment loss for mining right of approximately
HK$12,618,000 were recognised in profit or loss during
the year ended 31 March 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(i

Mining right (continued)

The directors of the Company had re-assessed the Coal
Mining Assets as at 31 March 2018 with reference to the
valuation conducted by Roma using the same method as
aforementioned, the directors of the Company expected
that the VIU of the Coal Mining Assets approximates its
carrying amount as at 31 March 2018, and no further
impairment loss was recognised.

In assessing the VIU of the CGUs, the future cash
flows of the coal mining business which covers the
remaining periods of the mining right of the mine are
discounted to the related present values using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current assessment of
the time value of money and the risks specific to such
business. Parameters used in the projected cash flows
included but were not limited to selling prices and sales
volumes of coal, production cost and other expenses,
capital expenditure, production plan and discount rate,
respectively, which reflected the current conditions of the
market and the Group and estimated trend in the future.

When evaluating the appropriate discount rate for each
of the CGUs, the Capital Asset Pricing Model (“CAPM”)
had been used. Under CAPM, the appropriate expected
rate of return was the sum of the risk-free return and the
equity risk premium required by investors to compensate
for the market risk assumed. In addition, the expected
rate of return of the CGUs was expected to be affected
by other firm specific risk factors that are independent of
the general market. The cost of equity was determined by
the risk-free rate, market return and estimated beta of the
CGUs and firm specific risk factors. The pre-tax discount
rate of 22%, 27% and 36% was used in assessing the
VIU of the CGUs of the Coal Mining Assets as at 31
March 2019, 31 March 2018 and 30 September 2017
respectively.

Details of the Group’s mining right at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

Location

i 2

Mining right
PRIERE
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Kaiyuan Open Pit Coal Mine

(the “Kaiyuan Mine”) Mining Area in Xinjiang
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(ii)

Exploration and evaluation assets

The exploration and evaluation assets represented the
exploration right possessed by the Group. For the year
ended 31 March 2013, the exploration and evaluation
assets were fully impaired based on a professional
valuation, which concluded that no defined or reliable
future economic benefit could be drawn due to the
following facts and circumstances:

the exploration right had been renewed twice and
the expiry date of it would be on 20 February 2014;

according to a legal opinion obtained by the Group,
that under PRC law and regulation the exploration
right could only be renewed twice, and no further
renewal for period beyond 20 February 2014 could
be obtained;

the directors of the Company re-assessed the
status and considered that the Group was not able
to obtain a mining right prior to the expiry of the
exploration right; and

that no defined or reliable future economic benefit
could be drawn based on the current progress
relating to the Optimization and Upgrading Plan (as
defined in Note (i) below).

Subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2013, the
following facts happened in relation to the exploration and
evaluation assets:

on 19 March 2014, the relevant government bureau
exercised an administrative discretionary right
and granted a renewed exploration right with valid
period from 25 February 2014 to 25 February 2016;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(ii)

Exploration and evaluation assets (continued)
Subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2013, the
following facts happened in relation to the exploration and
evaluation assets: (continued)

on 19 May 2016, the Company further obtained
a renewal permit from Department of Land and
Resources of Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region
(the “Xinjiang Land Department”) granting the
renewal of the exploration permit of Zexu Open Pit
Coal Mine (the “Zexu Mine”) (“Exploration Permit”)
with valid period from 5 April 2016 to 5 April 2017;
and

on 16 May 2017, the Company further obtained
a renewal permit from Xinjiang Land Department
granting the renewal of the Exploration Permit with
valid period from 16 May 2017 to 16 May 2019.

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, despite the successful
renewal of the exploration right, with reference to a
professional valuation conducted by ValQuest (2018:
Roma), the Group concluded that no defined or reliable
future economic benefit could be drawn from it and the
impairment loss should not be reversed with the following
reasons:

the Group intends to hold the exploration right until
the Optimization and Upgrading Plan (see below) is
approved;

due to the Optimization and Upgrading Plan, it is not
feasible and practicable for the Group to obtain a
mining right; and

defined or reliable future economic benefit could
not be drawn based on the current progress of the
Optimization and Upgrading Plan.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 13. B EE(E)
(i) Optimization and Upgrading Plan (i) BIlEARFE

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Xinjiang Land
Department informed the Group that pursuant to the
instructions of the National Development and Reform
Commission of the PRC, the Xinjiang Land Department
is planning a management restructuring of different coal
mines in the Xiheishan Mining Area (the “Optimization
and Upgrading Plan”), where the Group’s Kaiyuan Open
Pit Coal Mine (the “Kaiyuan Mine”) and Zexu Mine are
situated.

On 14 March 2012, a proposal (the “Proposal”) was
issued by the People’s Government of Mulei Kazak
Autonomous County, where the Group’s Kaiyuan Mine
is located, to the Administrative Bureau of Coal Industry
of Changji Prefecture (the “Changji Administrative
Bureau”). According to the Proposal, which is part of the
Optimization and Upgrading Plan, the mining area of the
Kaiyuan Mine, where the Group is now conducting mining
activities, is proposed to be increased to 4.12 square
kilometers, with the estimated additional coal resources
of approximately 131.18 million tonnes. In the Proposal, it
is also stated that the production capacity of the Kaiyuan
Mine will increase from 0.9 million tonnes per year to 3
million tonnes per year.
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
(iii) Optimization and Upgrading Plan (continued)

The Group received a letter dated 13 June 2012 issued
by the Changji Administrative Bureau (the “13 June
Letter”) informing the updated status of the Management
Restructuring Plan (as defined in the announcement of
the Company dated 11 November 2011). According to
the 13 June Letter, the following proposals in relation to
the Group’s Kaiyuan Mine and Zexu Mine (the “Updated
Proposals”) have been submitted to the working group
head office for coal industry structural upgrade work of
Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region for consideration and
approval:

- the Group’s Kaiyuan Mine will be restructured and
upgraded, and the exploration rights in the Zexu
Mine granted to the Group will be terminated; and

- the mining area of the Kaiyuan Mine, where
the Group is now conducting mining activities,
is proposed to be increased from 1.1596
square kilometers to 4.12 square kilometers,
with the estimated additional coal resources of
approximately 131.18 million tonnes.

The directors of the Company are of the view that as the
above proposals are still subject to final approval by the
People’s Government of Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous
Region, it is uncertain whether the above changes will
be materialised. The Group will engage an independent
qualified valuer to value the additional coal resources
when the final approval is obtained.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED & REXER AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 13. B EE(E)
(ivy Renewable energy service contract (iv) TBEEERREEL

The renewable energy service contract relates to the
Renewable Energy CGU (as defined in note 14) and
represented a legally binding service agreement entered
into between NEFIN Technology (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.
(“NEFIN Technology”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
NEFIN Leasing Technologies Limited (“NEFIN Leasing”)
(together referred to as “NEFIN Group”), and its customer,
which was acquired as part of the Group’s acquisition
of NEFIN Group during the year ended 31 March 2019
and was initially recognised at its fair value at acquisition
date with reference to a professional valuation conducted
by ValQuest using discounted cash flow method. The
remaining useful life of the renewable energy service
contract is determined by the Group to be 25 years.

The renewable energy service contract is tested for
impairment at least annually and has been included in the
Renewable Energy CGU for impairment assessment of
goodwill.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the directors of
the Company expected that the recoverable amount of
renewable energy service contract exceed its carrying
amount and thus concluded that no impairment loss was
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-Z-NF=A=+—-HLEE

14. GOODWILL 14, B&
Coal Mining Renewable
CGU Energy CGU Total
ot 2 TEERR
ELEN ReELEN g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TR TiHn
(Note (a) (Note (b))
(M) (M)
Cost KA
Asat 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018 and N_E—+FNA-R 25 \F
1 April 2018 =A=t-HRZE-\FEA-H 37,469 - 37,469
Arising from acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 32)  UESMIE A e (M3132) - 4,229 4229
As at 31 March 2019 R=B-nF=A=t-H 37,469 4,229 41,698
Accumulated impairment losses ZitHEER
Asat 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018 and R=E—+ENA-B 2 \F
31 March 2019 ZAZT-ARZZ-NEZA=T-H 37,469 - 37,469
Net carrying amount REFE
As at 31 March 2019 R-E-NE=R=1-H - 4,229 4,229
As at 31 March 2018 RZE-\F=A=1+—H - - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

14. GOODWILL (continued)

14(a)

14(0)

Coal Mining CGU

The goodwill arising on acquisition of &1 & 8 2B/ &
ERET AR (Qitai County Zexu Trading Company
Limited*, “Zexu Company”) and RE®ERERER S
£ 7] (Mulei County Kai Yuan Coal Company Limited*,
“Kaiyuan Company”) was fully impaired during the year
ended 31 March 2011.

*

English translation for identification purpose only.

Renewable Energy CGU

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of 90% equity
interests in NEFIN Leasing and its subsidiary on 8 October
2018 with cash generating units engaged in renewable
energy solutions and solar farm development (the
“Renewable Energy CGU”).

As at 31 March 2019, the directors of the Company
assessed the recoverable amount of the Renewable
Energy CGU with reference to VIU calculations using cash
flow projections based on financial budgets and forecasts
covering a five-year period and extrapolates cash flows
beyond such period conducted by ValQuest.

Key assumptions used for cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of the goodwill allocated to
Renewable Energy CGU are as follows:

4. BEGR)

14(a) BIBE S EEEN
HEz—_2——F=A=+—H1
FE WESTEZRENRES
RETAR(DERAR]) kAR
FZIREREREELE([FR
NADEENEEEELBER
@o

14b) TBAEREFRBESEEEN
RZZF—NEFE+ANE - W
BERTE R E B A B190% Ak 1
ERN SR AT BARIRBARA T
EYSyNCT A e E i = opEt
TEABM([ATBEERECE
BN ) EEEE -

RZZB-NAF=A=+—H K
NRERZRENMKRERT
FHRACERRSRERAE
MEREEMEATBLERRERES
ELBUMAIKEIEE - MREe
MEFRARBEBEIEL 2BER
FRZEEREREE -

ROMEFBERRTSESLSE
iz 1) B B ETTRE R Bl 7
RemERAMAZ = EREL
T

As at
31 March 2019

R=B—h&E
=H=1+—A8

Growth in revenue year-on-year during
the five-year period

Budget gross profit margin BEEF|E
Perpetual growth rate KEIE R R
Discount rate (pre-tax) BLIR = (FLAT)

hFESEzRFRSIER

1.49%
60.00%
3.00%
6.04%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-Z-NF=A=+—-HLEE

14. GOODWILL (continued)
14(b) Renewable Energy CGU (continued)

The directors of the Company determined the growth
rates based on past performance and the expectation
of market development. The discount rate used is pre-
tax and reflects specific risks relating to the Renewable
Energy CGU.

As at 31 March 2019, the recoverable amount of the
Renewable Energy CGU is higher than its carrying
amount. Accordingly, there was no impairment on the
goodwill during the year ended 31 March 2019.

15. SECURITY DEPOSIT
The balance represents a deposit denominated in RMB placed
with a bank to secure the Group’s obligation to restore the
environment when mining activities ceased. The deposit bears
interest at the prevailing bank saving interest rate and can be
withdrawn upon the expiry of the Group’s mining right and
fulfillment of environment restoration obligation.

16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

14. & (&)

15.

140) T BERERREELEEN

(%)
AAREFRBERBALTHH
RIEHEEERE - IARKIRE
RBAT - RS KA B AR
ReELFUMARAR -

RZF-NF=A=+—H 7
BARRR S E £ E A AR
SERNAEEE - At #F
“E-NFZRA=T-BLEFE
I PEERE o

REZES
RBMEARBRNRE LS T ILRLE
TREREEEMNRITFEUAR
BEHEZER - FRIRER ZRITH
BHERGE - WA RAREZ KERE
& K FEITER B IS B R R AN -

16. RBARZIRE

Unlisted shares, at cost LT - IS

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non
interest-bearing and repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 16.
Details of the subsidiaries held by the Company as at 31 March
2019 and 2018 are as follows:

RMBAT2RE (&)
AKRBRZE-—NER_E-NF=
A=T—HEEZHWBARFENT

Place of
Class of incorporation/
shares held/ registration and Issued share and
paid up capital  operation paid up capital Percentage of equity
Name of subsidiary FEROER/ HRAL/ERE BRTRAR  attributable to the Company Principal activities
HWEARER BaRA feny BfRE  AQRAEERERAL TTER
Directly held:
ERA:
Lasting Power Investments Limited ~ Ordinary share ~ The BVI United States Dollars 100 100 Investment holding
NERERRAT Lk RERIES (US8 1 RERR
EEA)
Indirectly held:
BiEes
Star Fortune International Ordinary share ~ The BVI US$100 100 100 Investment holding
Investment Company Limited LR EBRAHE 10057t REBR
(“Star Fortune”)
ENERERRAER LA
([EnEZ])
Ming Kei Kai Yuan Investment Ordinary share  Hong Kong HK$60,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Company Limited EEk Bl 60,000,000% 7 REER
BRI RREARAT
Kaiyuan Company (Note i) Paid up capital  The PRC RMB30,000,000 100 100 Coal mining and sales
SIRAR (PEH) BAmRA H ARH30,000,0007 FRREERR
Zexu Company (Note ii Paid up capital ~ The PRC RMB2,000,000 100 100 Holding of an exploration
BB (HEH) BARE G ARE2,000,0007C fight of coal mine
FEERARE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 16. RMIB AR ZRE (&)
Details of the subsidiaries held by the Company as at 31 March RAFNR_ZE—HLER_ZE—N\FE=
2019 and 2018 are as follows: (continued) A=+—BEEzZWEBRAFBDN
T : (&)
Place of

Class of incorporation/

shares held/ registration and Issued share and

paid up capital  operation paid up capital Percentage of equity
Name of subsidiary FERGER,/ HRRL/ERE BETRAR  attributable to the Company Principal activities
MEARAR B4kx By BfRx  AQREERERS  IERE

2018

e it
%

Indirectly held:
Bies
Radiant Day Holdings Limited Ordinary share  Samoa USS$1 100 - Investment holding

(‘Radiant Day’) LRk EED 1% REBR
EAZRARAA(ER])
NEFIN Leasing Ordinary share Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 90% - Investment holding
MEREE Lk £33 1,000,000 REBR
NEFIN Technology (Note i Ordinary share ~ Malaysia Malaysia Ringgit 1,000 90% - Renewable energy solutions
NEFIN Technology (Ffii) LRk SRR 10005 RBELE IBERRRANER
Ample Talent Ventures Limited Ordinary share ~ Samoa US$1 100 - Investment holding

(‘Ample Talent) LEk EED EH REER
HEEIRERAN(THEER])
Notes: Mi3E
0] Registered under the laws of the PRC as wholly-foreign-owned 0] RIEFBUEAIFM AR E R

enterprise

(ii) Registered under the laws of the PRC as domestic enterprise (i REPEEGIEMAZEREE
(i)  Registered under the laws of Malaysia as domestic enterprise (i)  RIEBERADECGZMARALE
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding A %R 25 HA R 4 SR R ol R 5 B AR {A)
as at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the i) - SR E R BB A (T2 %17
reporting period. ZIEBES o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

17.

18.

INVENTORIES 17. BE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Consumables SHE 305 434
Coals (<873 7,268 6,787
7,573 7,221

No inventories were written down for the years ended 31 March
2019 and 2018.

ERHRBE-B-AFR-B-N\F
=A=+— AL F R

RAFEIRIEEEANREE
ZEMEE

2019 2018
—E-hF —EF-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TAET

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FVPL 18.

Financial assets mandatorily BEIRAFEYIREEERER
measured at FVPL RECESHMEE

Unlisted investments-principal PRAE S ZIEEHIRE

guaranteed funds

As at 31 March 2019, the unlisted investments in principal
guaranteed funds (“Principal Guaranteed Funds”) were placed
with a bank in the PRC. The Principal Guaranteed Funds carried
interest at floating rate with expected return ranging from 1.90%
to 2.95% per annum. The Principal Guaranteed Funds have
no fixed maturity period and the amount of such investment
can be redeemed at any time with minimal cost. The Principal
Guaranteed Funds mainly invested in treasury bonds and
debentures, money market funds and equity-linked notes and
are denominated in RMB.

60,236 -

RZE-NF=ZA=+—H BRAK
He(IRAEg D2 LTREDE
ARBE—ERT - RAESRTFHH
KR BHREXRNFEF1.90%
£295% 2 - RAE S YW EEFE &
MR - BRFRE 2SRRI
RIEKAERD - RAESTBZRER
BENEER  EEMEESULK
REHINRIE - WAARKEHE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FVPL 18. MAFEIBRIEERAERE
(continued) ZemEEE)
The movement of the unlisted investments in the Principal PRAES ZIELTIRENEES O
Guaranteed Funds is analysed as follows: PN

2019 2018

—B-hE —T-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FTHET FAT

At the beginning of reporting period A% EiH]) = -
Additions NE 60,236 307,440
Redemption &l = (307,440)
At the end of reporting period REREHR 60,236 -

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

19. BRERKHAEKRFRE

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BisE FEx FHET
Trade and bills receivables EWE=HEFNER
from third parties 19(a) = 1,116
Prepayments, deposits and BESE - Zek
other receivables HAtb fEU SR8 4,040 3,093
Refundable deposit paid for FUEN B AR A
acquisition of subsidiaries ZARERS 37 3,571 -
Other taxes receivables H e U B TE 613 -
Non-refundable deposits FARELE 19(b) 2,431 2,604
Prepayments for acquisition of WWEME - BEMEREZ
property, plant and equipment IS 19,635 -
30,290 6,813
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-Z-NF=A=+—-HLEE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
Analysed by:

19. BRERRHE hEWER ()
AT -

FRBEE
MBEE

Non-current assets
Current assets

All of the trade and other receivables that are classified as
current assets are expected to be recovered or recognised as
expense within one year.

19(a) Trade and bills receivables from third parties
The Group’s sales to coal customers are largely done on
payment in advance basis. For certain well-established
customers, the Group allows an average credit period of
90 days.

At the end of reporting period, the ageing analysis of the
trade receivables (presented based on the invoice date)
and bills receivables (presented based on the issuance
date of relevant bills), net of impairment loss allowance
was as follows:

PIG 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT TAET
22,066 2,604
8,224 4,209
30,290 6,813

BDERRBEE ZERERRE

i F& W R TR TR B — S A UL (B S AR
RAX -

190) EWE=FEFREE
REBERBRERER ZHERED
R FIBEEIEL - gt TR
RRIFZ2BEPME  NEEAF
Z BRI -

MR E R ERE - BUER
(RBEZRHZ) REREE
(RERRERL B2 R
BRRE R R AR 2 Rk A an

Within 90 days 90X A

™
2019 2018
—E-hE —ET-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
- 1,116
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

19(a)

19(b)

Trade and bills receivables from third parties
(continued)

As at 31 March 2018, all trade and bills receivables were
neither past due nor impaired related to wide range of
customers for who, there was no recent history of default.
The Company does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

Non-refundable deposits

Non-refundable deposits of approximately
RMB2,099,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,431,000) were paid to two independent third
parties in accordance with respective undisputed
agreements regarding the acquisition of areas of the coal
mine held by the third parties to extend the coal mine of
the Group. Further details are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 15 August 2017. The Group
was required to go through official procedures with the
relevant land and resources departments to obtain the
exploration right and then the mining right in respect of
these extended areas. The non-refundable deposits will
be transferred to intangible assets upon completion of
acquisition.

These transactions are not yet completed at the date of
approving the consolidated financial statements.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED & REXER AT

19. BEWE KK H A EYRE ()
190 BWE=SERKEE(E)

R-ZZB-N\F=A=+—HB A
BREER K ERRES R
B RHIBRRE - 1t IS5 8T8
BHRAGIRZZRZEFAR - K
NRI LA F AT A TR
o

19b) TARERS

BEEEREBE=TFERRE
NIEREAEBERE, & BES
S CAMBBYE=TX
49 A B #2,099,0007T (FBE 7
#92,431,000/8 70 ) 2 T A IRIE %
© o BEE— P BIHNERQR
HHEA-Z—+tF\A+HAZ
N AEEARBEERNLER
ERPT IR IE AR Fr ABUS 2 548
TR MR 2 B K BE 18 2 5
o RIREETAE - TARER
CHEEABFEAE -

SEXGPMERAMBEERERZ
B RARTEX °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

20. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

21.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group endorsed certain bills
receivable accepted by banks (the “Banks”) in the PRC (the
“Derecognised Bills”), to certain of its suppliers in order to
settle the trade payables due to these suppliers with a total
carrying amount in aggregate of approximately HK$8,282,000
(2018: approximately HK$21,496,000). The Derecognised Bills
will mature in one to six months after the end of the reporting
period. In accordance with the Law of Negotiable Instruments
in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills have a right of
recourse against the Group if the Banks default (the “Continuing
Involvement”). In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
relating to the Derecognised Bills, because it is remote for the
Banks to default the payment. Therefore, it derecognised the full
carrying amounts of the Derecognised Bills and the associated
trade payables. The maximum exposure to loss arising from the
Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills and
the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these Derecognised
Bills equal to their carrying amounts.

During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group
has not recognised any gain or loss on the date of transfer of the
Derecognised Bills. No gains or losses were recognised from
the Continuing Involvement, during the year or cumulatively.

RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES

Pursuant to the loan agreement signed with a bank in the PRC,
the amounts represent bank balances in the bank in the PRC
maintained solely for the purpose of settlement of outstanding
interest-bearing borrowings and are restricted for use by the
Group for any other purposes. The restricted bank balances are
denominated in RMB and carried interest at prevailing market
rates.

20.

21.

EEEMEE
R-ZE—HAh=ZA=+—H A£E5
HETHEmESHFABRERT(R
THEMZAETRREE (MK IEER
EEDETEE  NERENZE
1 FERBR A R E A A %)8,282,000
B (ZE—//\F : 421,496,000
T ZERER - BRIEEREE BN
WEEERE—ZNEAZE - B
B EEEE - WIRTTHE XA - B
BRIFERERREASLNSEREE
,ﬁ%é(w%f%i*fffﬂ) NARESR
RE - ARBRITH RN R A LR
ff,ﬁ WAEEDERERKRILERE
BZRAEIRABKEER - Bl - &
ERIERE I EERER RAAEER
ERZE2HERE - AEEMARXE
BIEREBE 2 FEESEAULE
B2 FRIEERER 2 RMRIB SR

EMERBRZEARR  HERZ
EFRIE2AREE °
BE_T-NFER-_FT-N\F=A

=+ RLFE  AEEYENEE
i“JtﬁEMTTJ%*‘“EIﬁEmEﬁH& S IE

B WERRAKREFEESEEZF
J;Ii%ﬂﬂzmi}zﬁéﬂa °

%EE%U%& nlilﬁ%

$ETF551EP I—F‘ﬁfﬁﬁfﬁ%zgﬂ%’;
# RS eREPERITZRITE

o ERBERERFTREEM#®
o UYRRAEEBEETMEMA
o XBEIRITAEMRAARKEFHEL
BIMITMSHFEETE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 22. RERBAEEEEEB

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group amounting to
approximately HK$278,814,000 (2018: approximately
HK$440,437,000) comprised bank balances and cash held by
the Group and short-term deposits with an original maturity of
three months or less. The bank balances and bank deposits
carried interest at market rates ranging from 0.01% to 2.41%
(2018: 0.01% to 3.85%) per annum.

AEB 2R AR EBEEBEY
278,814,000 L (=T —\F : 4
440,437,000/870) © BIEALEEFZS
ZRITEBIAEARRIEBEAAE=
EASKAAZ EETER - RITERR
RITEFETIRNTFO00NEE241E(ZE
—/\%F : 0.01EZE3.85F )z Hi5FF
KETE ©

Bank balances RITEER
Short term deposits with an original ~ RE|HIE A& =1E A3k

maturity of three months or less VAR 2 52 BTF 31
Cash on hand FHERE
Cash and cash equivalents RekAeEEIEE

Included in cash and cash equivalents are the following
amounts denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate:

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)\F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FAET
43,968 288,095
234,705 152,107
141 235
278,814 440,437

EREEEERBETIIARE
DB AN EREEHEZ FOR -

AE
B

HK$ BT
uss$ ET

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had balances amounted
to RMB128,307,000 (equivalent to HK$148,630,000 (2018:
approximately RMB230,228,000, equivalent to approximately
HK$285,584,000) that were placed with banks in the PRC.
Remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to the exchange
controls imposed by the PRC government.
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2019 2018
SE55A ==
HK$°000 HK$’000
TR Tis7T
129,262 153,554
67 67

R-ZZE—-AFE=A=+—H8 " K
EEGERTPBREREBITZESRB
A R # 128,307,000 7t ( 48 & B
148,630,000 L) (ZE—N\F : 4
A B 230,228,000 7T © & R4
285,584,000/ 7T ) © [EH AR EIIRINZ
B AZFRBNET ZINEE HIFT
R o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-Z-NF=A=+—-HLEE

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

23.

At the end of reporting period, the aging analysis of the trade
payables (presented based on the invoice date) is as follows:

BNER

BEIZ5) 2Rl DA T

Within 90 days
91 — 180 days
181 — 365 days
Over 1 year

Trade payables
Contract liabilities
Other taxes payable
Government levies payable
— Economic development fees
in coal resources areas
— Others
Accrued expenses

Non-refundable deposits received

Other payables

All the trade and other payables that are classified as current
liabilities are expected to be settled with one year.

The average credit period of purchases of goods is 180 days.

SlZND
91RE180K
181K E365K
HBiA1F

FERTER
BHEE
HERHIE
FENERTEE
— B AR
KEBRE
—Hfth
fExtEA
BURARERS
H {5508

23(a)

23(b)

The Group has financial risk management policies in place to

ensure that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

BRNS

R E o B FRT
RS E A RE Fﬁﬁ‘é‘?k(} LES

2019 2018
—E-NF —\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT
1 9,478
10,523 2,032
80 2,609
75 13
10,689 14,132
564 1,534
= 6,877
27,307 29,241
3,845 4,117
3,906 2,325
5,673 6,075
6,810 5,497
58,794 69,798
B BEARBDABZ BRNER K

oS FRIBTERT IS — A& EE o

REmmFHEERNR/IB0K - A%
B2 Hl €M SRR EEBER
KRN EEHIRAEE -

» TEORFT
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

23(a)

23(b)

Contract liabilities

The movements (excluding those arising from increases
and decreases both occurred within the same year) of
contract liabilities from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15 during the years ended 31 March 2019 and
2018 are as follows:

At the beginning of
the reporting period

Receipt of advances TEUEA R

Recognised as revenue

At the end of the reporting period ~ FAZR4& Hik

The Group applies the practical expedient and does
not disclose information about remaining performance
obligations that have original expected durations of one
year or less.

Non-refundable deposits received
Non-refundable deposits received of approximately
RMB4,897,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$5,673,000) were received from two independent
third parties in accordance with respective undisputed
agreements signed during the year ended 31 March
2018 regarding the disposal of areas of coal mine
held by the Group. Further details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 15 August 2017.
These transactions are not yet completed at the date of
approving the consolidated financial statements.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED & REXER AT

23. BNERRHMENFEGE)
20 BNEE

HEZZ-—NFERZFT—N\F
—A=1+—HLtFE  HBEHE
WMEERFE1SREFANEEN
GHEEREH(CTEBERFEE
ROIE AN KR DI B BB a0 T ¢

2019 2018
—B-hF —T-)N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTE FET
1,534 2,261

564 1,534

(1,534) (2,261)

564 1,534

AEBRATTEETE - ML
L P e
— RN A TROEL A
B

23() CWAFRERE

BERABE-_ZT—N\E=A
e el = NS - VAAE = 3
FEmE  CHREELREH
FrEaEERREmME B
FE-FWBTATREZRS D
A R # 4,897,000 7T (188 R4
5,673,000/87T) - BRAE—FFF
EHNAATAA_E—+F
NATHBZRASE - ZERXFR
HHEGEHBRER 2 AMKRT
ﬁjzo



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

24. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 24. FHEEE
2019 2018
—z-nr [EEEEC
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Current portion TRENI D
Interest-bearing borrowings, secured it B & & - A 68,345 -
As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings RZE—NF=ZA=+—H  ~EEH
carry interest rate at 4.75% per annum and are repayable ZETEBEERERRATSERE - W
by instalments of RMB1,000,000 semiannually while the AS HIE E FEEIE A RIE1,000,000
outstanding balances of the borrowings to be repaid in full in JC 0 MmAR(E] fﬁg,ﬁﬁﬁéﬂ—ﬂ?_ =-F
September 2020. FHLAZEER
The interest-bearing borrowings with a clause in their terms that R T IRIT R AR T 2 A E
gives the bank an overriding right to demand for repayment BEBMERER T EEETHE
without notice at its sole discretion are classified as current AERBAE  BEARAESEHRR
liabilities even though the directors of the Company do not TETEITEERERZER - 518
expect that the bank would exercise its right to demand BE TR B ERITEER(FIFE21)1E
repayment. The interest-bearing borrowings are secured by A - BREEAY 277,612,000/ 7T °

restricted bank balances (Note 21) with carrying amount of
approximately HK$77,612,000.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

25. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 25. RAEK®EE
(@ Movements in components of equity (a) FEZIPDEE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing REEZGFEEGSEISDY 2 F
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated TR FEREHREREN G E R
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes BEIEK o AR FRNF AR B
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s 2oz EBRFIEF NI T
individual components of equity during the year are set
out below:
The Company AN/
Exchange
Share translation  Contributed Accumulated
premium reserve surplus losses Total

RAEE EXRE  BABR  RHESE am
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THEL FHEL THL THL
(Note i) (Note iv) (Note vi)
() (Pfiziv) (PizEvi)

As at 1 April 2017 RZE—+&FNA—H 191,634 10,760 128,013 (351,516) (21,209)
Loss for the year FRER - - - (M) (1)
Total other comprehensive income:  Efr2E K25
ltem that maybe reclassified RGeS e Ens

subsequently to profit or loss EH
Exchange differences on translation of  #ETa S A2FIEE

functional currency to EXEH

presentation currency - 5,374 - - 5,374
Total comprehensive income for the year i 2 EIzs 258 - 5,374 - ) 5,303
As at 31 March 2018 RZZ-/\§=R=1-H

and 1 April 2018 R-E—/\fmA-A 19153 1613 128013 (351587)  (15.908)
Proft for the year FREA - - - 20,646 20,646
Total other comprehensive loss: Htt2EEREE
ltem that maybe reclassified B0 T g e Ty

subsequently to profit or loss EH
Exchange differences on translation of & e EE AR FIEH 2

functional currency to ERER

presentation currency - (4,032) - - (4,082
Total comprehensive income for the year M2 E #5125 - (4,032) - 20,646 16,614
As at 31 March 2019 RZZ-NE=R=1-H 191,534 12,102 128013 (330941) 708
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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25. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
Movements in components of equity (continued)
The Company (continued)

(@

Notes:

(0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium
The application of share premium is governed by Section 40 of
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve arose from the acquisition of the additional
equity interest of subsidiaries in prior years. It represents the
difference between the carrying amount of the net assets of
the subsidiaries attributable to the additional interest at the
dates of acquisition and the fair value of consideration paid by
the Group.

Statutory reserves

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the PRC regulations, all of the Group’s
subsidiaries in the PRC are required to transfer part of their
profit after tax to the statutory surplus reserve, which are
non-distributable, before profit distributions are made. The
amounts of the transfers are subject to the approval of the
boards of directors of these companies in accordance with
their articles of association.

Specific reserve for maintenance and production funds
Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations, the Group is
required to transfer maintenance and production funds at fixed
rates based on relevant bases to a specific reserve account.
The maintenance and production funds can be utilised when
expenses or capital expenditures on production maintenance
and safety measures are incurred. The amount of maintenance
and production funds utilised would be transferred from the
specific reserve account to retained earmings.

Exchange translation reserve

Exchange translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of functional currency
to presentation currency. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

25. BAK e ()
e TR 2B ()
AN E ()

(GY)

GEE

@

(i

(iii)

(iv)

MR ME
ERAEKNEEAZARE
—NN—FRAPELIOREE

&N

B AR R TR B 1 A R I
BRI o AFEEER
Y 8 B B B AR S0 M ol FE A 2%
EHBEARNEAEFEREE
HARERANREATFEZR
ZER -

EERE

ETEBIRERE
RIBREDER - AEBEMEE
B2 Y B A BB 43 IR i A
Al E R D BRI E N B E
EEBBRE ZRBAETH
DR - BRESEAKAR
ZERNRZEETSRREAM
BIZARAIMLAE -

MEREEESZ BRI
RphBERERER - AEEZE
12 R AR B B E A B TE b R
HBREEEREHHRER
fR-#EREEASTEES
LTEABREZ2ER LA
BARXKHA CHAER
REEESSHERRHRERS
BERERRN -

RS
EHHEEREREDNGEEE R
ENERBELEZRIINEE
B o AEBIRIBARE M RE
MisEoFTEl S ST Bk R IE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

25. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

25. AR f#H (&)

(@ Movements in components of equity (continued) (a) FEZIPHEE(E)
The Company (continued) AR E](4E)
Notes: (continued) FiEE : ()
(v)  Special reserve (v) 45BIREE
The amount in special reserve represents the difference BRI ECHEMAERNE—FIW
between the consideration paid for acquiring a further 49% HBENEE49%HE 2 AR
equity interest in Star Fortune and the decrease in the carrying BHENESE F—FIFTRE
amount of the non-controlling interests of Star Fortune in a SAREE R FER 2 =5 -
previous year.
(vi)  Contributed surplus (i) BARER
The contributed surplus of the Company represents the KRB ZEABBIERANT A
difference between the nominal value of the Company’s AW AR B EITRMD M
shares issued in exchange for the issued shares of the BOIZARNBRMHEE - &
companies being acquired and the value of net assets of the FritBE R AR R ANEEE
underlying companies acquired at the time of the Group’s —NWNAFARERE ELMETE
reorganisation in preparation for its listing in 1995. Under the HEEEFEZEZ5 - BE
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the Company may make ARE—NN\—FRAE K
distributions to its members out of the contributed surplus in ARAEETHELTAESZAR
certain circumstances. ERAERRIEH DR ©
(b) Authorised and issued share capital (b) EERBEBITHRA
Number of
ordinary shares
of HK$0.10 each
BREE
01082 Amount
ZEREA =8
HK$'000
FET
Authorised: ERE
Balance as at 1 April 2017, RZF—tFMA—H -
31 March 2018 and “T-N\F=ZA=1T—RBK
31 March 2019 “T-NFZA=T—Bz&H 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
Balance as at 1 April 2017, RZE—+FOA—H
31 March 2018 and —E-NF=ZA=+—-BRK
31 March 2019 “T-NFZA=T—Bz&EH 765,373,584 76,537

BBREE ABRERTREIK
2B WAIRARBGHELT
BRI —RZEN - AR
BREDBARR ZRBEET
mHFERFE

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.
All ordinary shares rank equally with regards to the
Company’s residual assets.
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BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

25. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(c)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, and to generate sufficient profit to
maintain growth and provide a satisfactory return to its
shareholders.

The directors of the Company actively and regularly
review and manage its capital structure to maintain a
balance between the higher shareholders’ returns that
might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure
in light of changes in economic condition. In view of this,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividend or the issue of new debt. No
changes were made in the objectives or policies during
the year.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis
of a debt-to-equity ratio. For this purpose, total debt
represented interest-bearing borrowings and convertible
bond designated as financial liabilities at FVPL. Equity
comprises all components of equity.

25. AR f#H (&)

(c)

EXrEE
AEEEREAZBEZRRIIMR
BAEERMEEREFELE
EAEZZE - LRREUR 597 A
MRIER - WAEBRRREUHE
ol

RRARMEEERTE g L EE
HEARRE  NEESBRE®R
BT ARz RS tEEKF
BRFSHE B AHRI 2 4 B B AR
1% 2 VS - WRERA R
MBCHERNEBIELRE - A
R AREE BT
SBITHEG FEEERENE
B RERNLEY B RNBORIE
HAEMEE -

AEEAEDR B AL KRR
HEARBZEE - BULTNE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

25. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 25. RAR @& (&)
(c) Capital management (continued) (c) EBEAXREHE(E)
The debt-to-equity ratio at 31 March 2019 and 2018 are RZE-NEFERZZF—N\F=A
as follows: —t+—HAZEZAERENT
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Interest-bearing borrowings TEEE 68,345 -
Convertible bond designated as EEBEATEYERTE
financial liabilities at FVPL BRAREZEREE
Z PR AR 25 217,869 247,242
Total debt waE 286,214 247,242
Total equity B 184,683 165,716
Debt-to-equity ratio EmBELE 1.55 1.49
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are RRE S EEARBRREES
subject to externally imposed capital requirements. EISNERRE N2 B AR TE 2 PRI ©
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26. CONVERTIBLE BOND 26. AIARES

On 14 March 2008, the Company issued zero-coupon
convertible bond with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$200,000,000 to Ascent Goal simultaneously upon
completion of the issue and allotment of 400,000,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each. The bond was denominated in HK$
and entitled the holders to convert them into ordinary shares
of the Company at any time between the date of issue of the
bond and its settlement date on 13 March 2011 in multiples
of HK$1,000,000 at a conversion price HK$0.20 (subject to
adjustments) per share. The shares to be issued and allotted
upon conversions shall rank pari passu in all respects among
themselves and with all other ordinary shares in issue by
the Company on the date of such allotment and issue. If the
convertible bond has not been converted, the Company should
repay the principal amount of the outstanding convertible bond
to Ascent Goal at 13 March 2011.

On 11 February 2011, the Company entered into a deed
of amendment with Ascent Goal (“1' extended Convertible
Bond”), to extend the maturity date of the convertible bond
for 36 months and the conversion period will accordingly be
extended for 36 months from 14 March 2011 (date of extension)
to 13 March 2014. Apart from the extension of the maturity date
and the conversion period, all terms of the convertible bond
remain unchanged from the original terms.

Following the change of functional currency from HK$ to
RMB, the directors of the Company are of the view that the
convertible bond upon extension of maturity date (“Convertible
Bond”) was no longer convertible at a fixed for fixed relationship.
Accordingly, the Convertible Bond was designated as a financial
liability at FVPL in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

On 21 January 2014, the Company entered into a second deed
of amendment with Ascent Goal (“2" extended Convertible
Bond”), to extend the maturity date of 15t extended Convertible
Bond for 36 months and the conversion period will accordingly
be extended for 36 months from 14 March 2014 (date of
extension) to 13 March 2017 (“2" extended Maturity Date”).
Apart from the extension of maturity date and the conversion
period, all terms of the convertible bond remain unchanged from
the original terms.

RZEZNF=A+WE  ARER
SERK 31T I Bt 400,000,000 & B @
BOAB T EdmR 2 R - MEEE%
17N & 4258 /200,000,000 T2 E B
AR ES - ZEFABITEE - B
THEABINRZESFZTRHRELS
BEAH-—ZE——F=-A+=HHH
BE B 12 B (E B A% 0.2078 7T (A] T 3
Bz Ei AR NG TR - SR
78 /1,000,000 70 2 & 81 o EIRR G
F AT R BLEE 2 0 1t 2 B R B A
e RETABRAQRMAEMEE
TEBRREFTEEZERSER °
i AT AR B A AR R - NQR]ER
—E-——FZAt+-ZHEBEZAE
WA IR ES 2 RS 58 °

RZZB——F_A+—H ARAHE
BIRAI AT RE(E—REHAT &
BefEss]) - AR RRERESR 2 2B B
JEHSEMEA BB KERKE —-F
——F=ZATEAGEHAH)EH36
BAE-ZT—HWF=A+=H - Rk
REME REHEN - A ARRE
FEFIRRE R TE

DEEBREETESARKER AR
FIEFERR/RIYBTEMR 2 R E
7 (1 A HRAR{E 75 |) 1 A B DAL E B &
@i o [t - ABBRESREE TS
RRAKRAEE RIB A FEFIRIL AR
SNEREZEBEAIE -

R-E—NFE—A=-+—H &RQRA
HERITUE MBI REBE(EZR
TR ES ) - S — X EE
ARESH 2 BB A EEIG6E A -
meEmAEEEY T —NFE=A
+UH (ESREE)EMEAE-F
—tF=Z A+ =B FEIRTEHD
H]) - BRERDHA RERERIN - fT
B REFGIIRRBGEIEFT
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26. CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued)

The 2™ extended Maturity Date was considered to be a
substantial modification of terms of 1stextended Convertible
Bond as the discounted present value of the cash flows
of the 2" extended Convertible Bond was more than 10%
different from the discounted present value of the cash flows
of the outstanding 15t extended Convertible Bond prior to
the extension of maturity date. As such, the 1st extended
Convertible Bond was derecognised and the 2" extended
Convertible Bond was recognised. The fair value of the 2
extended Convertible Bond as at 14 March 2014 amounted
to approximately HK$200,000,000. An extinguishment loss of
approximately HK$211,000 had been recognised in profit or
loss during the year ended 31 March 2014.

On 25 January 2017, the Company entered into a third deed
of amendment with Ascent Goal (“3 extended Convertible
Bond”), to further extend the maturity date of the 2" extended
Convertible Bond for 36 months and the conversion period
will accordingly be extended for 36 months from 13 March
2017 (date of extension) to 13 March 2020 (“3™ extended
Maturity Date”). Apart from the extension of maturity date and
the conversion period, all terms of the convertible bond remain
unchanged from the original terms.

The 3™ extended Maturity Date was considered to be a
substantial modification of terms of the 2" extended Convertible
Bond as the discounted present value of the cash flows of
the 3rd extended Convertible Bond was more than 10%
different from the discounted present value of the outstanding
2 extended Convertible Bond prior to the extension of
maturity date. As such, the 2" extended Convertible Bond
was derecognised and the 3 extended Convertible Bond
was recognised. The fair value of the 3 extended Convertible
Bond as at 14 March 2017 amounted to approximately
HK$264,904,000. An extinguishment loss of approximately
HK$5,941,000 had been recognised in profit and loss during
the year ended 31 March 2017.

The 3 extended Convertible Bond was valued by the directors
of the Company with reference to valuation report issued by Val
Quest (2018: Roma) as at 31 March 2019.
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26. CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued) 26.
The movements of the 3 extended Convertible Bond for the

year are set out below:

AR E S ()
FZIRERA MR ESRNF A2 EE)
]|HAT

3 extended Convertible Bond
FEZREHTRRES

Balance at beginning of the year
Fair value change charged to
the profit or loss
Loss/(Gain) on translation of
3 extended Convertible Bond
denominated in a foreign currency
into the functional currency
Exchange adjustment arising on

translation of functional currency to
presentation currency and recorded in

other comprehensive income

Balance at end of the year

Analysed for reporting as:
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Difference between carrying amount
and maturity amount:
3 extended Convertible Bond
at fair value
Amount payable on maturity

REH 2 8
REBmANGRZ A HEES

BEINETHE 2 5 = IREH
ARBEFREER 2
E1E (W)

BENEEEREINEEE
EEWF AR 2R
ZIE N AR

BEIR
/)Ib@]ﬁfﬁ
FRBABE

FREERIMEE 2 Z5R ¢

BAVEFEZFE=
Al A
REHRS R £ 58

IRIERR

None of the 3 extended Convertible Bond had been converted
into ordinary shares of the Company during the years ended 31

March 2019 and 2018.

2019 2018
—B-hEF AGE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
247,242 261,616
(29,373) (14,374)
16,340 (23,569)
(16,340) 23,569
217,869 247,242
217,869 -
- 247,242
217,869 247,242
217,869 247,242
(200,000) (200,000
17,869 47,242
BE_Z-NFR-Z-N\F=A

=+ RILEFE  SEF =R
BREFEESRASANNR LA

o=l
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27. PROVISION FOR CLOSE DOWN, RESTORATION

AND ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

27. @R - BERBRERANBRE

HK$’000

FHT

As at 1 April 2017 RZE—+tFHEA—H 2,802

Exchange difference fEH =58 272
As at 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 RZE-—NF=A=+—8K

—E-N\FHA—A 3,074

Exchange difference [N =5 (204)

As at 31 March 2019 RZE-—NF=A=+—H 2,870

Mining activities may result in land subsidence or damage,
which could lead to losses to the residents of the mining areas.
Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations, the Group is required
to make compensation payments to the residents for their
losses resulting from land subsidence or damage, or to restore
the mining areas back to certain acceptable conditions.

Under existing legislation, the directors of the Company
believe that there are no probable liabilities that will have a
material adverse effect on the financial position or results of
operations of the Group. The PRC government, however, has
moved and may move further towards the adoption of more
stringent environmental standards. Environmental liabilities
are subject to considerable uncertainties which affect the
Group’s ability to estimate the ultimate cost of remediation
efforts. These uncertainties include: (i) the exact nature and
extent of the contamination at various sites including, but not
limited to, coal mines and land development areas, whether
operating, closed or sold; (i) the extent of required cleanup
efforts; (i) varying costs of alternative remediation strategies; (iv)
changes in environmental remediation requirements; and (v) the
identification of new remediation sites.
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27.

28.

PROVISION FOR CLOSE DOWN, RESTORATION 27. B - AR RBER AR E
AND ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS (continued) (&)
The provision for close down, restoration and environmental AAREFERBREBEILR KLY
clean up costs has been determined by the directors of the RKRFASZ 2 &EME - BBAETERA
Company based on their past experience and best estimate of YRR EHESFEMETHERA - &8
future expenditure by discounting the expected expenditures BRIRFFEKAEME - A RE
to their net present value. However, in so far as the effect on B AR B A XZiiﬂ&iﬁ e
the land and the environment from current mining activities RIS EE H'H‘H A Z
becomes apparent in future periods, the estimate of the HET BN AR RIEREET - BLEAET -
associated costs may be subject to revision in the future. The 1R R IBEE EEWﬁd’hZﬁé‘ﬁ?t&
amounts provided in relation to close down, restoration and BEREERERZEENBAME
environmental clean up costs are reviewed at least annually B - WARMEE R o
based upon the facts and circumstances available at the time
and the provisions are updated accordingly.
DEFERRED TAX 28. EIEBIIA
Deferred tax assets BERIEEE
The following are the major deferred tax asset recognised and BRIMBARSHEZERRETER
its movement during the current and prior reporting periods: EFIBEENESSHIOT -
Accrued expenses
EtER
HK$'000
THET
As at 1 April 2017 RZE—+FMHA—H 6,663
Exchange realignment e 3, 58 B 647
As at 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 RZZE—N\F=A=+—HBK
—N\FHmEA—A 7,310
Exchange realignment fE 3 % (484)
As at 31 March 2019 R=-B-h&E=A=+—H 6,826
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28. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 28. IEERIIE(E)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised ERRBAREHE EEREEER
and their movements during the current and prior reporting EFRITHE E M AT ¢
periods:
Intangible
assets Inventories Total
BREE 7E B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THET TEL
Asat 1 April 2017 R-Z—+5mA—H 9,447 5,133 14,580
Exchange realignment B 34, % 704 216 920
Credit to profit or loss for the year HAFENER (4,377) (5,753) (10,130)

As at 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 R-E—-\E=A=+—H

R=ZE-\FNA—HA 5774 (404) 5,370
Exchange realignment B 3% (381) 26 (355)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 32) WeEE BB A R (H97E32) 387 - 387
Charge/(Credit) to profit or loss for the year  RERBR /(5T A) (1,169) 967 (198)
As at 31 March 2019 R-ZE-n&E=A=+-H 4,615 589 5,204
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and MERENME  ETELHRBEE
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of FBECRGEATGIR A RANIE -
financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax FETEIRE B M = MELEH B
balances for financial reporting purposes: DT -

2019 2018

—B-hE —T-N\F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHT FHET

Net deferred tax assets EERIBEE SR 2,009 1,940
Net deferred tax liabilities AT IE B & 558 (387) -
1,622 1,940
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28. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 28. ELEBIIE(E)
Deferred tax liabilities (continued) EEFRIEEE(E)
Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is payable BIEDPEHMERSRE  B-2F
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC F—A—H#E  SRPEEEA T,ﬁvt
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation HPTERE 2% 7 i 5k 2 A% S EUITE
has not been provided for in the consolidated financial B - Ep A BB A R RETER
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable T m F FE (L 27 B RS =58 49184,688,000
to the accumulated taxable profits of the PRC subsidiaries B (ZZ—/\F : 49167,764,0007%
amounting to approximately HK$184,688,000 (2018: T0)RER A B ISR R 1 B IR T T TE
approximately HK$167,764,000) as the Group is able to control - JHR ZNEE [E Bl ) B o] B S = %E
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is ZEE - BABREREENA RiEK
probable that the temporary differences will not be reversed in TARATREREE] o
the foreseeable future.

29. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 29. HttEEREFR
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities METHELENEEEE
Details of the changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing AREERERMETHNEEEHFS
activities are as follows: NN

Non-cash changes
FRe89
Translation of Translation
convertible  from functional
bond into currency to
Asat Net cash Changein functional presentation Asat
1 April 2018 flows fair value currency currency 31 March 2019
H=8-N\% Réng AVE BETERRS BEREER  RoE-aE
BA-A 28 AUNEW  A25ig%  ZA=t-A
HK$000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
Thn Thn TR TARL TAn TAn
Year ended 31 March 2019 BE-R-nEzA=t-H
%34
Interest-bearing borrowings dHEfRE - 68,417 - - 1) 68,345
Convertble bond designated as EEARATESR
financialliabilfies at FVPL TEERAER
SRR THRES 247,24 (29373) 16,340 (16,340) 217,869
247,242 68,417 (29373 16,340 (16,412) 286,14
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %4 & B 18R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-Z-NF=A=+—-HLEE

29. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) 29. HiWBEREGSE(HE)
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities MEITHELENEEEH(E)
(continued)

Non-cash changes
FReEH
Tranglation Tranglation
of convertible  from functional
bond into currency to
Asat Net cash Change in functional presentation Asat
1 April 2017 flows fair value currency currency 31 March 2018
WE-tF BEMERES  BEDREE  RCE0E
BA-B  RERERE  LVEE®  BUEEY  AREIRE ZR=1-E
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS'000
TR Tk T ThR Th TR
Year ended 31 March 2018 BE-E-N\EZRA=1-R
[2:3:4
Convertble bond designated as REARATEIETEERR
financil il at FVPL REERAE TARES %1616 - (14,374 (23,569) 23,560 247,042
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30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 30. £ TH
(@) Categories of financial instruments (@) =@mTEHEH
2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FET
Loans and receivables: B EWGRIE
Trade and other receivables JE U & R N E A Y SR IR - 3,123
Security deposit RiEEE - 5,048
Restricted bank balances TR HSRITAER — -
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEIAR = 440,437
- 448,608
Financial assets measured at R ERAGTE 2
amortised cost: EREE
Trade and other receivables JE W R N B FE U IR 6,614 -
Security deposit REES 5,506 -
Restricted bank balances ZIR BRI TAE R 77,612 -
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEIAR 278,814 -
368,546 -
Financial assets measured at FVPL BAEY BRI EIESNE
Bre@MEE 60,236 -
Financial liabilities measured at BB EKAFTEZ
amortised cost: cRBaE
Trade and other payables FERTE R R E At FE T 3B 21,405 21,954
Interest-bearing borrowings AEEE 68,345 -
89,750 21,954
Financial liabilities designated as T ARA T EY R EE
at FVPL: TNEREZEREE
Convertible bond BT 217,869 247,242
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include security
deposit, financial assets measured at FVPL, trade and
other receivables, restricted bank balances, cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other payables, interest-
bearing borrowings and convertible bond. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The directors
of the Company manage and monitor these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign
currency expenditures, which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. The Group does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the directors of the Company
monitor foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

Certain receivables, cash and cash equivalents, payables
and convertible bond of the Group are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the group
entity to which they relate.

The following table shows the Group’s exposure at the
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate.

30. &R TR (&)

(b)

4%
ail

Assets
Liabilities
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NEEZTSREE BERERK
H i & WRIR - R IR BIRTTHE
% HEMReFEER - B
ERNEMEMNFA - G EEE
AR ARRIES - ZF SR T A
FHERBAARM T RE - BZF
TR TAMERZAREEM SR
@ (E¥ER - AR R R ER
R)  EERRERBE SR
B o Al PR F R 2 ER SR B
RTEX - ARREZFEENER
ZER - DATEGR KB BA R
REVEEHEIE

B
AREETHEBRARAINER
X SAREEEZINERR o K
KB EALAINEEIPBR - R
o ARBEEERIMNERR -
WRAHEEEELINEAINE
R o

REEETREFR - REe KA
SHEER - EBNFERARER
BEFONEEERE 2 HRMER
BN EHEEHE -

TRETARENREMEER
A S ERARE BRI EES
Moz BB BESRAEM
ErcTERE -

2019 2018

S e ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT Tt
133,675 155,044
(221,018) (248,388)
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The group entities are mainly exposed to foreign currency
risk of HKS.

The following table details the group entities’ sensitivity
to a 10% (2018: 10%) increase and decrease in HK$
against each group entity’s functional currency. 10%
(2018: 10%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the year end for a 10% (2018: 10%) change
in foreign currency rates. A negative number below
indicates a decrease in profit for the year and increase
in accumulated losses of the Group (2018: decrease in
profit for the year and increase in accumulated losses of
the Group) where each group entity’s functional currency
weaken 10% (2018: 10%) against HK$. For a 10% (2018:
10%) strengthening of each group entity’s functional
currency against HK$, there would be an equal and
opposite impact.

. TEMITAE)

(b)

Profit or loss and accumulated losses

Mk B R K RETER

BHERREEBZERBEEK
(IIE)

Empg (&)

HRBE ST
SEERIFEATBTLZINER

A
PR

o

TRAVNNEBEEEHETLE

EﬁgzmabiaMZE%ﬂﬁﬁt
10%(=ZZ—/\F 1 10%) 2§

8 o 10%(—ZF—/\4F : 10%)5
MEZERA BRI ERINER
ST RRELL R - WIEE R
B INETER AT gE S IB B E) 2 5T
iy o BURE D ITEBIEAINEFT
BZAREEEBIEE - WHIMNE
EERZ10%(—ZF—\F : 10%)
FBERFAENFRIBRE - B85
EER e ER LB TRE
10%(ZZF—N\F 10%)F -~
REAYBERAERFT N FRE D
M EFEEEM =T —\F
AEBFRNZFRD RETE
BIEM) - WEEEEB I
BB THEI0ONR(ZE— N
F:10%) - BB EMRER
MRER 22 -

2019 2018
=t S e G
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(8,734) (9,334)
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to bank balances, restricted bank balances,
security deposit, financial assets measured at FVPL and
interest-bearing borrowings carried at prevailing market
rate. The Group has not used any derivative contracts to
hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. The Group has not
formulated a policy to manage the interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
instruments at the end of reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding
at the end of reporting period were outstanding for the
whole year.

If interest rate had been 0.5% (2018: 0.5%) higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2019 would
increase and accumulated losses as at the reporting date
would decrease by approximately HK$1,247,000 (2018:
increase the Group’s profit and decrease accumulated
losses by approximately HK$786,000). This was mainly
attributable to the exposure to interest rates on its
variable-rate bank balances of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Equity price risk

The Group was required to estimate the fair value of the
Convertible Bond (see Note 26) at the end of the reporting
period with changes in fair value to be recognised in the
profit or loss. The fair value adjustment would be affected
either positively or negatively, amongst others, by the
changes in the Company’s share market price.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below had been determined based
on the exposure to the Company’s share price risk at
the reporting date only. If the Company’s share price
had been 5% (2018: 5%) higher and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the
year (as a result of changes in fair value of the convertible
bond) would decrease and accumulated losses would
increase by approximately HK$5,803,000 (2018: the
Group’s post-tax profit for the year would decrease and
accumulated losses would increase by approximately
HK$5,411,000) during the year ended 31 March 2019.
If the input of share price to the valuation model of the
derivatives embedded in the convertible bond had been
5% lower while all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s post-tax profit for the year (as a result of changes
in fair value of convertible bond) would increase and
accumulated losses would decrease by approximately
HK$4,010,000 (2018: the Group’s post-tax profit for
the year would increase and accumulated losses would
decrease approximately HK$6,697,000) during the year
ended 31 March 2019.

. ERTIA(E)

(b)

BHERBREEERERBE
(%)

RAE1S E
REBAERRE BREEREEFT
B ER (RHTE26) 2 AF
B TRBmAEREQFEE
8 - AHEABRGZ (AR ERE)
ARRROHEZSH ZEmKRE
EEE -

BREAT

TRGBE IR AR TR

wma%%%XZMFHMf
AR A TRIE L FE%(—F

TNE o) - mAA R

@R AEERBE-T

—hWFZAZ+—BHULFEZF
WBR T 5% F (ThIR B o] R (E
HFZANFEEH)E TSR MA
=1 E5 18 15 3% hn 495,803,000 JT
ZE-)N\F  AEENFAK
B D & 2T E 1B
495,411,000 7T) © it AT #2 A%
BEEANSITETAGEEREEH
Z IR (B &8 AR 5% - AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

. TRMITAE)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HBEBREEEEREE
policies (continued) (4&)
Liquidity risk TEE
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group MEERESESREMMES A&

monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the directors of the
Company to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The
tables have been drawn up based on the contractual
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash

@m%‘]:fﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁfﬁ %E
BHERAR 7%$ulu\ﬁiy’]27k
o #I$%.¥f2¥%'f#{i§$ TR
VIS MERB 2 TE

TR|FEAEEERHABERBRE

MEIBA 2715 - BRASIKRTD
ENAEERRARRZ&TFH
B RESBABEISOREA
RenEmmz - JIERHEFE
REERGRE -

flows.

More than
Within 1 year but Total
1yearor  lessthan 2years undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2years to5years cash flows amount
—Fps  BB-F KBRS
EEX BIRWFE WMFELF  REAE REE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL THT TAL
As at 31 March 2019 R=B-hnF=p=t-H
Trade and other payables ERET RN FE 21,405 - = 21,405 21,405
Interest-bearing borrowings (Note) s EMEE () 68,345 - - 68,345 68,345
Convertible bond designated as BT ARLTEYIRTE
financial liabillies at FVPL BRARE SHAE
LARRES 200,000 - - 200,000 217,869
289,750 - - 289,750 307,619
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30. €T AE(E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) BHEREEEEREEK
policies (continued) (48)
Liquidity risk (continued) FEESER ()
More than
Within-~ 1 year but Total
1 year or less than 2 years undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2years  tobyears  cashflows amount
—ER%  BEF AERRE

EEk EIRMF MFERF  REER BEE
HK§'000  HK$000 ~ HKE000  HK§'000  HK$'000
TR TR TR AL ThL

As at 31 March 2018 R-E-NE=ZA=1+-H
Trade and other payables [ENET R EM IR 21,954 - - 21,954 21,954
Convertible bond designated as BEARLTEIRLE
financial liabillies at FVPL BRRRE eRaE
ZhRES - 200,000 - 200000 247,242
21,954 200,000 - 221,954 269,196
Note: The amounts repayable under bank loan agreements that ek« BIER FIRIT G FRER UL
include a clause that gives the bank an unconditional right EENBRZEBTERHEE
to call the borrowings at any time are classified under the TEESZZE EA—FERN
category of “within 1 year or on demand”. However, the HEER | AT AEBEEE
management of the Group does not expect that the bank EERT R e T REE L

would exercise such right to demand the repayment and thus,
the borrowings, which included the related interest, would be
repaid according to the below schedule as set out in the bank
loan agreements as follow:

BEHER - Rt B1EHERE
MEEARMERBIZRRITE
TR P A A T B R R T A

B& -
More than
Within 1 year but Total
1 year or less than  undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2 years cash flows amount
—ERF BE-F AERRE
EZER BLRAME REAH REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAET TET TAET
As at 31 March 2019 RZB-AF=A=1+-H
Interest-bearing borrowings SEEE 5,536 67,596 73,132 68,345
As at 31 March 2018 RZB-\F=ZA=t-H
Interest-bearing borrowings TEEE - - - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position, which is net
of impairment losses, represents the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk without taking into account the
value of any collateral held or other credit enhancements.

Trade and bills receivables

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

In estimating the ECL, the Group has taken into account
the historical actual credit loss experience over the past
three years and available press information, adjusted for
forward-looking factors that are specific to the debtors
and general economic conditions of the industry in
which the counterparties operate, in estimating the
probability of default of these financial assets, as well
as the loss upon default in each case. The directors of
the Company consider the ECL of these financial assets
to be insignificant after taking into account the financial
position and credit quality of the counterparties. Since the
Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. The credit
risk in respect of trade and bills receivables is insignificant
as the Group’s sales to coal customers are largely done
on payment in advance basis. Further quantitative data
in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising
from trade receivables are disclosed in Note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Other receivables

The Group considers that the other receivables have
low credit risk based on the borrowers’ strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term and low risk of default. No impairment on the other
receivables is recognised based on the measurement on
12-month ECL.

Security deposit, financial assets measured at FVPL,
restricted bank balances and cash and cash equivalents

The Group considers the credit risk in respect of security
deposit, financial assets measured at FVPL, restricted
bank balances and cash and cash equivalents is minimal
because the counter-parties are authorised financial
institutions with high credit ratings.

Fair value measurements

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried amortised cost are not materially different from
their fair values as at 31 March 2019 and 2018.

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair
Value Measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

° Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the Group can access at the measurement date

30. &R TR (&)

(b)

BHERBREEERERBE
(%)

EEmEp (&)

H fb JEW IR
HRMERARBHEE S ATR
MHAETEANAESRESR
ERRENENRR - BHAEE
RREMERIANEERREK
K - SIERIETE+ @A EH
15 & 155 18 1 5% HL A 1l W SR TRURL
8-

wRERT ~ BN FESIFLER
wABEZTHEE - IRFIR
TR RAT R AT FEHA
AEERREBRERSE  BA
FERIAERRAEEZ S/
BE  XRHFBITERMRE R
ReHEBRANERERARMTHE
W AREFHAEESRES
MRS RIS

AFEIHE
AREABEFRATIRZ BT
A7 BEERR-F-NFR
T \F=A=t+-AZATE
LREXHT -

TREVNAEBERTAZRAY
B RIS SREERIREE
MREZ NFEE - UDER
FEMBREERF3R [2F
EBitE |IFIREZ=MAVFERE
Ao BAVEFENEZEFRTY
B2EMTEETEMBR AR
BZABRENBEEMRERERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Fair value measurements (continued)

° Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly

° Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability

The Group uses an independent valuer to perform
valuations of financial instruments which are categorised
into Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
Valuation reports with analysis of changes in fair value
measurement are prepared by the independent valuer at
each interim and annual reporting date, and are reviewed
and approved by the financial controller. Discussion of the
valuation process and results with the financial controller
is held twice a year to coincide with the reporting dates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-Z-NF=A=+—-HLEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and (b)

policies (continued)
Fair value measurements (continued)

. EWMTE(E)
?ﬂﬁ)%ﬂlzﬁrqﬁ =
NFEFTE(E)

2R BUR

Fair value measurements categorised into

AL EFESE
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
AFE E—H/ - ot 11} E=H
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHT FET THET
As at 31 March 2019 R-ZE—IEF
=A=+-—H
Recurring fair value BEMAFETE
measurements
Financial assets measured BN FEYERITIE
at FVPL BRANERE s
BhEE
Principal Guaranteed Funds ~ {RZAE % 60,236 - 60,236 =
Financial liabilities designated  #§7& &A1& A F{E7
as at FVPL BRI FE B E N
BrzemAE
Convertible bond designated 185 &% A A7
as financial liabilities at FVPL BRIV /E 1B 25 N
Bremaie
AR (E & 217,869 - - 217,869
As at 31 March 2018 R-ZB—-NE
=A=+-—H
Recurring fair value REMEATETE
measurements
Financial liabilities designated 1§ E?%?*’“EFTEEIJ
as at FVPL BRI EIB R NEE
Bre@asE
Convertible bond designated 57 &R A &7
as financial liabilities at FVPL ~ BRIF7E B35 MR
BrzemBEZ
AR E S 247,242 - - 247,242
During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, HE—ZT— ﬂi&_? —NE=
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or A=1+—BItFE  F—HEFE
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to ZH o B EER  oiE A Sk

recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy HE=
as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

The fair value of the principal Guaranted Funds is
determined by reference to the price quoted by the bank
at initial subscription and adjusted for any change in
relevant interest rates credit rating and/or holding period
of the Principal Guaranted Funds, if the impact is material.

A o NEE 2 BER SR
R B AR PRE L 2 N
BEMRZERESR -

RAES Y AT EHSERITH
¥ AR 2 BIEEE - A
CHESCEET Ve s <
R A R (B B B K) 2
llllll SEYE(THE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Fair value measurements (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

The fair value of the convertible bond is determined
with reference to the fair value of the liability component
and conversion option component, calculated using
discounted cash flows and binomial model, respectively.
The assumptions adopted for the valuation of the
convertible bond are as follows:

(i) The estimation of risk free rate has made reference
to the yield of Exchange Fund Bill with same
duration as the convertible bond;

(i) The estimation of volatility for the underlying share
price has considered the historical price movements
of the Company;

@iy  The discount rate was determined based on the
Company’s credit rating and comparable corporate
bonds with similar maturity and credit risk for which
the range of comparable yield to maturity as of date
of valuation was determined and the median has
been adopted; and

(iv)  The estimation of dividend yield is based on
historical dividend payment of the Company.

Major parameters adopted in the calculation of the fair
value are summarised below:

30. &R TR (&)

(b)

Stock price p&E
Exercise price 118
Risk free rate £ [ e R 2
Discount rate BRIR &
Dividend yield d=
Time to expiration B HARE S
Stock price volatility BB R IE
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RF(ERE ()
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g MR D RRRR R S
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Rz R

0 EERERANKRTI2EFHE
AR (& 25 AR [R) 2 S EE
& REWaEE

() ERRRES IR (5B
RARRFZ BEEREED

(iy BAEEDREBEARRZE
B & A& BB B
AREERRZJELR
NEEFMEBETE A&
HERARESEME B E
ERBERZ A& ERE
Bk EE - T E RS
Brh A - K

vy BREERZMEFHTDIERER
ATz RBIRAT

AEQFEMRAZTE2HH
(P ulNE

As at As at

YRV ETC Rl 31 March 2018
REZ-—NF ESmEaayis
ZA=1—FH =t
HK$0.24 HK$0.42
HK$0.20 HK$0.20
1.44% 1.35%
9.40% 7.62%

0% 0%

0.95 years 1.95 years
64.00% 65.46%



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Fair value measurements (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
(continued)

The significant unobservable input used in the fair value
measurement is expected stock price volatility. The
fair value measurement is positively correlated to the
expected stock price volatility. If the expected stock price
volatility has been 5% (2018: 5%) higher with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s profit for the year
would decrease and accumulated losses would increase
by approximately HK$3,080,000 (2018: decrease in
the Group’s profit and increase accumulated losses by
approximately HK$597,000) during the year ended 31
March 2019. If the expected stock price volatility has
been 5% lower with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s profit for the year would increase and
accumulated losses would decrease by approximately
HK$3,048,000 (2018: increase in the Group’s profit
and decreased in accumulated losses by approximately
HK$1,863,000) during the year ended 31 March 2019.

30. &R TR (&)

(b)

HERREREREREEK

(%)

AFEHE ()
EBE=RAFEFEZEH
()

ANEEFERAZEATAE
R AR ATEHIRE KR - A
FEF 2 ETE R E IR 2 1EE
B o WIEERRE R IR T =5% (=
T—)\F : 5%) - AT EMmE
H@FIE  AAEEREZEZ
T-hFZR=+—HIEFEEZ
FREFER A - R EE
H1493,080,0005 7T ( —ZZE— N\
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BB ¥ AN47597,0008 7T ) © i
TEHINR BRI FIES% - MATA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-Z-NF=A=+—-HLEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30.

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Fair value measurements (continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements
The movement during the year in the balance of financial
liability of Level 3 fair value measurements is set out in
Note 26.

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31.

(a) Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the significant related party
transactions are as follows:

T E(E)
b) HBEBREEEEREE

BAE

(@)

China Sonangol International Limited ZHER A BERA R
(“China Sonangol”) (Note i) (2R BIRR J) (P D)
— rental expenses (Note i) — e F I (FIH)
Notes:

(i) China Sonangol is an intermediate holding company of the
Company.

(ii) Operating lease commitment for future minimum lease

payments under non-cancellable operating lease with China
Sonangol was Nil (2018: approximately HK$630,000).
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RF(ER B (E)
BRIE=R L FlEAEZHK
FE=-MAVEFEZZRBES
Bz FNE B E T ME26

AERS
BRiR & MR BB PA IR
BN BEXEEALRZIT ¢

2019 2018
—E2-hF —EN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TRT THET

630 840

GEX

) ZHBEBRAARE 2PN ER

A7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 31. BEALRZ (&)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel (b) TEZEAEME
The remuneration of directors and other members of key FAESZNEMTESIERERE
management personnel during the year is as follows: ZEHMNT

2019 2018
—B-hE —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET

Basic salaries, allowances and other EAFH S - AL R E b2 Hi

short-term employee benefits EE®RF 4,414 4,527
Contributions to defined FERRHLRE BIHR
contribution plan 45 56
4,459 4,583
The remuneration of directors was determined by EETMhTNEE e LXRES
the remuneration committee having regard to the ZEARBETISBEBET -

performance of individuals and market trends.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NE=A=+—BLLEE

32. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 32. WEBHMEAT

On 10 August 2018, Radiant Day, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with NEFIN Holding Limited and Mr. Lim Hong
Teo (together referred to as the “Vendors”), pursuant to which
Radiant Day agreed to purchase, and the Vendors agreed to
sell 90% equity interest in NEFIN Leasing and its wholly-owned
subsidiary at an aggregate consideration of US$1,350,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$10,530,000). The Vendors
have jointly and severally guaranteed that the annual result of
NEFIN Technology for the years ending 30 September 2019,
2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023 would not be less than 5% of the
consideration, i.e. approximately HK$527,000 per annum. The
transaction completed on 8 October 2018 as all conditions in
the sale and purchase agreement were fulfilled.

NEFIN Group is principally engaged in renewable energy solutions
and solar farm development in Malaysia. The directors of the
Company are of the view that the acquisition will further enhance
the Group’s expansion of innovative and renewable energy
business. The acquisition constituted a business combination
and had been accounted for using the acquisition method under
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations.

The following summarises the consideration paid and the
amounts of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed of NEFIN
Group at the date of acquisition:

RZE—NFNA+TAH  BB(K
RAzEE2ENB A G) ENEFIN
Holding Limited K 7R %8 % 4 (4518 &
[EF DI EEW# @ Bt - BAE
BHEREKEME A BRERELE
e REERE 2B E R F190%H)
fEHE - R (EA1,350,000% T (HHE
M #4710,530,000%8 70) - B £E &
& Bl #£ R NEFIN Technology# & — =
—NEF - ZEZTF - ZFT=—F -
TE R -TE_=FAA=FH
LEFERNEFEESTMRARENS%
(BN 49527,000/87C) - HREEW
HATRTANM B RH B EERK - i)
ZREGN_E—N\F+AN\BHZK °

HEEREENFRATE BN ERBE
BERARRTT RN KIG AL B BUAFI X
o NRRERERR - WEEER/ME—
ISR AR B 2 8% N Al B AR
E71%5 o WBESRBREBAM - WkR
BEBMERE LR FEIREHS S IR
SR YN

PATN St 37 g R S M g B R E
REMFABABENAEREDRE

HK$’000
FAT
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets  FiAABBIEER
acquired and liabilities assumed: FREEEZ RIS
Property, plant and equipment VI - B MR 5,636
Intangible assets mVEE
— renewable energy service contract — A BAERRIRIEE D 1,618
Bank balances and cash RITHER LIRS 207
Trade and other receivables JE WU R B EAth FE W R IR 353
Deferred tax liabilities RIETRIEEE (387)
Trade and other payables FETE R R E At FE A FUIE (93)
Total identifiable net assets AR EEFEEARE 7,334
Non-controlling interests IR (1,083)
Gooduwill arising on acquisition WEEEEZEE 4,229
Total consideration BRE 10,530
Satisfied by: YRR
Cash RE 10,530
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32. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Analysis of the net cash outflow in respect of the acquisition of
NEFIN Group is as follows:

32. WEEKHE AR (&)

MBI REB 2B SR FED
MraaT

HK$’000

FAET

Cash and cash equivalents acquired BEESHREREEEBEIAR 207
Cash paid BEfRE (10,530)
(10,323)

The directors of the Company have engaged Roma to
provide assistance in determining the fair value of the assets
and liabilities of NEFIN Group. Roma has reviewed the
methodologies, the key valuation parameters and business
assumptions adopted.

The non-controlling interests were measured at the present
ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of NEFIN Group’s identifiable net assets as at 8
October 2018.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition is attributable to the
growth and profit potential in the expansion of innovative and
renewable energy business. None of the goodwill recognised is
expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

ARAERERBESEDETHER
SEEERABRZIRAFE - EFEH
FREREREV A~ B2 BUARE
EREFETEZ °

RS TR IR A T AR
Pl b RERER — T~ \F+ A
NBZAHEBEEFREZCHERTE

5HE -

WEEHEES ZEETANEIF LA
BARREGRERER MEE R AT
B - TRHIN B O R B A A AR
FSHE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-Z-NF=A=+—-HLEE

32. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Since acquisition and up to 31 March 2019, the acquired
business has contributed revenue of approximate HK$391,000
and contributed a loss of approximately HK$45,000 to the
Group.

If the business combinations effected during the year ended
31 March 2019 had been taken place as at 1 April 2018,
the revenue and profits of the Group would be increased by
approximately HK$587,000 and decreased by approximately
HK$83,000, respectively.

33. COMMITMENTS
Capital expenditure commitments

32. WNEBHIB AT (&)
BURBUEREEE - AFE=A
=+—H UBEBSAREEK
%5 B B 49391,00078 7T & B BB 1B 4
45,0007 7T °

WREE—T-NAF=A=t—H81t
FEEMZEBAHN-ZT—\FNO
A—H#%LE  AARKE W g A
75 20 Bll3E b0 Ko Rk > #)587,00078 TT K 4

Contracted but not provided net of
deposit paid for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment

Commitments under operating lease

The Group as lessee

The Group leases certain of its offices, warehouse and staff
quarters under operating lease arrangements. Lease for
properties are negotiated for a term ranging from one to two
years and rental are fixed.

At the end of reporting period, the Group had commitments
for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases which fall due as follows:

EATHME AR (FNER BB
% BEERBENZESR)

83,0008 T °
33. &iE
B ARG AIE
2019 2018
STy - -
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
13,993 1,389
RETREIRIE
FREFELERHAN

AEERELEHERHFHEABE TS
THAZE - RERBIES - %FY
EZHBEHAEN T —FEMFEL
% HMLEFE -

R s HREAERE - AEBERESA
B EHEMN R RN 2 &RIEHE
ERTEASERIAT BRI E -

—FR

Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive
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F_EFLF(BREEMF)

2019 2018
S8 ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
T T
1,211 1,181
1,725 40
2,936 1,221
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33.

34.

COMMITMENTS (continued)

Commitments under operating lease (continued)

The Group as lessor

The Group leases out certain of its offices under operating lease
arrangements. Lease for properties are negotiated for a term
ranging from one year and rental are fixed.

At the end of reporting period, the Group had future aggregate
minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable operating leases
in respect of its properties as follows:

33.

AIE (&)

mERERE(E)
FEEERHEA
AEERBELEHELHFLEBE TS
THAE - ZEWMEZHPLHERR
R—F BH2EE -

K& HREAERE - AEEREYE
AR R HEH AR 2 M & T 7 AR SR UCER
ZRIEHEREMT

—FR

Within one year

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT PLAN
The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions
to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 in total.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are
members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC government. The retirement scheme
contributions, which are based on a certain percentage of
the salaries of the PRC subsidiaries’ employees, are charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the year to which they are related
and represented the amount of contributions payable by these
subsidiaries to this scheme.

The total cost charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of approximately
HK$1,034,000 (2018: approximately HK$1,006,000)
represents contributions payable to the schemes by the Group
in respect of the current financial year.

34.

2019 2018

S el —=\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FA

= 130

EREHFCRRETE

AREBREAEHERTESENED A
XEBRBIENEE 2 ZIEREB &P
—IATEBEETCRTIEATESTE (8
EestEl]) - calEet 2 A —BEAB
URFAANERZ EEEFURAKEE -
BIEAEESTE BEEREREESH
AR RS RBAWAS% MR - &
=& AEBERAS % A30,000%5 7T °
STEIE AN ERS o

AR BER BIR L 2 Y A B B
BT & 2 B E IR R 8l 2
A8 o RIREHBIE SR IET BB A
AEEZHFEETAILFE IR
HHEAFEERARENEMEE
Wk NI - BERRLEHE QR
e T %IRRT &l 2 AR B R

PR A B & H A2 W aE & 0Bk
2 #ER AR #71,084,0008 L ( —F— N\
£ : #91,006,0007% 7T ) 45 A & B gt AN
P RFEERZEBIEN 2 7K o
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35. COMPANY LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 35. ARTRAFEEZHBARR K
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZT-N\F
Noms HK$’000 HK$'000
BsE FET FHEL
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ERN R 246 105
Investments in subsidiaries REERRZRE 16 = -
246 105
Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries A ENGIE R 16 164,544 153,870
Other receivables Hbe s 4,345 424
Cash and cash equivalents He RESEEER 129,056 154,620
297,945 308,914
Current liabilities mEEE
Convertible bond designated as BT AEATEYR 26
financial liabilities at FVPL UEBRAEE
TRAEZIBKRES 217,869 -
Other payables and accruals Hi N IBREFER 3,077 1,146
220,946 1,146
Net current assets RBEEFE 76,999 307,768
Total assets less current liabilites @AEERFDER 77,245 307,873
Capital and reserves R R
Share capital R 25 76,537 76,537
Reserves &1 25 708 (15,906)
Total equity R 77,245 60,631
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Convertible bond designated as B BIRATEIRLEE 26
financial liabilities at FVPL BmNEEZERAEZA
BRES = 247,242
77,245 307,873
This statement of financial position was approved and KRB EARRER —E—HENXA -+
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 June 2019 BHRESeHERERETIE - SWhI
and signed on its behalf by TATREZEZ
Kwan Man Fai Wang Xiangfei
X E EAR
Director Director
E=2 =2
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36. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued the following amendments
and new standards which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 March 2019 and relevant to the Group and which
have not been early adopted in these consolidated financial
statements:

Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle 11

to HKFRSs
HKFRS 16 Leases'
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments!
Amendments to HKAS 19 Employee Benefits’

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation’
Amendments to HKASs 1 Definition of Material?
and 8
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

8 Effective to acquisitions occur on or after the beginning of the first
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020

36. RBE=-ZE—h&E=A=+—

HiEFEEEMERRERZ
1E5] - MR EARREBZER
=2
BEZFHRAPHHRETIEZA - &
AR AGEEM TIIRBE=F
—NE=ZA=+—BLEFERREX
NEARNEEBREZIER] R ER -
Mz SR BN % FhR A M B wEK
ERRFRA -

RN BRSE —E-1%%
ZFEh I FRY

BBEE RS A e
F1657

BE(ERIBERER  EHTRTE
BZE%9) 2R
—REE0H

ERGHENE1%z EBEREH
CHES

ERRBHRE RN AsRAEEZEN
WAL HEER

BREHEAFIRLE BEAZER?
8 IERIAR

BAMBREEAENNR FHER
ZIEFIA

! RZZ-NF-A—-BHZRFAKZF
ERAR AR

2 RN-Z_FF-A—-BHZRABZF
EERAER

8 R-ZB-_TF-A-HAZRREHRZE
(BRI BRI L
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36. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 3. RBE=-E—INLF=A=+—

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

As disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
currently the Group classifies leases into finance leases and
operating leases and accounts for the lease arrangements
differently, depending on the classification of the lease. The
Group enters into some leases as the lessor and others as the
lessee.

HKFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly on the way
that lessors account for their rights and obligations under
a lease. However, once HKFRS 16 is adopted, lessees will
no longer distinguish between finance leases and operating
leases. Instead, subject to practical expedients, lessees will
account for all leases in a similar way to current finance lease
accounting, i.e. at the commencement date of the lease the
lessee will recognise and measure a lease liability at the present
value of the minimum future lease payments and will recognise
a corresponding “right-of-use” asset. After initial recognition of
this asset and liability, the lessee will recognise interest expense
accrued on the outstanding balance of the lease liability, and
the depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of the current
policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under operating
leases on a systematic basis over the lease term. As a practical
expedient, the lessee can elect not to apply this accounting
model to short-term leases (i.e. where the lease term is 12
months or less) and to leases of low-value assets, in which
case the rental expenses would continue to be recognised on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED & REXER AT
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36.

37.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group’s accounting as a
lessee of leases for properties, plant and equipment which
are currently classified as operating leases. The application of
the new accounting model is expected to lead to an increase
in both assets and liabilities and to impact on the timing of
the expense recognition in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and the comprehensive income over the period
of the lease. As disclosed in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements, as at 31 March 2019 the Group’s future
minimum lease payments as a lessee under non-cancellable
operating leases amount to approximately HK$2,936,000
(2018: approximately HK$1,221,000), the majority of which is
payable either between 1 to 2 years after the reporting date.
Some of these amounts may therefore need to be recognised
as lease liabilities, with corresponding right-of-use assets, once
HKFRS 16 is adopted. The Group will need to perform a more
detailed analysis to determine the amounts of new assets and
liabilities arising from operating lease commitments on adoption
of HKFRS 16, after taking into account the applicability of the
practical expedient and adjusting for any leases entered into or
terminated between now and the adoption of HKFRS 16 and
the effects of discounting.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 11 March 2019, Ample Talent, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party, pursuant to which
the vendor has conditionally agreed to sell, and Ample Talent
has conditionally agreed to purchase 80% equity interest
in Harbour Group Holdings Limited (“Harbour Group”) and
its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Target Group”),
at an aggregate consideration of HK$35,712,000; and (ii)
Ample Talent and Harbour Group entered into a subscription
agreement, pursuant to which Harbour Group has conditionally
agreed to issue and allot to Ample Talent, and Ample Talent
has conditionally agreed to subscribe for 450 ordinary shares,
representing approximately 4.5% of the total number of
shares in issue as at the date of subscription agreement at
an aggregate subscription price of HK$2,008,800. Upon
completion of the above transactions, Ample Talent will hold
approximately 80.86% equity interest in Harbour Group.

36.

37.

RBEZEZZE-NEF=A=1+—
HEFEEEMENRERZ
1£3] - T ERRZREBZEBE
FE(E)
EAPBMELERE165EHE (E)
BEAEVMBHREERNFEIGRBEEEZH
BAEBEEABOEEARDE - W
EREECRFIEREEMEE) e
FTERIERE - AN ENE
BYEENBEOBAEM W2
HEBHRGEERkE2EKERR
TR 2 B o ﬂmﬁé%%ﬁ%
MIRES3ATH 22+ —hF=A
=+—H8 AEBWEAEBEA)RT
ARG EREE T 2 R RKER
EFIE A #)2,936,0008 L ( —F— N\
F 1 491,221,000 7T) + BEAKEL

Q
\—7

DHRBEARREEMERE-FEFE -
FRAXM - Bt - —BRAF BT
HELERE165 - BORERIAA L
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FE-HENEEWE B BAHE
BHERELE - MHWEAIRE GHR
\\\\\ EREAFERERAA(IEESE
@J)&HW%@T(%M[E%%@D
80% HJ fix # - 42 (& & 35,712,000
B RV S AIREBEEER L
REEWE - Bl BEEEFKER
BEMREAIRBITREE - MHaEEl
&*ﬁﬂ 1R E R 4500 XA I (48

N RE R BT BITIRM AEY
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REK LR P 1% - WEEIREHFAE
758 £ B %)80.86% A% HE
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37. EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD (continued)

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, the vendor has
agreed to guarantee that the audited consolidated net profit
generated from operating activities of the Target Group in its
ordinary and usual course of business, prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs (the “Net Profit”), for the years ended or ending
31 December 2018, 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2020 (the “PG Period”) shall be no less than HK$7,200,000 per
annum (the “Guaranteed Profit”). In the event that the Net Profit
during the each of the PG Period is less than the Guaranteed
Profit, the vendor unconditionally and irrevocably undertakes
and guarantees, as a continuing obligation, to pay the shortfall
to the Group under the terms as stipulated in the sale and
purchase agreement.

The Target Group consists of Harbour Group, Harbour Group
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd., Harbour Group Consulting (UK) Limited,
HGH Technology Sdn. Bhd., Mountain Managed Cloud
Consulting Limited and Vanguard Business Services Limited.
The Target Group is principally engaged in the provision of
information technology outsourcing, consultancy and technical
services mainly in Hong Kong with expanding business in
United Kingdom, Malaysia and Singapore. The directors of the
Company are of the view that the acquisition can broaden the
Group’s revenue base and benefit from the diversified return in
future.

As at 31 March 2019, deposit for acquisition of the Target
Group of approximately HK$3,571,000 was paid to the vendor
and was included in “Refundable deposit paid for acquisition of
subsidiaries” as set out in Note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements. Upon completion of the transaction, the Target
Group will become indirect non-wholly owned subsidiaries of
the Company. Details of the acquisition were set out in the
Company’s circular dated 12 April 2019.

On 28 April 2019, the conditions as stipulated in the sale
and purchase agreement and subscription agreement were
fulfilled. The Target Group became indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Company. The acquisition constituted a
business combination and will be accounted for using the
acquisition method under HKFRS 3 Business Combinations.

As the initial accounting for the acquisition of the Target Group
is incomplete, it is not practicable to reliably estimate its financial
effect.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED & REXER AT
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LEMBRE

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-Z-NF=ZA=+—-HLEE

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group ~ ZNEERBE A EABEE D AMEELE - &
for the last five financial years is set out below. ENBEZBEEHINT -

RESULTS E 3

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1t—-HLEE

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
2kl —T—)\F —T—+F T F —T-HF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FE FET THT TET

REVENUE Wz 75,625 182,445 73,024 59,841 124,463
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS TEEF 12,359 35,509 13,053 19,209 44,709
Exchange (loss)/gain, net X (&518), W 348 (6,175) 8,866 (11,490) (7,101) 741
Finance costs BERAK (964) - (176) (187) -
Change in fair value of EEBEATEER
convertible bond designated as WEBRNEE L
financial liabilities at FVPL SRBEZ AR
EH AT EEE 29,373 14,374 56,034 (73,449) (38,970)
Change in fair value of EREEERZ
structured deposit NEEH) - - - - 656
Impairment loss on property, ME - BER
plant and equipment LERESR - (3,511) - (3,105) -
Impairment loss on intangible assets & & E R EER - (12,618) - (8,907) -
Profit/(loss) before tax BB AR (E8) 34,593 42,620 57,421 (73,540) 7,136
Income tax expenses FrisHims (5,750) (5,942) (9,154) (6,068) (12,655)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREH,/(BE) 28,843 36,678 48,267 (79,608) (5,519)
Attributable to: AT AL
Owners of the Company VN/NETE 7= DN 17,923 50,349 42,480 (85,924) (5,342)
Non-controling interests S 11 - - - -
17,934 50,349 42,480 (85,924) (5,342)
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERES

As at 31 March
R=B=+—-H

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
LRl —T—)\F —T—+F T F —T-A1F
GLEOIN  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
TR FET FET FET FET

Total assets BEE 536,144 493,720 448,504 456,185 475,242
Total liabilities meE (351,461)  (328,004)  (333,137)  (383,298)  (316,431)
Net assets BERE 184,683 165,716 115,367 72,887 158,811
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